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Corporate Information
NRIER

Board of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) @®

Mr. Leung Moon Lam*

Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen (Chief Executive Officer) (FCPA)*

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung s8s, 88s (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff BBs, Jp

Dr. Ma Wai Mo

Mr. Cheng Tai Po

Mr. Lin Ching Hua

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew GaS, SBS, Jp ()23

Mr. Li Wai Keung M@G)

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung Jp®

Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel sBs, mH, Jp @

Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Tsoi Yiu Ting (FCCA) (appointed on 19 May 2016)

Company Secretary
Ms. Tse Man Yu Michelle (FCPA)

Auditors
Ernst & Young

Legal Advisors
As to Hong Kong law
Baker & McKenzie

As to China law
Commerce & Finance Law Offices

m Member of Audit Committee
@ Member of Remuneration Committee
e Member of Nomination Committee

# Ceased to act as Chief Executive Officer of the Group with effect from
1 January 2016

* Appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Group with effect from 1 January
2016 and ceased to act as Chief Financial Officer of the Group with effect
from 19 May 2016
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Principal Bankers

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

China CITIC Bank Corporation Ltd.

China Construction Bank Corporation Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial Bank Co. Ltd.

Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.
The Export-Import Bank of China

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Registered Office
Room 2205, Sun Life Tower
The Gateway, 15 Canton Road
Tsimshatsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Center
183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Listing Information

Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1668

Senior Notes Listing

The Company’s 13.5% 5 years senior notes due 2017
(Redeemed in full on 15 April 2016)

The Company'’s 8.25% 5 years senior notes due 2019

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

Website

www.chinasouthcity.com

Investor Relations
Telephone: (852) 3188-3111

Fax: (852) 3188-1323
Email: ir@chinasouthcity.com
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CHINA SOUTH CITY
Shenzhen
]l

Detached style trade center in CSC Shenzhen
WRYEZERRNEEXERZ SO

HOBA Furnishing’s new store in CSC Shenzhen
WIRY R AT 8 FREHE

AL L

Marketing campaign in CSC Shenzhen outlet mall
WRYERR R R AT B TN ERES

Total Planned GFA
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China South City Shenzhen

China South City Shenzhen (“CSC Shenzhen”), the Group’s first project,
is strategically located at the heart of the Pearl River Delta region amid an
extensive transportation network.

million m?
BE¥ K

The project is located at the Pinghu Logistics Park in Longgang District
of Shenzhen, occupying a site area of approximately 1.06 million square
meters (“sq. m.”). As at 31 March 2016, CSC Shenzhen has acquired
100% attributable gross floor area (“GFA") of its total planned GFA of
approximately 2.64 million sq. m., and has completed approximately
2.31 million sq. m. of construction with phase I, phase Il and part of its
phase Il properties in operation, covering industries such as textile &
clothing, leather & accessories, electronic parts, printing, paper products
& packaging, metals, chemicals, plastics materials, outlets and home
furnishing, etc.

Positioned as a modern large-scale integrated logistics and trading
platform to serve the Pearl River Delta region, CSC Shenzhen covers a wide
spectrum of product range, from raw materials to finished products of
various industries and themed products, complemented by comprehensive
ancillary facilities and services including offices, residential facilities, factory
outlets, conference and exhibition facilities, both bonded and common
warehousing, hotels and restaurants, banking and financial services, on-site
logistics services in couple of quality testing services, property management,
E-commerce platform and on-site government bodies, etc.
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CSC Shenzhen in operation
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CHINA SOUTH CITY

Nanchang

)=

CSC Nanchang in trial operation
AEEPHBEEERM

— .

The trade center launch for sale in CSC Nanchang
REEEERBITNR ST LRBHEED

Ground breaking ceremony of CSC Nanchang Modern
Warehouse and Logistics Base
MEERBARRRYREDIEEES

Total Planned GFA
BIREIEEEE
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China South City Nanchang

China South City Nanchang (“CSC Nanchang”) is located at the
transportation hub for the Yangtze River Delta and the Pearl River Delta
Economic Zone. Situated in Honggutan New District, a newly established
district of Nanchang, the capital of Jiangxi Province, the project is readily
accessible to suppliers, manufacturers and merchants via major highways,
the largest port on the Gan River and a complete freight network which
includes a cargo marshal yard, a container terminus and an international
airport, coupled with Nanchang West Railway Station — a principal high-
speed rail station located just 1.2 km from CSC Nanchang and commenced
operation successively since September 2013.

The project has a planned site area of approximately 2.81 million sg. m.
with a total planned GFA of approximately 7.30 million sq.m.. As at 31
March 2016, CSC Nanchang has acquired approximately 4.67 million
sg. m. attributable GFA, and has completed approximately 1.53 million
sq. m. of construction. The trial operations of CSC Nanchang cover
industries such as small commodities, textile & clothing, leather &
accessories, healthy & green products and outlets, etc.

As the first provincial-level E-commerce Model Base in Jiangxi Province and
University Students’ E-commerce Business Incubator in Nanchang, CSC
Nanchang has successfully attracted numerous E-commerce enterprises
to move in since its establishment and co-operated with tertiary institutes
to proactively consolidate its resources in wholesale and E-commerce,
so as to create a closer co-operation between the E-commerce startups
and manufacturing enterprises, thereby helping small and medium-sized
enterprises (“SMEs") within the project to transform and upgrade.
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Birdview - CSC Nanchang
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Residential properties in CSC Nanchang
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Annual Report 2015/16 5k



F
[

‘Jff By 4l

- J \

— .3 Y
(C HINA SOUTH CITY

The Ethnic and Cultural Festival cum Trade Fairs in CSC
Nanning
REEERRERNRAEHESNSHES

Residential property launch for sale in CSC Nanning
REEERHOEEYERRIEEES

Residential properties in CSC Nanning
REEERRNETYE

Total Planned GFA
BIREIEEEE

million m?
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China South City Nanning

China South City Nanning (“CSC Nanning”) is located at Nanning, the
capital of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region and a critical gateway
between China and the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (“ASEAN")
countries. It is easily accessible by railway stations, highways and an
international airport. Strategically located in close proximity to Southeast
Asia and enjoying the advantage of a tariff waiver on cross-border trade
activities within the China-ASEAN Free Trade Area, CSC Nanning endeavors
to serve as a key hub for cross-border trade catering to the strong demand
from the Northern Bay Region and Southeast Asia.

The project has a planned net land area of approximately 1.83 million sg. m.
with a total planned GFA of approximately 4.88 million sg. m.. As at 31
March 2016, CSC Nanning has acquired approximately 2.48 million sg. m.
attributable GFA, and has completed approximately 1.39 million sq. m. of
construction. The trial operations of CSC Nanning cover industries such as
textiles & clothing, small commodities, ASEAN products, home furnishing,
tea & teaware and outlets, etc.

Through organizing a series of exhibitions such as the China-ASEAN Expo
and Light Industrial Exhibition, CSC Nanning is attracting increasing market
popularity and is enhancing its brand recognition locally. With government
bodies, major banks, hotels and cinema moving in, the ancillary facilities
and services of the project have been further enhanced.
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Birdview - CSC Nanning
MEERRSHE

CSC Nanning in trial operation
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CHINA SOUTH CITY
Xi'an

oS

Hardware & machinery market in CSC Xi‘an
RAZEBRNASHEEN S

Cross-border commodities outlet center in CSC Xi'an
RELERHOEEEREHERL

Automobile exhibition in CSC Xi'an
RELRERRBITNAERES

Total Planned GFA
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China South City Xi‘an

China South City Xi'an (“CSC Xi‘an”) is located at the Xi‘an International
Trade and Logistics Park in Shaanxi Province. The park is an open economic
pilot zone and a core function area for a modern service industry, built
as a key project by the local government. Its aim is to build the largest
international transit hub port and logistics distribution center along the Silk
Road Economic Belt and to act as an important strategic platform for the
“One Belt, One Road” initiative.

The project has a total planned land area of approximately 10.0 million
sg. m. with a total planned GFA of approximately 17.5 million sg. m.. As at
31 March 2016, CSC Xi‘an has acquired approximately 4.16 million sg. m.
attributable GFA, and has completed approximately 1.36 million sqg. m.
of construction. The trial operations of CSC Xi’an cover industries such as
hardware & machinery, textile & clothing, leather & fur, outlets and Central
China & ASEAN product exhibition center, etc.

Leveraging its geographical advantage at the starting point of the Silk
Road Economic Belt, CSC Xi'an is actively poised to capture the immense
opportunities arising from the “One Belt, One Road” initiative.
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Birdview - CSC Xi'an
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CSC Xi'an in trial operation
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China South City Harbin

Located at the Daowai District of Harbin, the capital of Heilongjiang
Province, China South City Harbin (“CSC Harbin") fully taps its
advantageous location in Northeast China and grows into a premier hub for
cross-border trade with countries in Northeast Asia.

The project has a planned land area of approximately 10.0 million sg. m.
with a total planned GFA of approximately 12.0 million sg. m.. As at 31
March 2016, CSC Harbin has acquired approximately 4.75 million sg. m.
attributable GFA, and has completed approximately 855,600 sg. m. of
construction. Currently, the planned operations of CSC Harbin cover
Trade center under construction in CSC Harbin industries such as hardware & construction materials, green food, small
RIGEAF RN OEERRLZ S0 commodities, hotel commodities, leather & fur and outlets, etc.

Leveraging its geographical location and local industries advantages,
CSC Harbin will seize the opportunities arising from the area’s emerging
development potential and endeavor to become the largest integrated
logistics and trade center in Northeast China.
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Opening ceremony of Qianlong Logistics Park
REMREREES
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Birdview - CSC Harbin
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Trade center plaza 2 in CSC Harbin
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CHINA SOUTH CITY
Zhengzhou

RN

Building materials market in CSC Zhengzhou
REPNE R R Z P 0

The New Year marketing campaign in CSC Zhengzhou
REMNERRNHFEEES
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Marketing campaign in CSC Zhengzhou
REMNERRBITHNEEEE

Total Planned GFA
1R E| A

million m?
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China South City Zhengzhou

China South City Zhengzhou (”CSC Zhengzhou”) is located at the Airport
Economy Zone ("AEZ") of Zhengzhou, the capital of Henan Province. The
experimental zone is the only state-level AEZ with a complete network
which includes airport, high-speed train, intercity train, metro and highway
and acts as an integrated transport hub providing seamless connectivity of
“railway, highway and airport”. The project is highly accessible and enjoys
extensive transportation links — it is a mere 16 km away from Zhengzhou
Xinzheng International Airport and only a couple of kilometers away from
the Beijing-Guangzhou Railway Freight Station and the Beijing-Hong Kong-
Macao Highway.

The project has a total planned net land area of approximately 7.0 million
sq. m. with a total planned GFA of approximately 12.0 million sg. m.. As at
31 March 2016, CSC Zhengzhou has acquired approximately 5.17 million
sg. m. attributable GFA, and has completed approximately 2.50 million
sg. m. of construction. The project has commenced trial operation since
August 2014 with industries covering building materials, small commodities,
hardware & machinery, automobile & parts and non-staple food, etc.

CSC Zhengzhou has received overwhelming support from the local
government since its establishment. With more occupants moving in, CSC
Zhengzhou will continue to strengthen its value-added services such as
E-commerce, logistics & warehouse services and outlet operations to cater
to the strong demand for integrated logistics and trade centers in China’s
inland regions, and provide a convenient trading platform to promote trade
among cities in Central China.
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BN ErS R EE

= 1 =L -
,-..- ,,?_. =y ¥ g?':-
r..a"‘-l-q. -—
- 7 ‘_lil"

Hardware & machinery market in CSC Zhengzhou
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CHINA SOUTH CITY

Hefel
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Building & decoration market in CSC Hefei
REEEBRORERY TS

Residential property launch for sale in CSC Hefei
REEERHAEEY EHERBRTES

Marketing campaign in CSC Hefei
RERERRBTNEEEE

Total Planned GFA
Gl = b

million m?
m BEFEHK

China South City Hefei

China South City Hefei ("CSC Hefei”) is located at Hefei, the capital of
Anhui Province, a transport and economic hub at the heart of Eastern
China. CSC Hefei benefits from its strategic location in the Hefei Taohua
Industrial Park, its well-developed infrastructure, as well as a planned
transportation system which includes railways, highways and river
transportation across China.

The project has a total planned net land area of approximately 10.0 million
sg. m. with a total GFA of approximately 12.0 million sg. m.. As at 31 March
2016, CSC Hefei has acquired approximately 5.20 million sq. m. attributable
GFA, and has completed approximately 1.24 million sg. m. of construction.
Currently, the planned operations of CSC Hefei cover industries such as
automobile & parts, hardware, electric appliances, building & decoration
materials, clothing, small commodities, non-staple food and tea, etc.

As Hefei further plays its role as the political, economic, cultural and
financial center at the heart of East China, CSC Hefei aims to capture
opportunities arising from the area and develop into a major large-scale
integrated logistics and trade center in the region.
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Birdview - CSC Hefei
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CSC Hefei under development

[k Gakp)

BIEEmRN

17

Annual Report 2015/16 5k



» <
P>

12 P e,
;ff Tar. //;! )
CHINA SOUTH dITY

Chongqing
EE

Small commodities market launch event
NERTISHENE

Tenants purchase trade center units in CSC Chongging
BPFREEEFMBERMRZ ST OEH

The trade center launch for sale in CSC Chongging
REBEBRNZ ST ORBIEEED

Total Planned GFA
Gl = b

million m?
m BEFEHK

China South City Chonggqing

China South City Chongging (“CSC Chongging”) is strategically located
at the Banan District of Chongging Municipality, the first municipality
where the Group has entered into. The project is highly accessible to the
city center and other regions given its strategic location in the Chongging
Highway Logistics Base, the state-level transportation infrastructure and
large highway base in the western region.

The project has a total planned net land area of approximately 6.3 million
sg. m. with a total GFA of approximately 13.5 million sq. m.. As at 31
March 2016, CSC Chongging has acquired approximately 5.61 million sq. m.
attributable GFA, and has completed approximately 1.16 million sg. m. of
construction. The planned operations of CSC Chongging cover industries
such as small commodities, hardware & machinery, non-staple food & tea,
building & decoration materials, textiles & clothing and automobile & parts,
etc.

CSC Chongging is currently under construction. The surrounding
transportation network and the growing maturity of business circles in
Banan District will lay a good foundation for the future transportation
convenience and commercial environment of the project.
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Birdview — CSC Chongging
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Detached style trade center in CSC Chongging
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Financial Highlights
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2015

25,021,816
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2015

6,136,262

2016

26,368,465

2016
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Financial Highlights (Continued)

SR E(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2016 2015 Approximate
BZE3AIBLEE HK$'000 HK$’000 Change %
FHET FHET A9 18 %

Contracted sales SHIHE 6,628,147 11,321,142 -41.5
Revenue WA 6,136,262 9,757,767 -37.1

Among which, Recurring income Heb o 3HEMERA 1,420,559 1,103,596 +28.7
Gross profit margin FER= 48% 53%
Profit attributable to owners ISYNGIE PPN

of the parent SR 3,537,012 3,727,872 -5.1
Core net profit attributable to [SYNCIE 2 PN

owners of the parent* ZOFER > 1,205,782 1,854,273 -35.0
Earnings per share — Basic BRRAF —FEK HK44.22 cents3&1l HK48.73 centsi#& 1l 9.3
Cash and bank balances** R4 RIRTTIFR** 11,686,695 8,672,722 +34.8
Proposed final dividend per share R A HIRR B (FR%) HK5.0 centsi&Al HK14.0 centsi#{ll

* Represents the net profit attributable to owners of the parent excluding fair value gains on investment properties and related tax effects and fair
value gain on derivative financial instrument.
RERTHREDMERATERERBATRBZENTESR T AATEREN SR RIRE AREENE -

**  Represents cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash (comparative figure represents balance as at 31 March 2015).

RERE LA CEEDRZRAF S (LBREFR2015F3A31AERF) -

Geographical Diversified Contracted Sales
TEEREANHEEN M
6% 12%
28% 8%
18% 9%

11%
3% 10% 8%

15% 19% 17% 3% 8% 37%  10% 14%
32% 12% FY2014/15 10%
7% FY2012/13 2014158 BUF E 6%
o, HK$11,321 million
201 K2$/; goﬂ;lﬂz”ﬁﬁ 6% 1821 T 109,
N million (]
82.06{E T 12%
30%
43%
33%
FY2011/12 FY2013/14 FY2015/16
2011128 R 2013/1481 L E 2015/16 81BN E
HK$7,101 million HK$14,106 million HK$6,628 million
71.01188 7T 141,064 7T 66.28184 7T
Shenzhen &3l ¢ Heyuan JAR @ Nanchang B & € Nanning F% ¢ Chongging EE
® Xran A% Harbin M EE @ Zhengzhou ZB)H ® Hefei &1E
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

On behalf of the board of directors (“the Board”) of China South City
Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries (“China
South City” or the “Group”), | report herewith the audited consolidated
annual results of the Group for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2016
("FY2015/16" or the “Year").

Results and Dividend

The past fiscal year was challenging for the Group with the emergence
of a number of harsher-than-expected changes in the operating
environment. The Central government persevered with its structural
reforms to steer the economy towards a more efficient and sustainable
development model. As China’s economy continued to undergo structural
adjustment to a “New Normal”, its gross domestic product (“GDP")
growth slid to 6.7% in the first quarter of 2016, the weakest in a quarter
century, while China’s foreign trade in 2015 saw total export and
import volumes fall 7% against the background of a slowing economy
and lackluster global demand. The Group’s property sales segment was
adversely affected in face of such market challenges.

In response to the adverse market environment, the Group has leveraged
its flexible yet unique business model to adjust its business strategy. It
continued to strengthen its ancillary facilities and services which generate
recurring income to balance out the weakness in the sales of its trade
center units. During the Year, the Group’s Contracted Sales dropped
41.5% to HK$6,628.1 million (FY2014/15: HK$11,321.1 million), while
its recurring income grew by 28.7% to HK$1,420.6 million (FY2014/15:
HK$1,103.6 million).

The Group recorded revenue of HK$6,136.3 million (FY2014/15:
HK$9,757.8 million) for the Year. Net profit attributable to owners of the
parent was HK$3,537.0 million (FY2014/15: HK$3,727.9 million). Core net
profit attributable to owners of the parent (being net profit attributable to
owners of the parent excluding fair value gains on investment properties
and related tax effects and fair value gain on derivative financial
instrument) was HK$1,205.8 million (FY2014/15: HK$1,854.3 million).
Basic earnings per share was HK44.22 cents (FY2014/15: HK48.73 cents).

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK5 cents per share for FY2015/16
(FY2014/15: HK14 cents per share), subject to shareholders’ approval at
the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM") to be held
on 22 August 2016.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FRHmE ()

Review of the Market and Operations

Enduring business performance benefited from a unique
and flexible business model

China South City has a unique business model, with project developments
spanning long economic cycles and its operations covering a diversity
of business categories. Leveraging the diversified and flexible business
model, the Group strives to mitigate the impact arising from the cyclical
fluctuations as the economy shifted towards the “New Normal”. During
the Year, despite the sales of trade center units being affected by the
overall economic environment and the delay of the relocation activities,
growth in recurring income were encouraging.

During the Year, the Central government introduced measures to
reduce the housing inventory and promote rational consumption, along
with easing monetary policies. These measures have led to positive
development in the residential property market. Under this context, the
Group kept pace with market changes and launched more residential
properties. As a result, sales of residential properties as percentage of
total Contracted Sales increased from 22.6% in FY2014/15 to 35.0% in
FY2015/16.

To align with the Central government'’s efforts on developing an efficient
economy, the Group further tapped the strengths of its fourth-generation
integrated logistics and trading platform by offering comprehensive value-
added services to SMEs operating within China South City’s projects.
These services, namely E-commerce, logistics and warehousing services,
property management, outlet operations, as well as conference and
exhibition, have helped the SMEs to lower their operating costs and
capture the competitive edge in the increasingly keen competition. As a
result, the stable demand for the Group's ancillary facilities and services
translated into a contribution of HK$1,420.6 million in recurring income,
representing 23.2% of total revenue, as compared with 11.3% in
FY2014/15.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FRHmE ()

Steady growth in recurring income for sustainable
development

Recurring businesses, which include rental, property management,
E-commerce, logistics and warehousing services and outlet operations,
etc, have long been part of the Group’s key initiatives contributing
to its sustainable and long-term development. The solid performance
also demonstrated the competitive advantages of the Group’s fourth-
generation integrated logistics and trading platform. During the Year,
income from rental, property management, E-commerce, logistics and
warehousing services and outlet operations achieved HK$681.3 million,
HK$247.7 million, HK$202.2 million, HK$143.4 million and HK$136.9
million respectively (FY2014/15: HK$573.9 million, HK$133.3 million,
HK$201.8 million, HK$95.8 million and HK$92.5 million respectively).

The outlet mall in CSC Shenzhen underwent rapid expansion and
developed into an influential regional outlet center. Its success has proven
to be a key driver of the Group’s brand reputation and local awareness,
while bringing steady visitor traffic to the district and significant cash flow
to the Group. In view of its successful operation, the Group intends to
step up its development in this business segment in the future. The Group
has replicated the Shenzhen outlet model to other projects. During the
Year, the outlet malls in Nanning, Nanchang, Xi‘an and Harbin have also
recorded satisfactory results.

“Internet Plus” is a core strategy of the Group’s fourth-generation
integrated logistics and trading platform, with E-commerce services
serving as key tools to help SMEs raise their competitiveness. Leveraging
its B2B platform-CSC86.com and strategic cooperation with Tencent
Holdings Limited (“Tencent”), the Group further strengthened its
E-commerce services such as its online payment function during the
Year, to facilitate transactions between buyers and sellers. Further, the
trial online membership program launched was widely recognized by
customers.

Logistics and warehousing services formed an important part of the
Group's strategic resources. The Group has continued to expand its
logistics and warehousing network, and has successfully positioned its
projects as the potential logistics and distribution hubs in their respective
regions. By becoming regional logistics hubs, the Group is able to help
those SMEs operating within its projects to reduce their logistics and
distribution costs and create key cost advantages. During the Year,
logistics and warehousing services have generated a stable stream of
recurring income.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Striving to maintain balance between business
development and financial health

The Group placed an emphasis on maintaining a sustainable and ample
level of cash flow as part of its consistent financial management. The
Group proactively adjusted its business development strategies and capital
investment portfolio amid the economic transition in order to preserve
liquidity while maintaining a steady momentum in business development.

During the Year, the Group maintained a sound cash position through
a series of active measures, such as the increasing supply of residential
properties and recurring business development. Tapping into the domestic
capital market to take advantage of the easing funding environment, the
Group actively expanded, diversified and optimized its funding channels
in China. The Group’s cash and bank balances as at 31 March 2016
increased to HK$11,686.7 million (as at 31 March 2015: HK$8,672.7
million).

Prospects

Looking ahead, the Group’s operating environment remains challenging in
the short term as the pressures posed by the global economic downturn
and the continued economic transition in China are set to linger. With
China’s positive economic fundamentals and long-term trajectory
remaining unchanged, the Group maintains a cautiously optimistic
business outlook in the short to medium term.

Nevertheless, favourable measures articulated by the Central government
in its 13th Five-Year Plan, such as urbanization, “Internet Plus” and
"One Belt, One Road”, will continue to benefit the development of the
Group's fourth-generation integrated logistics and trade centers. Of these,
the Central government has addressed the acceleration of shantytown
renovations and formulated timetables for such programs. The upgrading
and relocation of the wholesale markets is expected to become one of
the main areas of focus by the government in the coming years, creating
immense opportunities for the Group.

The Group will continue to pursue a flexible business model and a
prudent management strategy to strengthen its future development.
With increasing revenue contributions coming from its recurring income,
the Group will strive to develop a more stable and diversified mix of
revenue stream in the future. The Group will continue to enhance its
liquidity by promoting the growth of business segments such as outlet
operations which generate higher cash flows. In addition, the Group will
continue to provide quality services and upgraded facilities to strengthen
the competitiveness of its tenants, creating win-win scenarios for all
stakeholders.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

FRHmE ()

The management expects the Group to achieve an annual sales target of
HK$7.5-8.5 billion for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2017 (“FY2016/17")
and emphasize the development of recurring business to maintain the
strong growth rate.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt
gratitude to our valued shareholders, customers and business partners for
their trust and continued support to the Group. | would also like to convey
my appreciation to the management and staff for their professionalism
and wholehearted commitment.

Cheng Chung Hing
Co-Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BN D

Business Review

During the Year, Chinese economy experienced a period of weak
GDP growth and a flagging export performance. In addition, delays in
implementation of wholesale market relocation plans in some of the
project cities slowed market growth and hence weakened the immediate
demand of SMEs. As a result, SMEs postponed their investment plans
in trade center units and the Group’s Contracted Sales were inevitably
affected. Although the Central government has launched a series
of stimulus and easing monetary measures to support the economic
restructuring towards higher-value industries and promote consumption
and innovation, which have supported the demand for the Group’s
residential properties and value-added services to some extent, the
sluggish economic environment presented varying degrees of challenges
in the Group's operating markets.

In view of the challenging market, China South City has further
strengthened its operational capabilities during the Year. Taking
advantage of its unique “Online + Physical + Logistics” business model,
the Group exercised the flexibility by encouraging further growth of
recurring businesses segment. The Group noticed that the current
economic environment and industrial consolidation brought by measures
to reduce excess capacity have become major challenges to SMEs. Facing
increasing competition, SMEs came under pressure to raise the efficiency
of their production and operations. The Group's fourth-generation
integrated logistics and trading platform, which offers comprehensive
facilities and value-added ancillary services such as E-commerce and
logistics & warehousing services, provides a strong and reliable platform
for SMEs to enhance their competitiveness. This served to further drive
the demand for the Group's recurring business, becoming one of its key
revenue drivers.

During the Year, the Group recorded total revenue of HK$6,136.3 million
(FY2014/15: HK$9,757.8 million), among which, its recurring income
increased 28.7% from HK$1,103.6 million in FY2014/15 to HK$1,420.6
million, accounting for 23.2% of total revenue (FY2014/15: 11.3%).
Gross profit margin was 48% (FY2014/15: 53%). Net profit attributable
to owners of the parent was HK$3,537.0 million (FY2014/15: HK$3,727.9
million). Basic earnings per share amounted to HK44.22 cents (FY2014/15:
HK48.73 cents).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Differentiated Development Strategy across
Different Projects

Economic development in China showed disparities across regions
during the Year. As such, local governments took varying development
approaches and extended their support to industries with comparative
advantages in their respective regions. As an influential market player
in respective regions, China South City took full advantages of its local
strengths and implemented differentiated development strategies in
different projects.

CSC Shenzhen is the first project of the Group which offers a
comprehensive and mature wholesale trading platform for SMEs. The
project has become a successful model case for wholesale market
transformation and modernization under the process of urbanization.
During the Year, CSC Shenzhen further diversified its business operations
and enhanced the various functions of its fourth-generation integrated
logistics and trading platform. In particular, the outlet mall in CSC
Shenzhen became an influential outlet player in Southern China, with
increasing visitor traffic and enhanced market position. Further, the cross-
border E-commerce business in China has experienced rapid growth in
recent years. Taking advantage of its competitive strengths in logistics
facilities and broad customer base, CSC Shenzhen has become a cross-
border E-commerce hub and successfully attracted a number of leading
domestic cross-border E-commerce enterprises to move in.

CSC Zhengzhou is highly accessible — located at the heart of an intricate
network of transportation in Zhengzhou, which has long been a major
logistics hub in Central China. CSC Zhengzhou has become the largest
project of the Group, in terms of the number of SME occupants and GFA
completed. By playing up its competitive advantages in location, facilities
and scale, the Group is poised to strengthen its core market position in
trading in Central China. As a result, CSC Zhengzhou has become a large
commercial hub for automobile & parts, machinery & hardware, building
materials, small commodities and non-staple food industries, etc. in the
area.

CSC Nanning is strategically located in the economic and political center
of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (“ASEAN") and has
demonstrated an increasing importance in terms of cross-border trading
between China and ASEAN countries. During the Year, the China-ASEAN
Expo and Light Industrial Exhibition took place in CSC Nanning for the
sixth consecutive year and attracted numerous visitors. Furthermore,
a number of local government bodies have moved into CSC Nanning
successively, reflecting its importance in the local economic and political
life.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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Other projects also progressed smoothly and took on their differentiated
form of development during the Year. CSC Xi'an and CSC Harbin aimed
to further expand their reach to cover Western and Northern China
respectively. In addition, CSC Nanchang has received enormous support
from the local government and has strived to become an important
platform echoing the provincial initiative of “Go Global”.

Steady Revenue Stream from Recurring Income

As the leading operator of large-scale integrated logistics and trade
centers in China, the Group leverages its physical assets as a platform
to offer comprehensive value-added services to its occupants, thereby
generating multiple streams of recurring income. In the face of the
slowdown in China’s economy and challenging market conditions, the
steady growth of recurring businesses provided the Group with a solid
platform for its long-term and sustainable development.

Outlet Operations

Facing increasing costs and mounting competition from internet retailing,
store-based retailing business remained challenging with weak same-store
sales and excessive inventory. At the same time, online retail development
has been limited by the lack of buyer experiences and product quality
issues. In such a context, the outlet business — which is able to bring
discounted branded products to customers with quality shopping
experience and after-sale services — has gained increasing popularity in
the retail sector and registered rapid growth in recent years. Shenzhen
Huasheng Commercial Development Company Limited, the Group's
wholly-owned subsidiary, captures the chance to offer customers with
both online and offline shopping experience and post excellent results
during the Year.

Cross-border commodities outlet center in CSC Shenzhen
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Marketing campaign held in outlet mall
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The Group has operated its first outlet mall in Shenzhen since 2011 and
maintained a steady growth with increases in both operating GFA and
number of brand names. Building on the successful outlet operation
in CSC Shenzhen, the Group implemented trial runs at its projects in
Nanning, Nanchang, Xi'an and Harbin, with encouraging results. The
brand awareness of China South City outlet business will be further
strengthened as the projects become more mature. As at 31 March 2016,
over 350 renowned domestic and international brands were drawn to
these outlets, occupying an operating GFA of approximately 181,700 sq.
m.. During the Year, the outlet operations achieved a gross mall sales
turnover of approximately RMB771.7 million and generated a recurring
income of HK$136.9 million which was mostly contributed by the outlet
mall in CSC Shenzhen. Other than revenue contribution, the outlet mall’s
successful operation has boosted the brand recognition, increased visitors
traffic and generated operating cash flow for the Group.

The outlet mall in CSC Xi'an, which commenced operations last year
became the second-largest contributor among the Group’s outlet malls
in terms of operating GFA and the number of brands. According to the
Xi'an Metro Planning, the subway Line 3, which is expected to commence
trial operations by the end of 2016, will pass through the project. Upon its
completion, this subway line will further enhance the value of the project
with a positive stimulus to visitor flow. The outlet malls in CSC Zhengzhou
and CSC Hefei are slated to come on stream in the coming years and are
set to generate more recurring income and operating cashflow for the
Group.

E-commerce Development

By integrating internet technology with traditional industries, the “Internet
Plus” strategy sets out to fuel China’s economic growth. During the Year,
the Group continued to reinforce this strategy and upgrade its fourth-
generation integrated logistics and trading platform, thereby increasing
SMEs’ operating efficiency and competitiveness. Through the closer
partnership with Tencent, a strategic shareholder, the Group is able to
take advantages of Tencent's technical support and wealth of resources to
support SMEs in their E-commerce development.
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During the Year, the Group continued to strengthen the development of
its integrated online-to-offline (“020") platform. In particular, with a view
to enhancing its support for SMEs, the Group upgraded its E-commerce
platform — CSC86.com by enriching its online trading and payment
services functions. The trial online membership program the Group
launched has also been well received by customers.

Logistics & Warehousing Services

As a result of its sustained effort over the years, the Group has developed
a logistics and warehousing network covering key domestic logistics
nodes. Aided by the unparalleled scale of its projects, the Group aims
to develop its projects into the regional logistics and distribution hubs,
thereby considerably reducing the logistics and warehousing costs
of SMEs. The revenue from this segment recorded HK$143.4 million
(FY2014/15: HK$95.8 million), up by 49.7% year-on-year.
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LIEP in CSC Shenzhen
RARYIEBEROYREERSTE

The Group has made significant efforts in the development of its logistics
and warehousing business. With the increasing maturity of the nationwide
network of China South City projects, the demand for the Group's
Logistics Information Exchange Platform (“LIEP”) services from SMEs and
Heavy Goods Vehicles (“HGVs") drivers gradually increased. LIEP helps
cargo owners match their freight plans more effectively and cut logistics
costs by utilizing empty truckloads of HGVs on their return journeys.

QianLong Logistics in CSC Shenzhen
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Property Management

At present, there are many residential property managers in the market
but considerably fewer wholesale market property managers. Taking
advantage of economies of scale and the advanced facilities of China
South City’s fourth-generation integrated logistics and trading platform,
the Group has affirmed its leading position in the property management
of wholesale markets. In view of this, the Group aims to become the
industrial standard setter by further improving the overall service quality
in the market, strengthening its internal management capabilities
and solidifying its competitive advantages. During the Year, recurring
income from property management increased by 85.8% year-on-year to
HK$247.7 million.
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Property management team in CSC Shenzhen

RRIFERR R EE TR B

HOBA Furnishing

The Group engages in furnishing market operations through Shenzhen
HOBA Home Furnishing Chain Store Co., Ltd. (“HOBA Furnishing”), a
subsidiary in which the Group holds a 75% stake. During the Year, HOBA
Furnishing operated 10 stores (including the new stores established in CSC
Shenzhen and CSC Nanning respectively) in China, contributing stable
recurring income and operating cashflow to the Group. During the Year,
the trial operation of HOBA Furnishing’s new stores in CSC Shenzhen and
CSC Nanning performed smoothly.
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Trade Fairs

Leveraging its large-scale trade platforms located in major provincial
capitals and a municipality in China, together with its extensive experience
in co-organizing trade fairs with local governments, the Group arranged a
number of trade exhibitions and conventions at its projects. These events
received an overwhelming response from many international and local
exhibitors, which not only boosted visitor and business traffic to these
projects, but also created more business opportunities for its trade centers
and further increased market recognition of the China South City brand.

Events at a Glance

Ethnic and Cultural Festival cum Trade Fairs

The Ethnic and Cultural Festival cum Trade Fairs was held in CSC Nanning
in April 2015. The 16-day event attracted a large number of participants
to the project. Meanwhile, the 8th (Guangxi) Nanning Spring Tea Festival
and the 1st International Automobile Exhibition were also held in CSC
Nanning. These activities significantly boosted the sales of tenants selling
tea and teaware, as well as those automobile exhibitors, and created
business opportunities for other tenants in CSC Nanning.

ITFCEWC cum the Silk Road International Expo

The 19th Investment & Trade Forum for Cooperation between East &
West China (“"ITFCEWC") cum the Silk Road International Expo were
held in Xi'an in May 2015. During the event, a thematic program known
as the “Silk Road Commodity Trade Fair” was undertaken by CSC Xi'an
to exhibit numerous commodities produced by the countries along the
Silk Road. Leveraging its convention and exhibition facilities and easily
accessible logistic network, CSC Xi'an draws visitors to the project and
raises its brand awareness on the one hand, while contributing efforts to
integrate the resources of the countries along the Silk Road and promote
their full cooperation on the other hand, driving trade and logistics
development in Xi'an.
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China (Harbin) International Lifestyle, Cultural and
Tourism Expo

The 2015 China (Harbin) International Lifestyle, Cultural and Tourism Expo
kicked off in CSC Harbin in June 2015. Hosted by the Harbin Municipal
People’s Government and co-hosted by the Council for Promotion of
Trade in Heilongjiang province, it was organized by the Council for
Promotion of Trade in Harbin, the People’s Government of the Daowai
District in Harbin and CSC Harbin, respectively. The four-day event not
only brought visitors and business opportunities to CSC Harbin, but also
highlighted the growing role of CSC Harbin as a powerful platform to
promote international economic and trade cooperation in Northeast Asia,
thereby boosting the brand power of China South City in the region.

China-ASEAN Expo and Light Industrial Exhibition

The 12th China-ASEAN Expo and Light Industrial Exhibition, co-organized
by the Ministry of Commerce of China, its ASEAN counterparts and
the China-ASEAN Expo Secretariat, respectively, and undertaken by the
Government of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, took place
in CSC Nanning in September 2015 for the sixth consecutive year.
This has firmly established CSC Nanning as a hub for light industrial
products trading between China and the ASEAN countries. The event
has also strengthened the trade links and cultural exchanges among the
participants, and increased the Group’s brand recognition in the region as
well as among ASEAN countries.

Hefei Stylish Products Expo and Eastern China Machinery
and Hardware Trade Fair

The Hefei Stylish Products Expo and Eastern China Machinery and
Hardware Trade Fair was held in CSC Hefei in October 2015. The four-
day event was hosted by the Hefei Municipal People’s Government,
the Bureau of Commerce of Anhui Province and the Anhui Chamber of
Commerce, respectively, and undertaken by the People’s Government
of Feixi County and CSC Hefei. It attracted many visitors comprising
professional buyers and distributors in the hardware and spare parts,
lighting and security system industries throughout the country. The event
gave a strong boost to CSC Hefei's operations and visitor flow, laying a
solid foundation for the future development of the project.
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Maintaining Sound Cash Flows and Liquidity

During the Year, the Group met different challenges and opportunities
while China’s economic landscape was undergoing transformation. In
such a context, the Group continued to focus on enhancing its cash flows
and liquidity and lowering overall financing costs as the key consideration
of its financial management.

By seizing opportunities to expand and optimize its funding channels
in the domestic capital market, the Group has successfully lowered its
funding cost. As at 31 March 2016, the Group recorded a weighted
average financing cost of 6.3%, down approximately 50 basis points
when compared to 6.8% as at 31 March 2015.

In April 2015, China South International Industrial Materials City
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (“China South International”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, completed the issuance of RMB1.5 billion
corporate bonds with a maturity of a maximum of six years and a coupon
rate of 7% per annum. In July 2015, China South International completed
the issuance of the first tranche of medium-term notes of 2015 (“2015
First Tranche MTN") in the national inter-bank market of the PRC in the
total principal amount of RMB2 billion, with a maturity of three years
at an interest rate of 7% per annum. In September 2015, China South
International completed the issuance of the first tranche of short-term
notes of 2015 (“2015 First Tranche STN”) in the PRC national inter-bank
market in the total principal amount of RMB2.1 billion, with a maturity
of 366 days at an interest rate of 4.3% per annum. In January and May
2016, China South International completed the issuance of the first and
second tranches of domestic company bonds (“2016 First and Second
Tranche DCB") of RMB3 billion and RMB1.4 billion with a term of three
years at a coupon rate of 5.98% and 6.85% per annum respectively.
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As assessed by Pengyuan Credit Rating Co., Ltd. (87T &{5 3748 A BRA
#]), China South International and corporate bonds were given “AA" and
“"AA+" ratings respectively. As assessed by Dagong Global Credit Rating
Co., Ltd. (RABIBE &5 #F4 A PR A)), the 2015 First Tranche MTN and
China South International were given “AA" ratings and the 2015 First
Tranche STN was given an “A-1" rating. As assessed by Golden Credit
Rating International Co., Ltd. (375 4 il B 15 F sEA A BRZA 7]), China
South International was given “AA" rating, and the 2016 First and Second
Tranche DCB were both given “AA+" rating.

To lower the Group's financing cost, China South City redeemed its
US$125 million 13.5% senior notes due 2017 in April 2016. Moreover,
the Group introduced certain amendments to the indenture through
solicitation of consents in relation to its US$400 million 8.25% senior
notes due 2019. The move will enable the Company to become more
adaptive to the fast-changing competition landscape and increase the
flexibility of the Company to implement business plans in the future.

During the Year, the Group successfully executed the spinoff of HOBA
Furnishing to unlock its value and provide a fund-raising platform for
its further expansion. The quotation of shares of HOBA Furnishing
commenced on 16 November 2015 on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotation System (also known as the “New Third Board").

China South City’s leading market position and successful business model
were well recognized by the capital market. The Group is designated a
constituent of the Hang Seng Composite Mid Cap Index and MSCI China
Index.
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Further Strengthening of Management Team

The Group owes its success to a forward-thinking management team.
As its business is becoming more diversified, the Group is adjusting the
allocation of its management resources so as to enhance its operational
capabilities and efficiency. In view of this, the Group has strengthened
its management team by recruiting Mr. Tsoi Yiu Ting, who has extensive
experience in corporate finance and investment banking, as CFO in May
2016. At the same time, Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen, the CEO of the
Group who has ceased to act as CFO, will be able to dedicate more time
on the overall management and operations of the Group. In addition, the
Group also recruited several senior managements during the Year. Under
the leadership of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, Mr. Leung Moon Lam and
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen, the Executive Directors of the Company,
the new members of the management team are set to bring significant
operational expertise and skills to assist the Company further deliver the
business strategies and create values for shareholders.

Land Bank

With the Group's unique business model of “One Body with Two Wings”,
the Group intends to retain the commercial properties like logistics and
warehousing facilities and offices, as well as not less than 50% of the
trade center units for self-use or long-term rental purposes, while the
remaining 50% of the trade center units and the residential properties
will be disposed progressively to generate cash flow for the development
of the Group. During the Year, the Group acquired attributable GFA of
approximately 1.73 million sg. m., mainly for the purpose of logistics and
warehousing in CSC Nanchang and CSC Chongging at an average cost of
approximately RMB300/sg. m.. The enlarged land bank drives the Group’s
sustainable growth in the future.
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Details of the land bank as of 31 March 2016 are as follows:

HZE2016F3A31 B L EEEBOT ¢

Properties
Planned
Properties for Future
Properties tobe  Development Total
under  Completed by on GFA Planned Attributable GFA Acquired
Project EH Completed Properties Development FY2016/17 Acquired GFA (% to Total Planned GFA)
SR iG]
016117 tHERE
HREE =Y EE| BRIHTRREER
BRINE ERPUE  RINNE EELH BEER  (hARHRZERAML)
(sq. m.) Sold Unsold Estimated Estimated Estimated %
(Fhx) EE A& [zt [zt G
(SC Shenzhen v/ Ecayis 714,600 1,540,000 242,200 71,200 87,200 2,644,000 2,644,000 100%
(SC Nanchang By 784,200 746,700 711,600 271,700 2,422,700 7,297,000 4,665,200 64%
(SC Nanning HEELY 334,600 1,053,200 558,500 178,500 533,700 4,880,000 2,480,000 51%
CSCXian EZERH, 601,800 754,200 456,400 199,400 2,343,600 17,500,000 4,156,000 2%
CSC Harbin REEERN 230,300 625,300 1,340,900 977,200 2,551,500 12,000,000 4,748,000 40%
(CSC Zhengzhou e 1,033,800 1,465,500 1,265,000 243,700 1,405,700 12,000,000 5,170,000 43%
(CSC Hefei AlEmH 811,900 428,200 1,822,400 285,900 2,138,500 12,000,000 5,201,000 43%
(SC Chongging EEERH 206,400 951,700 151,300 151,300 4,295,700 13,500,000 5,605,100 42%
Tota il ATTIE00 7564800 6548300 2384900 15778600 81000 34669300 0%
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China South City Shenzhen

CSC Shenzhen, the Group’s first project, is strategically located at the

heart of the Pearl River Delta region amid an extensive transportation
network. The project is situated at the Pinghu Logistics Park in Longgang
District of Shenzhen, occupying a site area of approximately 1.06 million
sg. m. and comprising a total planned GFA of approximately 2.64 million

sg. m..
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With the local government further advancing the development of
Longgang District as an innovation center in the east of Shenzhen, the
district’s ancillary facilities such as logistics, healthcare and education will
continue to improve and bring more convenience to occupants of China
South City. In addition, transportation facilities around the project have
been improving as well. According to Shenzhen Metro Planning, the
subway line 10 which will pass through CSC Shenzhen has commenced
construction in 2015 and is expected to be open for traffic by 2020. Upon
completion, this subway line will further improve accessibility, generate
more business opportunities and uplift visitor traffic for the project’s
operation. At present, operations of CSC Shenzhen cover industries such
as textile & clothing, leather & accessories, electronic parts, printing, paper
products & packaging, metals, chemicals and plastics materials, outlets
and home furnishing, etc.

As at 31 March 2016, trade centers and ancillary facilities at phase I, phase
Il 'and part of phase Ill with a total GFA of approximately 2.31 million
sg. m. were in operation. The project is currently in phase Ill development.
During the Year, construction of GFA of approximately 309,700 sq. m. of
trade centers was completed. As at 31 March 2016, construction of GFA
of approximately 242,200 sg. m. is underway, of which approximately
77,200 sq. m. are expected to be completed in FY2016/17.

In FY2015/16, CSC Shenzhen recorded total Contracted Sales of
approximately HK$695.9 million (FY2014/15: HK$652.0 million), including
a GFA of 4,900 sq. m. of trade center units (mall style) at an average
selling price (“ASP") of HK$24,600/sq. m. (FY2014/15: 5,900 sq. m. at
an ASP of HK$24,600/sq. m.), a GFA of 49,400 sq. m. of office units at
an ASP of HK$11,600/sg. m. (FY2014/15: 18,600 sq. m. at an ASP of
HK$12,000/sq. m.) and a GFA of 200 sq. m. of residential ancillaries at
an ASP of HK$10,400/sq. m. (FY2014/15: 26,100 sq. m. at an ASP of
HK$10,900/sq. m.).
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In FY2015/16, the rental business of CSC Shenzhen basically remained
steady and a new HOBA Furnishing mall in phase Ill of CSC Shenzhen
was put into trial operation during the Year. The newly opened mall
increased the launched rentable GFA and bring along new rental income
source, though it dragged down both occupancy rate and rent rate of
phase lll trade center in its initial stage of trial operation. As at 31 March
2016, the total occupancy rate of the launched rentable GFA of phase |,
phase II, phase Ill trade center and shops ranged from 58% to 92% (as
at 31 March 2015: ranged from 61% to 95%), while the average rent
rate ranged from HK$35/sq. m. to HK$55/sq. m. (as at 31 March 2015:
HK$40/sq. m. to HK$55/5q. m.).

China South City Nanchang

CSC Nanchang is located at the transportation hub for the Yangtze River
Delta and the Pearl River Delta Economic Zone. Situated in Honggutan
New District of Nanchang, the capital of Jiangxi Province, the project is
readily accessible to suppliers, manufacturers and merchants via major
highways, the largest port on the Gan River and a complete freight
network which includes a cargo marshal yard, a container terminus and
an international airport, coupled with Nanchang West Railway Station — a
principal high-speed rail station located just 1.2 km from CSC Nanchang
and commenced operation successively since September 2013. As a new
business center of Nanchang, Honggutan New District’s administrative,
commercial and cultural functions are becoming more apparent by the
day. In addition, the gradual completion of life-supporting amenities
within the new district is driving visitor traffic and generating business
opportunities, laying a solid foundation for the development of CSC
Nanchang.

CSC Nanchang has a total planned land area of approximately 2.81
million sg. m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 7.30 million sq.
m.. The trial operations of CSC Nanchang cover industries such as small
commodities, textile & clothing, leather & accessories, healthy & green
products and outlets, etc. As the first provincial-level E-commerce Model
Base in Jiangxi and University Students’ E-commerce Business Incubator
in Nanchang, CSC Nanchang has successfully attracted numerous
E-commerce enterprises to move in since its establishment in 2014 and
co-operated with tertiary institutes. Through a profound integration
of its resources in wholesale and E-commerce, it has created a closer
co-operation between the E-commerce startups and manufacturing
enterprises, thereby helping SMEs within the project to transform and
upgrade.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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As at 31 March 2016, CSC Nanchang has a total GFA of approximately
1.53 million sg. m. at phase | completed, including approximately 900,600
sq. m. of trade centers, approximately 585,800 sq. m. of residential
ancillaries and approximately 44,500 sg. m. of logistics and warehousing
facilities. Construction of phase Il of CSC Nanchang has commenced.
During the Year, construction of a GFA of approximately 34,800 sq. m. of
logistics and warehousing facilities was completed. As at 31 March 2016,
construction of a GFA of approximately 711,600 sg. m. is underway, of
which approximately 271,700 sq. m. are expected to be completed in
FY2016/17.

In FY2015/16, CSC Nanchang recorded total Contracted Sales of
HK$905.3 million (FY2014/15: HK$1,350.3 million), including a GFA of
700 sg. m. of trade center units (mall style) at an ASP of HK$22,400/sg. m.
(FY2014/15: 21,200 sg. m. at an ASP of HK$19,700/sq. m.), a GFA of 6,800
sg. m. of trade center units (detached style) at an ASP of HK$10,400/sq. m.
(FY2014/2015: Nil), and a GFA of 101,300 sg. m. of residential ancillaries
at an ASP of HK$8,100/sq. m. (FY2014/15: 108,700 sg. m. at an ASP of
HK$8,600/sg. m.).

China South City Nanning

CSC Nanning is located at Nanning, the capital of the Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region and a critical gateway between China and ASEAN
countries. It is easily accessible by railway stations, highways and an
international airport. Strategically located in close proximity to Southeast
Asia and enjoying the advantage of a tariff waiver on cross-border
trade activities within the China-ASEAN Free Trade Area, CSC Nanning
endeavors to serve as a key hub for cross-border trade catering to the
strong demand from the Northern Bay Region and Southeast Asia.
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CSC Nanning has a planned net land area of approximately 1.83 million
sg. m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 4.88 million sq. m.. The
project is under trial operations and continues to cultivate the market
and strengthen marketing efforts during the Year. Through organizing a
series of exhibitions — such as the China-ASEAN Expo and Light Industrial
Exhibition, International Automobile Exhibition, Food Festival and Spring
Tea Festival — the project is attracting increasing market popularity and
is enhancing its brand recognition locally. During the Year, residential
properties launched by CSC Nanning received an overwhelming response
from the market. With government bodies, major banks, hotels and
cinema moving in, the ancillary facilities and services of the project
have been further enhanced. To assist SMEs in resolving business loan
difficulties, CSC Nanning launched, on a trial basis, a micro-credit
service for SMEs in the project, providing them financial support for the
development of businesses during the Year. The trial operations of CSC
Nanning cover industries such as textiles & clothing, small commodities,
ASEAN products, home furnishing, tea & teaware and outlets, etc.

CSC Nanning is currently in phase | construction and has a total GFA of
approximately 1.39 million sq. m. completed, including approximately
894,600 sg. m. of trade centers, approximately 456,400 sq. m. of
residential ancillaries and approximately 36,800 sq. m. of logistics
and warehousing facilities. During the Year, construction of a GFA of
approximately 567,200 sg. m. of trade centers was completed. As at 31
March 2016, construction of a GFA of approximately 558,500 sg. m. is
underway, of which approximately 178,500 sq. m. are expected to be
completed in FY2016/17.

In FY2015/16, CSC Nanning recorded total Contracted Sales of HK$642.8
million (FY2014/15: HK$902.2 million), including a GFA of 2,100 sg. m. of
trade center units (mall style) at an ASP of HK$28,200/sg. m. (FY2014/15:
10,300 sg. m. at an ASP of HK$22,300/sg. m.), a GFA of 87,100 sq. m. of
residential ancillaries at an ASP of HK$6,700/sq. m. (FY2014/15: 89,200
sg. m. at an ASP of HK$7,500/sg. m.), and a GFA of 400 sq. m. of office
units at an ASP of HK$9,100/sg. m. (FY2014/2015: Nil).

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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China South City Xi‘an

CSC Xi'an is located at the Xi'an International Trade and Logistics Park in
Shaanxi Province. Built as a key project by the local government, the park is
an open economic pilot zone and a core function area for modern service
industry. Its aim is to become the largest international transit hub port and
logistics distribution center along the Silk Road Economic Belt and to act
as an important strategic platform for the “One Belt, One Road” initiative.
The project is highly accessible and enjoys geographical advantages via the
Xi'an City Expressway and Beijing — Kunming Expressway, Lianyungang-
Khorgos Expressway, Shanghai-Shaanxi Expressway, Baotou-Maoming
Expressway and other national highways, forming an intricate spider
network which opens to all directions.

Leveraging the strategic location of Xi‘an International Trade and Logistics
Park, CSC Xi'an enjoys access to an extensive transportation network
connected to a railway container terminal and the largest bonded area in
the northwestern region of China, along with two planned subway lines
that cross the project site. According to Xi‘an Metro Planning, the subway
line 3, which is expected to commence operations by the end of 2016, will
pass through CSC Xi’an. Upon completion, this subway line will generate
more business opportunities and visitor traffic for the International Trade
and Logistics Park and further enhance the value of CSC Xi‘an.

The trial operations of CSC Xi'an cover industries such as hardware &
machinery, textile & clothing, leather & fur, outlets and Central China
& ASEAN product exhibition center, etc. Leveraging its geographical
advantage in the starting point of the Silk Road Economic Belt, CSC Xi'an is
actively poised to capture the immense opportunities arising from the “One
Belt, One Road” initiative.

CSC Xi'an has a total planned land area of approximately 10.0 million
sg. m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 17.5 million sq. m.. The
project is under phase | construction and has a total GFA of approximately
1.36 million sg. m. completed, including approximately 1.28 million sq. m.
of trade centers, approximately 55,800 sg. m. of logistics and warehousing
facilities and approximately 23,300 sg. m. of ancillary facilities. During
the Year, construction of a GFA of approximately 165,600 sg. m. of trade
centers was completed. As at 31 March 2016, construction of a GFA
of approximately 456,400 sq. m. is underway, of which approximately
199,400 sq. m. are expected to be completed in FY2016/17.
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In FY2015/16, CSC Xi'an recorded total Contracted Sales of HK$380.0
million (FY2014/15: HK$1,019.1 million), including a GFA of 5,000
sg. m. of trade center units (mall style) at an ASP of HK$13,200/sg. m.
(FY2014/15: 13,200 sg. m. at an ASP of HK$12,600/sq. m.) and a GFA
of 50,200 sq. m. of trade center units (detached style) at an ASP of
HK$6,300/sq. m. (FY2014/15: 99,400 sg. m. at an ASP of HK$8,600/
sg. m.).

China South City Harbin

Located at the Daowai District of Harbin, the capital of Heilongjiang
Province, CSC Harbin fully taps its advantageous location in Northeast
China, a premier hub for cross-border trade with countries in Northeast
Asia. Its proximity to the China-Russia border helps to facilitate economic
activities within the region. Tapping the opportunities arising from the
area’s development potential, CSC Harbin endeavors to become the
largest integrated logistics and trade center in Northeast China. The
project has a planned land area of approximately 10.0 million sg. m. and
a total planned GFA of approximately 12.0 million sqg. m..

Leveraging its own geographical location and local industries advantages,
CSC Harbin actively promoted the development of regional economy and
trade. During the Year, with the support of the local government, CSC
Harbin signed agreements with Russia Khabarovsk City Food Market and
other merchants, actively building the core hub for Northeast Asia green
food exhibition and trade. In addition, CSC Harbin actively promoted the
development of two major Sino-Russian trading projects, namely Sino-
Russia Trading Building and Petersburg Hotel. For ancillary facilities, phase
| of Qianlong Logistics Park was completed and commenced operation
during the Year, further catering the logistics and warehousing demand
from China South City and its surrounding businesses. Currently, the
planned operations of CSC Harbin cover industries such as hardware &
construction materials, green food, small commodities, hotel commodities,
leather & fur and outlets, etc.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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CSC Harbin is currently under phase | construction and has a total GFA
of approximately 855,600 sg. m. completed, including approximately
773,100 sq. m. of trade centers, approximately 59,200 sq. m. of logistics
and warehousing facilities and approximately 23,300 sq. m. of ancillary
facilities. During the Year, construction of a GFA of approximately 54,400
sq. m. of logistics and warehousing facilities was completed. As at 31
March 2016, construction of a GFA of approximately 1.34 million sg. m.
is underway, of which approximately 977,200 sg. m. are expected to be
completed in FY2016/17.

In FY2015/16, CSC Harbin recorded total Contracted Sales of HK$365.7
million (FY2014/15: HK$984.9 million), including a GFA of 500 sg. m. of
trade center units (mall style) at an ASP of HK$15,600/sq. m. (FY2014/15:
Nil), a GFA of 14,100 sq. m. of trade center units (detached style) at
an ASP of HK$9,500/sg. m. (FY2014/15: 104,700 sq. m. at an ASP of
HK$8,400/sg. m.) and a GFA of 48,800 sq. m. of residential ancillaries
at an ASP of HK$4,600/sq. m. (FY2014/15: 18,100 sq. m. at an ASP of
HK$5,900/sg. m.).

China South City Zhengzhou

CSC Zhengzhou is located at AEZ of Zhengzhou, the capital of Henan
Province. This experimental zone is the only state-level AEZ with a
complete network which includes airport, high-speed train, intercity train,
metro and highway and acts as an integrated transport hub providing
seamless connectivity of “railway, highway and airport”. The project is
highly accessible and enjoys extensive transportation links — it is a mere
16 km away from Zhengzhou Xinzheng International Airport and only a
couple of kilometers away from the Beijing-Guangzhou Railway Freight
Station and the Beijing-Hong Kong-Macao Highway. According to
Zhengzhou Metro Planning, the south extension of subway line 2, which
commenced construction in 2014 and is expected to start trial operation
in 2016, will pass through CSC Zhengzhou. Upon completion, this subway
line will generate more business opportunities and visitor traffic for the
project.
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CSC Zhengzhou has a total planned net land area of approximately 7.0
million sq. m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 12.0 million sg. m..
The project has received overwhelming support from the local government
since its establishment. With more occupants moving in, the Group's
online membership program, its E-commerce project in trial operation,
also gained increasing popularity among SMEs. In response to SMEs’
operational demand, the Group continued to reinforce the construction of
logistics and warehousing facilities. Of which, its LIEP, which helps cargo
owners match their freight plans more effectively by utilizing otherwise
empty truckloads of HGVs on their return journeys, will be put into trial
operation in the second half of FY2016/17. In addition, outlet mall in CSC
Zhengzhou will also commence operation in the second half of FY2016/17
and is expected to enrich the business diversity of the project by then.
The trial operations of CSC Zhengzhou cover industries such as building
materials, small commodities, hardware & machinery, automobile & parts,
and non-staple food, etc.

CSC Zhengzhou is currently under phase | development and has a
total GFA of approximately 2.50 million sq. m. completed, including
approximately 2.30 million sg. m. of trade centers, approximately 183,900
sg. m. of logistics and warehousing facilities and approximately 19,000
sg. m. of ancillary facilities. During the Year, construction of a GFA of
approximately 586,900 sg. m. of trade centers was completed. As at 31
March 2016, construction of a GFA of approximately 1.27 million sg. m.
is underway, of which approximately 243,700 sg. m. are expected to be
completed in FY2016/17.

In FY2015/16, CSC Zhengzhou recorded total Contracted Sales of
HK$2,171.8 million (FY2014/15: HK$4,157.6 million), including a GFA of
121,900 sq. m. of trade center units (mall style) at an ASP of HK$12,500/
sg. m. (FY2014/15: 147,000 sg. m. at an ASP of HK$12,700/sq. m.) and
a GFA of 77,500 sq. m. of trade center units (detached style) at an ASP
of HK$8,300/sg. m. (FY2014/15: 269,200 sq. m. at an ASP of HK$8,500/
sg. m.).

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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China South City Hefei

CSC Hefei is located at Hefei, the capital of Anhui Province, a transport
and economic hub at the heart of Eastern China. CSC Hefei benefits from
its strategic location in the Hefei Taohua Industrial Park, its well-developed
infrastructure, as well as a planned transportation system which includes
railways, highways and river transportation across China. CSC Hefei has
a total planned net land area of approximately 10.0 million sq. m. and a
total planned GFA of approximately 12.0 million sg. m..

During the Year, CSC Hefei has further promoted the construction of
ancillary facilities in response to rising market. The residential properties
of CSC Hefei were well-received by the market and construction of
logistics and warehousing facilities, outlets and HOBA Furnishing mall
also progressed smoothly. Currently, the planned operations of CSC Hefei
cover industries such as automobile & parts, hardware, electric appliances,
building & decoration materials, clothing, small commodities, non-staple
food and tea, etc.

CSC Hefei is currently under phase | construction and has a total GFA of
approximately 1.24 million sq. m. completed, including approximately
1.01 million sq. m. of trade centers, approximately 208,500 sqg. m.
of residential ancillaries and approximately 20,800 sq. m. of ancillary
facilities. During the Year, construction of a GFA of approximately
208,500 sg. m. of residential ancillaries was completed. As at 31 March
2016, construction of a GFA of approximately 1.82 million sg. m. is
underway, of which approximately 285,900 sq. m. are expected to be
completed in FY2016/17.

In FY2015/16, CSC Hefei recorded total Contracted Sales of HK$819.6
million (FY2014/15: HK$1,288.3 million), including a GFA of 15,600
sg. m. of trade center units (detached style) at an ASP of HK$8,100/sg. m.
(FY2014/15: 93,100 sq. m. at an ASP of HK$7,800/sq. m.) and a GFA of
115,300 sq. m. of residential ancillaries at an ASP of HK$6,000/sq. m.
(FY2014/15: 98,000 sg. m. at an ASP of HK$5,700/sq. m.).
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China South City Chongqing

CSC Chongging is strategically located at the Banan District of Chongging
Municipality, the first municipality where the Group has entered into.
The project is highly accessible to the city center and other regions given
its strategic location in the Chongging Highway Logistics Base, the state-
level transportation infrastructure and large highway base in the western
region.

CSC Chongging is currently under construction. The transportation
network around the project has been developed rapidly, coupled with
the growing maturity of business circles in Banan District, laying a good
foundation for the future transportation convenience and commercial
environment of the project. The planned operations of CSC Chongging
cover industries such as small commodities, hardware & machinery,
non-staple food & tea, building & decoration materials, textiles & clothing
and automobile & parts, etc.

CSC Chongging has a total planned net land area of approximately 6.3
million sg. m. and a total planned GFA of approximately 13.5 million
sg. m.. CSC Chongging is under phase | development with a total GFA
of approximately 1.16 million sq. m. completed, including approximately
1.14 million sg. m. of trade centers and approximately 15,800 sq. m. of
ancillary facilities. During the Year, construction of a GFA of approximately
750,300 sq. m. of trade centers was completed. As at 31 March 2016,
construction of a GFA of approximately 151,300 sq. m. is underway and is
expected to be completed in FY2016/17.

In FY2015/16, CSC Chongqing recorded total Contracted Sales of
HK$647.0 million (FY2014/15: 966.7 million), including a GFA of 82,700
sg. m. of trade center units (detached style) at an ASP of HK$7,800/sq. m.
(FY2014/15: 131,100 sq. m. at an ASP of HK$7,400/sq. m.).
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Financial Review

For FY2015/16, the revenue of the Group decreased 37.1% to
HK$6,136.3 million (FY2014/15: HK$9,757.8 million), and net profit
attributable to owners of the parent for the Year decreased 5.1% to
HK$3,537.0 million (FY2014/15: HK$3,727.9 million). Excluding the
effects of fair value gains on investment properties and related tax effects
and fair value gain on derivative financial instrument, core net profit
attributable to owners of the parent for the Year as adjusted decreased
by 35.0% to HK$1,205.8 million (FY2014/15: HK$1,854.3 million). Basic
earnings per share decreased to HK44.22 cents (FY2014/15: HK48.73
cents).

Revenue

Revenue decreased by 37.1% to HK$6,136.3 million (FY2014/15:
HK$9,757.8 million). The decrease was mainly attributable to slow down
in general economy and decrease in Contracted Sales and delivery of
completed properties during the Year.

Bt 75 21 B

MR2015/M6 T MFE - AEEKARD3I71% =
61.3631E8 70 (2014/158 L E : 97.57818/87T)
REEZRRTHEE AEGEFFERA5.1%%235.370
BSTC(2014/158 LA + 37.27918787T) » MR
BEMEATERGEMABREZERTESRT AR
FEWRZE - FAEENRNFESRREE AEEZD
E R R 42 35.0% 2= 12.05818 78 7T (2014/15 84 B
£ 1 18543188 7L) - BIREAZRFIR A 244.2251
(2014/158/BUAFE : 48.73784L) o

WA
WARA37.1%%61.3631E8 7L (2014/158 BUF E -
97.5781B%8 L) WA ETERARKAFERNERKL
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FY2015/16 FY2014/15 Change
2015/16 2014/15
MBFEE BIRFEE g
HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FHET FET
Sales of properties and YIZHE K
finance lease income BEREWA 4,715,703 8,654,171 -45.5%
Sales of trade center units HERL G B 2,998,814 6,836,963 -56.1%
Sales of residential properties HETEYZE 1,165,321 1,353,830 -13.9%
Finance lease income BETAEWA 551,568 463,378 19.0%
Recurring income BB 1,420,559 1,103,596 28.7%
Rental income HEHA 681,314 573,895 18.7%
Property management service W% EEIRFFMA
income 247,721 133,321 85.8%
E-commerce income EFEEWA 202,184 201,806 0.2%
Other revenue EA 289,340 194,574 48.7%
6,136,262 9,757,767 -37.1%
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Sales of Properties and Finance Lease Income

Revenue from sales of properties decreased by 49.2% to HK$4,164.1
million (FY2014/15: HK$8,190.8 million). The decrease was mainly due
to slow down in general economy and decrease in Contracted Sales and
delivery of completed properties during the Year. Sales of properties for

each project are as follows:

HEWRUARBEHEERA

THEWMER AR AD49.2%E41.641 B TT(2014/158F
BEE : 81.908BE L) e ML ETBENAFENE
BRACEIRGE - LARAHHEE RN R THmERD -
FHEEMNMEHSERAT ¢

Average selling price Sales revenue
(before deduction (before deduction Sales revenue
of business tax) GFA sold of business tax) (net of business tax)
(HKS$/sq. m.) (sq. m.) (HKS million) (HKS million)
FHER HEWA HEKRA
(B EBA) BEREARE (MBEEBA) (NREEBH)
(B/EEX) (F5%) (BE#R) (AE#7T)
FY2015/16  FY2014/15  FY2015/16  FY2014/15  FY2015/16  FY2014/15  FY2015/16  FY2014/15
2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15 2015/16 2014/15
BHEE HHER BREE HHER HHEE YHEE BHEE HHER
CSC Shenzhen FERR 24,600 24,400 4,900 5,900 120.6 1436 113.8 1355
CSC Nanchang BEERN
- Trade center units ~RAPLEE 21,600 17,300 100 63,400 3.1 1,094.4 29 1,034.5
- Residential properties ~FENE 8,000 8,200 26,500 104,600 209.3 8523 1974 805.7
CSC Nanning HEEREN
- Trade center units ~RGHBLEEH 24,300 21,000 1,800 8,600 36.6 180.0 34.5 169.6
- Residential properties ~fFENE 6,800 7,400 57,200 78,500 386.8 581.7 364.8 548.1
CSC Xan ARERH 6,400 8,600 94,600 43,200 602.0 3718 568.3 3510
CSC Harbin REEERN 10,600 7,700 4,900 225,400 522 17450 493 1,648 4
CSC Zhengzhou BNEER 9,400 7,700 131,400 368,000 1,236.2 2,8249 1,168.3 2,669.9
CSC Hefel aIEERH
- Trade center units —RHFOTE 6,500 9,300 7,600 53,100 50.0 496.0 472 468.8
~Residential properties S 5,600 - 113,300 - 638.2 - 603.1 -
CSC Chongaing EEERY 6,800 7,700 157,100 49,200 1,074.7 380.6 1,0145 3593
Total i N/ARER NIATER 599,400 999,900 4,409.7 8,670.3 4,164.1 8,190.8

50

Finance lease income, derived from the leasing of office towers and
residential properties, increased by approximately 19.0% to HK$551.6
million (FY2014/15: HK$463.4 million). The increase was primarily
attributable to the increase in sale of office of plaza 5 and Warehouse

Logistics Park at CSC Shenzhen during the Year.
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During the Year, the Group entered into finance lease arrangements with
tenants for approximately 49,400 sq. m. (FY2014/15: 43,500 sg. m.) at an
average price of HK$11,800/sg. m. (FY2014/15: HK$11,300/sg. m.).

Rental Income

Rental income increased by 18.7% to HK$681.3 million (FY2014/15:
HK$573.9 million). The increase was mainly attributable to the continuous
increase in rental income of trade center units of CSC Shenzhen, the
contribution from HOBA Furnishing and trial operation of projects other
than CSC Shenzhen during the Year.

Occupancy at CSC Shenzhen has been driven by the demand for large-
scale integrated logistics and trade center facilities and the growing
popularity of China South City. In FY2015/16, the rental business of
CSC Shenzhen basically remained steady and a new HOBA Furnishing
mall in phase Il of CSC Shenzhen was put into trial operation during the
Year. The newly opened mall increased the launched rentable GFA and
bring along new rental income source, though it dragged down both
occupancy rate and rent rate of phase Ill trade center in its initial stage
of trial operation. As at 31 March 2016, the total occupancy rate of the
launched rentable GFA of phase I, phase I, phase Il trade center and
shops were ranged from 58% to 92% (as at 31 March 2015: ranged from
61% to 95%), while the average rent rate ranged from HK$35/sg. m. to
HK$55/5g. m. (as at 31 March 2015: HK$40/sq. m. to HK$55/sg. m.).

Property Management Service Income

Income from property management services rose by 85.8% to HK$247.7
million (FY2014/15: HK$133.3 million). The increase in income was mainly
attributable to, on top of the increasing operating areas of CSC Shenzhen,
along with the trial operations in CSC Nanning, CSC Nanchang, CSC
Harbin and CSC Zhengzhou, the increasing operating areas of these
projects bring along the increase in property management service income
during the Year.

E-commerce Income

E-commerce income, derived from the E-commerce services provided
to the Group’s customers, remain flat during the Year and amount
to HK$202.2 million (FY2014/15: HK$201.8 million). The trial online
membership programme of the Group launched in CSC Zhengzhou
in prior years was now gradually extended to other China South City
projects. By joining the programme, the occupants will enjoy a full range
of E-commerce service offered by the Group’s E-commerce platform —
CSC86.com.
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Other Revenue

Other revenue rose by 48.7% to HK$289.3 million (FY2014/15: HK$194.6
million). The increase was mainly attributable to the continuous growth
of the outlet operations and logistics and warehousing services, with
revenue from outlet operations increased 48.1% to HK$136.9 million
(FY2014/15: HK$92.5 million) while that of logistics and warehousing
services increased 49.7% to HK$143.4 million (FY2014/15: HK$95.8
million) respectively during the Year.

Increase in income from outlet operations was mainly due to the growth
of outlet center business and the increase in operating areas in both
the established outlet malls as well as the newly established outlet
malls during the Year. The increase in income from the logistics and
warehousing services was mainly due to the increase in operating areas of
warehousing during the Year.

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales mainly includes construction costs of properties
sold, construction costs of properties held for finance lease and rental
expenses. During the Year, cost of sales decreased by 30.7% to
HK$3,177.2 million (FY2014/15: HK$4,582.2 million). The decrease in cost
of sales was in line with the decrease of GFA of properties sold during the
Year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased by 42.8% to HK$2,959.1 million (FY2014/15:
HK$5,175.6 million). Gross profit margin decreased to 48% (FY2014/15:
53%) which was mainly due to the change in product mix of sales with a
higher portion of residential properties which had a relatively lower profit
margin.

Other Income and Gains/(Losses)

Other income and gains/(losses) increased by 219.1% to HK$1,066.2
million (FY2014/15: HK$334.1 million). Such increase was mainly
attributable to the government grants of HK$1,001.1 million (FY2014/15:
HK$56.5 million) whereas for FY2014/15, besides government grants,
the other income and gain/(loss) included the fair value gain of the
option granted to Tencent to subscribe for the shares of the Company,
which was treated as a derivative financial instrument and amounted to
HK$151.9 million. Such item did not exist during the Year.
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Fair Value Gains on Investment Properties

The fair value gains on investment properties increased by 34.8% to
HK$3,232.7 million (FY2014/15: HK$2,398.5 million). The increase was
mainly contributed by the addition of new investment properties at the
existing projects.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses increased by 19.8% to HK$864.7 million
(FY2014/15: HK$722.0 million). The increase was mainly attributable
to the implementation of various measures in marketing activities to
promote the sales of properties and the business of the outlet and HOBA
Furnishing. In addition, the change of the incentive package of sales
and marketing team also led to the increase in selling and distribution
expenses during the Year.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased by 8.6% to HK$1,177.2 million
(FY2014/15: HK$1,083.6 million). The increase was primarily due to more
operating activities as a result of trial operations in various projects and
share options expenses of HK$29.3 million (FY2014/15: HK$90.7 million).
During the Year, the Group granted 79,990,000 share options to a
director (FY2014/15: 103,300,000 share options were granted to certain
directors and employees).

Finance Costs

Finance costs slightly dropped 3.7% to HK$159.4 million (FY2014/15:
HK$165.6 million). The drop was mainly attributable to the decrease in
bank and other borrowings for general business purposes, the interest
expenses of which would be recorded through profit or loss. As at the
end of March 2016, the Group's weighted average financing cost was
approximately 6.3%, as compared with approximately 6.8% at the end of
March 2015.

Tax

Tax expenses decreased by 36.1% to HK$1,370.5 million (FY2014/15:
HK$2,144.7 million). The decrease in tax expenses was in line with the
decrease of revenue during the Year.
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Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables increased by 19.5% to
HK$781.3 million (31 March 2015: HK$653.8 million), mainly due to the
net effect of (i) increase in deposits paid for construction of new projects
and (i) decrease in prepayment of business taxes of pre-sold properties in
certain China South City projects.

Trade and Other Payables

Trade and other payables decreased by 2.0% to HK$13,269.7 million (31
March 2015: HK$13,534.7 million). The decrease was mainly due to the
net effect of (i) settlement of construction fees and retention payables
and (ii) the increase in other payables and accruals and deposits and
receipt in advance during the Year. As at 31 March 2016, the balance of
construction fees and retention payable and deposits received and receipts
in advance were HK$6,367.2 million and HK$4,184.8 million respectively.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group finances its development and operations primarily through
internally generated funds, bank and other borrowings, senior notes,
short-term notes, medium-term notes, corporate bonds and domestic
company bonds financing.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had HK$11,686.7 million in cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash (31 March 2015: HK$8,672.7 million),
among which non-restricted cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$9,327.8 million (31 March 2015: HK$7,253.5 million).
The Group's cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash were primarily
denominated in Renminbi, HK dollars and US dollars.

Borrowing and Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at 31 March 2016, the total interest bearing debt of the Group was
approximately HK$33,808.6 million (31 March 2015: HK$25,003.3
million) which included interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
senior notes, short-term notes, medium-term notes, corporate bonds and
domestic company bonds.
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Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

The Group had aggregated interest-bearing bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$16,622.7 million as at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015:
HK$15,465.3 million), of which HK$7,656.9 million will be repayable
within one year or on demand, approximately HK$4,368.4 million will be
repayable in the second year, approximately HK$4,291.4 million will be
repayable in the third to fifth years and approximately HK$306.0 million
will be repayable after five years. As at 31 March 2016, approximately
HK$13,654.2 million of the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings were secured by certain buildings, investment properties,
properties under development, properties held for sales and bank deposit,
the total carrying value of which was approximately HK$26,376.0 million.

Except for the bank loan with balance of HK$300 million denominated
in HK dollars and bears interest at floating rates of HIBOR+2.65% (31
March 2015: HIBOR+2.65% to HIBOR+2.75%), the other interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of the Group were denominated in Renminbi
with interest rates range from 3.3% to 7.5% (31 March 2015: 5.5% to
8.0%) per annum. Furthermore, as at 31 March 2016, the Group had
unused banking facilities of approximately HK$5,956.3 million. The Group
will deploy these banking facilities as appropriate, depending on project
development needs and working capital status.

Issuance of Notes

Senior Notes

In October 2012, the Company issued senior notes due in October 2017
with a nominal value of US$125 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$975 million) at a coupon rate of 13.5% per annum for the purpose
of funding its properties under development and properties planned for
future development, and refinancing a portion of its existing debt and
for general corporate purposes. In January 2014, the Company issued
senior notes due in January 2019 with a nominal value of US$400 million
(equivalents approximately HK$3,120 million) at a coupon rate of 8.25%
per annum for the purpose of redeeming all of the outstanding senior
notes due in January 2016, with which the coupon rate was 13.5% per
annum, and for general corporate purposes. In April 2016, the Company
has fully redeemed the senior notes due in October 2017 with a nominal
value of US$125 million. The senior notes are jointly guaranteed by certain
subsidiaries and secured by pledges of shares of certain subsidiaries.
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Medium-Term Notes

In April 2014, China South International obtained the relevant approval
for issuing medium-term notes in the national inter-bank market in the
PRC with a maximum principal amount of RMB4 billion. In May 2014,
China South International issued the first tranche of the medium-term
notes of 2014 (“2014 First Tranche MTN") with a total principal amount
of RMB1 billion with a maturity period of 5 years and at an interest rate of
7.5% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used for repaying part
of the short-term bank loans of the Group. In September 2014, China
South International issued the second tranche of the medium-term notes
of 2014 (“2014 Second Tranche MTN") with a total principal amount of
RMB1 billion with a maturity period of 5 years and at an interest rate of
8.4% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used for repaying part
of bank loans of the Group. In July 2015, China South International issued
the 2015 First Tranche MTN with a total principal amount of RMB2 billion
with a maturity period of 3 years and at an interest rate of 7.0% per
annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used for replacement of bank
loans of the Group and the development of CSC Nanning project.

Short-Term Notes

In September 2014, China South International obtained the relevant
approval for issuing the short-term notes in a maximum principal amount
of RMB4.3 billion in the PRC. In October 2014, China South International
issued the first tranche of the PRC short-term notes of 2014 in the
national interbank market in the PRC (“2014 First Tranche STN") with a
total principal amount of RMB2.2 billion with a maturity period of 1 year
and at an interest rate of 5.4% per annum. The proceeds thereof were
to be used for repaying part of the bank loans of the Group. The 2014
First Tranche STN have been repaid in October 2015. In September 2015,
China South International issued the 2015 First Tranche STN with a total
principal amount of RMB2.1 billion with a maturity period of 1 year and at
an interest rate of 4.3% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used
for replacement of bank borrowings of the Group.

Corporate Bonds

In March 2015, China South International obtained the relevant approval
for issuing the corporate bonds in a maximum principal amount of
RMB1.5 billion in the PRC. In April 2015, China South International
issued the corporate bonds with a total principal amount of RMB1.5
billion with a term of up to 6 years in maximum and at an interest rate of
7.0% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used for funding the
development of CSC Zhengzhou project.
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Domestic Company Bonds

In December 2015, China South International obtained the relevant
approval for issuing the domestic company bonds in a maximum principal
amount of RMB4.4 billion in the PRC. In January 2016, China South
International issued the first tranche of domestic company bonds of 2016
(2016 First Tranche DCB") with the total principal amount of RMB3
billion with a term of 3 years and at an interest rate of 5.98% per annum.
The proceeds thereof were to be used for repaying part of bank loans of
the Group and for general corporate purposes. In May 2016, China South
International issued the second tranche of domestic company bonds of
2016 (2016 Second Tranche DCB"”) with the total principal amount of
RMB1.4 billion with a term of 3 years and at an interest rate of 6.85% per
annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used for repaying part of bank
loans of the Group and general working capital.

As at 31 March 2016, the carrying value of China South International’s
medium-term notes were HK$5,026.7 million, short-term notes were
HK$2,525.5 million, corporate bonds were HK$1,891.2 million and
domestic company bonds were HK$3,629.1 million respectively.

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was 83.9%
as at 31 March 2016 and 65.3% as at 31 March 2015. The total liabilities
over total assets ratio was 68.4% as at 31 March 2016 (31 March 2015:
65.8%).

Net Current Assets and Current Ratio

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had net current assets of HK$10,971.0
million (31 March 2015: HK$5,918.3 million) at a current ratio of 1.39 (31
March 2015: 1.21).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group has provided guarantees with respect to banking facilities
granted by certain banks in connection with mortgage loans entered
into by purchasers of the Group’s trade centers and residential properties
and bank loans entered into by lessees of the Group’s residential and
commercial properties. As at 31 March 2016, the guarantees amounted
to HK$5,805.4 million (31 March 2015: HK$6,049.3 million). The
guarantees granted to purchasers will be released when the purchasers
obtain building ownership certificates, which will then be pledged to the
banks. For leased residential and commercial properties, the guarantees
will be released accordingly along with the repayment of loan principals
by the lessees.
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Commitments

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had future capital expenditure
contracted but not yet provided for in the amount of HK$7,350.5 million
(31 March 2015: HK$9,253.9 million).

Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and Associated
Companies

Except for the update on the acquisition of HOBA Furnishing in July 2015,
the Group had no material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and
associated companies during the Year.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group conducts its business primarily in Renminbi. The income
and bank deposits of the Group were substantially denominated in
Renminbi to meet the Group’s development and operation needs in the
PRC. As at 31 March 2016, among the Group’s total interest bearing
debts of HK$33,808.6 million, approximately HK$4,413.4 million were
denominated in US dollars or HK dollars and the rest were in Renminbi.
The Group does not have material exposure to foreign exchange risk and
no foreign currency hedging was done during the Year. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure and consider hedging arrangement
if such need arise.

Economic, Commercial and Other Risks

The Group may be exposed to the risk of negative developments in
national and regional economies, property and financial markets. It
may result in reductions in sales prices of the properties, rent rates and
occupancy rates of properties, and demand for ancillary services and
facilities it provides. It may also result in recession, inflation, deflation
and currency fluctuations as well as restrictions in the availability of
credit, increases in financing and other operating costs. The development
of the Group’s projects may subject to market risks as it usually takes
time to complete. Though the Group appoints quality partners for the
development of its projects, it may still be subject to associated risk of the
quality and safety of the products and services provided by the Group.
The Group may also be subject to a number of regulatory environments
in the territories in which it operates. Changes in the regulatory approach
to such matters as ownership of assets and businesses, regulations
related to development and operations, exchange controls, tax rules and
employment legislation may impact the business of the Group. Changes
in the political environment in such territories may also affect the Group.
The management of the Group will keep abreast of the environment and
policy changes and make the necessary adjustments in response to such
changes, if any. Further steps taken by the Group to manage the financial
risk are set out in note 47 to the financial statements.
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Land for Projects and Restriction on Sales

The Group signs project agreements with local governments prior to the
development of all projects in order to outline the long term blueprints of
relevant projects. These agreements generally set out the size and use of
lands and the related development plans. However, the actual acquisition
of lands, land area and terms and conditions of such acquisition are
subject to the relevant regulations and local governments’ requirements,
the Group’s development plans and the results of the relevant public
tender, auction and listing. Since the development of each of these
projects may last for more than ten years, the Group and the local
government may agree to adjust the details of these agreements to align
with the actual needs of project developments.

The progress of the land acquisition and project development depend on
the progress of the Group’s planning, as well as the procedural formalities
as determined by the local government departments. As the procedures
and requirements set by different local governments vary, the Group may
adjust the development of each project according to relevant conditions.
In view of its substantial land bank and flexibility in project planning, the
Group believes such circumstances will not have material impact on its
development as a whole.

Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts and documents,
some of the land acquired by the Group may have sales restrictions on
properties built on it. These include the saleable area of trade centers of
CSC Shenzhen is limited to 30% of the total buildable GFA of properties
built on the relevant parcels of land. The saleable area of trade centers
and logistics facilities built on certain parcels of land acquired by CSC
Nanchang and CSC Nanning in 2010 are limited to 60% of the relevant
total buildable GFA. The saleable area of trade centers built by CSC Hefei
and CSC Chongging are limited to 50% of their relevant total buildable
GFA. The saleable area of trade centers of phase | and future phases of
CSC Zhengzhou are limited to 60% and 50% respectively of its relevant
total buildable GFA. Except for the restrictions mentioned herein, there is
no sales restriction on other land acquired by the Group. According to the
Group's business model, the Group intends to hold not less than 50% of
trade centers and commercial facilities for leasing and self-use, the related
sales restrictions will not have significant impact to the Group.
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General Mandate Issue

Update on Use of Proceeds

On 15 January 2014, the Company entered into the Investment and
Cooperation Agreement (the “Agreement”) with THL H Limited (“THL"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tencent, a company listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”). Pursuant to such Agreement and the general mandate
granted to the Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 21 August 2013, THL has subscribed for 680,300,000 shares of
the Company at a price of HK$2.20 per share (“Subscription Shares”) on
23 January 2014 with a total consideration of approximately HK$1,500
million. In addition, the Company has granted an option to THL to
subscribe for a further 244,800,000 shares at the price of HK$3.50
per share (subject to adjustments (if any)) (“Option”). In September
2014, THL noticed the Company to exercise the Option at the option
price of HK$3.36 per share at the total consideration of approximately
HK$822.5 million (as adjusted by the dividend declared by the Company
and the Company issued and allotted such shares to THL accordingly.
Details of the Investment and Cooperation Agreement are set out in the
announcements dated 15 January 2014, 23 January 2014, 23 September
2014 and 29 September 2014 respectively. The Company intends to use
part of the net proceeds in certain areas of intended cooperation with
the Tencent Group and the remaining will be used for general corporate
purposes.

The net proceeds from the Subscription Shares and the exercise of Option
were in an aggregate of approximately HK$2,319.2 million. As at 31
March 2016, the Company has utilized approximately HK$1,848.7 million
in E-commerce related business and other general corporate purposes. For
the remaining of the net proceeds, the Group plans to use it for business
related to E-commerce, logistics and general corporate purposes.

Human Resources

As at 31 March 2016, the Group had a workforce of approximately 6,930
people, including approximately 6,890 people directly employed by the
Group and approximately 40 people employed by our associate. The
number of the Group's staff decreased by 8.8% from 7,600 people as at
31 March 2015. The Group aims to recruit, retain and develop competent
individuals who are committed to the Group’s long-term success and
growth. Remunerations and other benefits of employees are reviewed
annually in response to both market conditions and trends, and are
based on qualifications, experience, responsibilities and performance. In
addition to basic salaries and other staff benefits, discretionary bonuses
and share options may be awarded to employees who display outstanding
performance and contributions to the Group. During the Year, the
Company granted 79,990,000 share options to a Director.
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Project Portfolio

HAAS

Properties held for sale/finance lease

HFHE/MEREYSR

Acquired land

Group's area Approx. GFA  Completion
Project Location Interest (sq. m.) Description (sq.m.) Year
ERTER BHRERE
HH ok AEEER (FHK) AR (FHK) BRIFH
China South City Shenzhen No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100% 1,060,000 Phase | trade centers 1,200 2004
Y= Pinghu, Longgang District, —HZHH0
Shenzhen, China
FERYIT R = T Phase Il residential facilities 1,200 2008
ERABH —HEERERE
Phase Il commercial and other
ancillary facilities
—HEERAMRERE
Phase Il trade centers 200 2009
ZHRSPL
Phase Ill commercial and other
ancillary facilities
HEERABRER
Phase Ill trade centers 42,500 2016
—HRZH L
Logistics zone commercial and
other ancillary facilities
nEERERAMEERE
— Office tower 22,400 2015
7N
China South City Nanchang No. 1, Huanan Avenue, 100% 1,726,000 Phase I trade centers 273,100 2012, 2014,
[BEESE) Honggutan New District, —HZ GHN 2015
Nanchang City,
Jiangxi Province, China Phase | residential facilities 28,200 2012, 2015

PEIIAAEEMAAENE
ERRER

—HEERERE
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Project Portfolio (Continued)
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Properties held for sale/finance lease

HEHE/RMEREYE

Acquired land

Group's area Approx. GFA  Completion
Project Location Interest (sg. m.) Description (sg.m.) Year
EELEE BHREER

EH ok rEEER (FHAK) AR (FHK) RIFH
China South City Nanning No. 56, Shajing Avenue, 100% 890,000 Phase I trade centers 88,000 2012
HEEEN Jiangnan District, —HZ SR

Nanning City, Guangxi

Zhuang Autonomous Region, Phase | residential facilities 86,500 2013

China —HAEEERE

hEEAELR R RREED

TR @D HARES65E
China South City Xi'an No. 8, Port Avenue, Xi'an 100% 1,589,000 Phase | trade centers 513,600 2013, 2015
AL EE International Trade & Logistics —HR S

Park, Xi'an City,

Shaanxi Province,

China

mEREERELTH

AZERELR

BHAESH
China South City Harbin Tuanjie Town, Daowei District, 100% 1,612,000 Phase | trade centers 100,300 2014
REREERN Harbin City, —HRFH L

Heilongjiang Province, China

HEBETIERRETEINE

BlEE
China South City Zhengzhou  Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, 100% 1,891,000 Phase | trade centers 579,700 2014, 2016
ENERA Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, —HZ 5%

China

th B A& E N R

A
China South City Hefei Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial 100% 1,907,000 Phase | trade centers 266,600 2014, 2015
AR Park, Feixi County of Hefei City, —HRSH 0

Auhui Province, China

REZEEAETEARTEIEER Phase | residential facilities 51,800 2016

ZERE —HETRERE
China South City Chongging ~ No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, 100% 2,276,000 Phase | trade centers 816,900 2015, 2016
BEEGH Nanpeng, Banan District, —BR S0

Chongging Municipality, China
FEEETEER
HYENKRE—R
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Project Portfolio (Continued)
HEMAS ()

Properties for Investment

BREWF

Group's Approx. GFA®™
Project Location Interest  Description (sg.m.)  Lease Term
BreEREe
HH bk AEEEE R (FHK)  RREH
China South City Shenzhen No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, 100%  Phase | trade centers 167,100  Medium Term Lease
WY R Pinghu, Longgang District, —HBRZEH0 R4
Shenzhen, China
HERYImEEE S Phase | commercial and other
FHERAER ancillary facilities
—HREREBRERR
— Business centers 22,400 Medium Term Lease
— BB R
— Hotel properties 32,100  Medium Term Lease
— EEME REEY
Phase Il trade centers 352,800  Medium Term Lease
—HR SR REEY
Phase Il commercial and other
ancillary facilities
—HEERABRER
— Office tower 15,100  Medium Term Lease
YN R
— Shopping plaza 15,200  Medium Term Lease
— A% Y
Phase Il trade centers 267,800  Medium Term Lease
ZHR SR REEY
Phase IIl commercial and other
ancillary facilities
“HREREBEERR
— Office tower 4,400  Medium Term Lease
— AR REEY
— Residential properties 32,100  Medium Term Lease
—EEmE R
Logistics zone commercial and
other ancillary facilities
NRBEREEREMEER
— Hotel properties 7,000  Medium Term Lease

—BENE

P EIRA)

Annual Report 2015/16 5k



Project Portfolio (Continued)

HEAS (&)

Properties for Investment

BREWMSE

Project

BE

Location

13

Group's
Interest

AEBAN

Description

AR

Approx. GFA®
(sq. m.)
BreEREo
(FHXK)

Lease Term

ZREH

China South City Nanchang
BEESE

China South City Nanning
AEEEA

China South City Xi'an
PREEH

China South City Harbin
WEEERH

China South City Zhengzhou
M=

No. 1 Huanan Avenue,

Honggutan New District,
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,

China

REIREEEMAAENE

EPAE—#

No. 56 Shajing Avenue,
Jiangnan District, Nanning City,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous

Region, China

PREEATRE REREN

TEEYHKE565

No. 8, Port Avenue, Xi'an
International Trade & Logistics

Park, Xi'an City,

Shaanxi Province,
China

HERFEE LT
AR ER AR

N L

Tuanjie Town, Daowei District,

Harbin City,
Heilongjiang Province,
China

PEERTERRETENE

B3R

Longhu Town, Xinzheng City,
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province,

China

R B A B HHEBH

BEHE

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Phase | trade centers

—HR G0

Phase | trade centers

—HRFP0

Phase | trade centers

—HR G0

Phase | trade centers

—HR G0

Phase | trade centers

—HR G0

45,600

567,600

46,800

345,000

390,500

Medium Term Lease

P EIRA)

Medium Term Lease

P EIRA)

Medium Term Lease

o EIRA)

Medium Term Lease

o EIR A

Medium Term Lease

o EIRA)

Note 1: The approximate GFA does not include the area of underground facilities.
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Project Portfolio (Continued)
HEMAS ()

Properties under Development - with Land use Rights Certificates

REPYE-RELHERERS

Approx. Estimated
Group's  Acquired land Approx. GFA under completion
Project/Location Interest areal? GFA@  Description construction®  Stage of completion calendar year
(sq. m) (sq.m.) (sq. m.)
BHEBL i)
BRMY rE@ER BEEY BEEEY AR AEREEEY THRER BIAATIES
(F5%) (FHK) (F5%)
1. China South City Shenzhen 100% 1,060,000 2,133,000 a.  Trade centers, warehouse and 242,200 Foundation work and 2016-2019
RYIEEH other ancillary facilities superstructure in progress
No. 1 Hua Nan Main Road, Pinghu, RERL - BEREMEERE WETER FETRETTR
Longgang District, Shenzhen, China
HERYMEEE TS b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
EPRE-H HTHH RET
2. China South City Nanning 100% 890,000 2,480,000 a.  Trade centers, residential, commercial, 558,500  Foundation work and 2016-2018
BEEEY warehouse and other ancillary facllities superstructure in progress
No. 56, Shajing Avenue, Jiangnan RgFb - FE - BE ARREMEE WETRR FETRETT
District, Nanning City, Guangxi Bid
Zhuang Autonomous Region, China
HEERS KB AREET b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
JLRIE ) KES6 5, HTHH RET
3. China South City Nanchang 100% 1,726,000  4,665200 a.  Trade centers, residential, commercial, 711,600  Foundation work and 2016-2018
EEEL warehouse and other ancillary facllities superstructure in progress
No. 1, Huanan Avenue, R0 AE BE ARREMEE WEATER FETRET
Honggutan New District, B4
Nanchang City, Jiangxi Province,
China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
PEIIEEHETAARNE HTHH RET
EPRE-H
4. China South City Xi'an 100% 1,589,000 4,156,000 a.  Trade centers, commercial, warehouse and 456,400  Foundation work and 2016-2019
BREEN other ancillary facilities superstructure in progress
No.8, Port Avenue, Xi"an International RPFL - BE ERREMEEDS wEIREEETRENT
Trade & Logistics Park, Xi"an City,
Shaanxi Province, China b. Remaining portions - Planning -
PEREEERTARERERE HTHH RET
BIBRES
5. China South City Harbin 100% 1,612,000 4,748,000 a.  Trade centers, residential, commercial, 1,340,900  Foundation work and 2016-2018
REEZEEY warehouse and other ancillary facilities superstructure in progress
Tuanjie Town, Daowei District, oL FE - BE  BEREMEE WETER FETRETT
Harbin City, Heilongjiang Province, China B4
PEEEIERRATENEELE
b. Remaining portions - Planning -
HTHH RET
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Project Portfolio (Continued)
HEMAS ()

Properties under Development - with Land use Rights Certificates

REPYE-RELHERERS

06

Approx. Estimated
Group's  Acquired land Approx. GFA under completion
Project/Location Interest areal? GFA@  Description construction®  Stage of completion calendar year
(sq. m) (sq.m.) (sq. m.)
BHEEL o]
BRMY rEWRR BERY BEERY AR HEREEHEY THER BHRIEE
(F5%) (FHK) (F5%)
6. China South City Zhengzhou 100% 1,891,000 5,170,000 a.  Trade centers, residential, commercial, 1,265,000  Foundation work and 2016-2019
Mz warehouse and other ancillary facllities superstructure in progress
Longhu Town, Xinzheng City, RN EE - BE ARRAMEE WATERR FETRENT
Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, Bid
China
SETREEMNHHEH b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
e HTHH RET
7. China South City Hefei 100% 1,907,000 5201,000 a.  Trade centers, residential, commercial, 1,822,400  Foundation work and 2016-2018
ahEmE warehouse and other ancillary facilties superstructure in progress
Fanhua Avenue, Taohua Industrial Park, XL HE BE ARREMEE WEIREEETRENT
Feixi County of Hefei City, Auhui Province, Bid
China
PEZEESENER b.  Remaining portions - Planning -
HETIEEZERE HTHH RET
8. China South City Chongqing 100% 2,276,000 5605100 a.  Trade centers and other ancillary facilities 151,300  Foundation work and 2016-2017
BEEEY P OREMRERIE superstructure in progress
No. 1 Dongcheng Avenue, Nanpeng, WETRR FETRETF
Banan District, Chongging b. Remaining portions
Municipality, China HTHH - Planning -
PEEETCHREZRAAE IR RET
Notes: FisE
(1) The Group has acquired these parcels of land as at 31 March 2016. (1 AEER2016F3A31 BER R Z SR -
(2) The approximate GFA does not include the area of underground facilities. @) AR EE BT B IEH R R HEEAE o
(3) The approximate GFA under construction includes the area of underground ~ (3) BMAOERTERERBRIEMEREEE

facilities.
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Five Years' Financial Summary

T EIEHE

Year ended 31 March

BE3A3M1ALEE
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THT THT THT
RESULTS ES
Revenue WA 6,136,262 9,757,767 13,468,322 7,488,061 3,670,767
Gross Profit B 2,959,053 5,175,630 6,547,164 4,176,695 2,236,096
Profit before tax T RIA) 4,904,233 5,859,489 6,168,828 4,473,136 3,305,515
Income tax expenses FriEHiAY (1,370,457) (2,144,709) (2,472,478) (1,606,468) (1,257,953
Profit for the year REEFHE 3,533,776 3,714,780 3,696,350 2,866,668 2,047,562
Attributable to: TEIE L
Owners of the parent [SYNGII7=PN 3,537,012 3,727,872 3,494,481 2,749,864 2,070,708
Non-controlling interests IR ES (3,236) (13,092) 201,869 116,804 (23,146)
Core net profit attributable to BAFRE AEGZD
owners of the parent* A 1,205,782 1,854,273 2,677,696 1,776,382 922,641
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE 44,393,168 38,990,032 20,918,774 23,917,451 17,421,439
Current assets REEE 38,992,163 34,263,939 30,042,168 18,427,574 13,244,904
Total assets BERE 83,385,331 78,253,971 59,960,942 42,345,025 30,666,343
Current liabilities FHEE 28,021,173 28,345,624 24,243,429 15,374,448 10,894,500
Non-current liabilities ErREAaE 28,995,693 19,886,531 15,673,368 10,927,816 6,776,552
Total liabilities BEER 57,016,866 48,232,155 39,816,797 26,302,264 17,671,062
Equity attributable to owners BARERAER
of parent Ea 26,178,517 24,866,969 19,969,505 15,853,263 12,938,680
Non-controlling interests R 189,948 154,847 174,640 189,508 56,611
Total equity TS 26,368,465 25,021,816 20,144,145 16,042,761 12,995,291
Earnings per share attributable BEREAAEER
to ordinary equity holders BEEEEAZ
of the parent SREF
Basic X HK44.22 cents  HK48.73 cents  HK55.71 cents  HK45.62 cents  HK34.58 cents
&l il ol poxl] gl
Diluted s HK44.05 cents  HK45.27 cents  HK47.93 cents  HK45.60 cents  HK34.51 cents
&l bl gl gl gl
* Represents the net profit attributable to owners of the parent excluding fair ~ * RERTREVELNFERE - HEMNBARKER

value gains on investment properties, gain on disposal of subsidiaries and
their respective related tax effects, fair value gain on derivative financial

instrument and loss on redemption of senior notes.

ZEWRWAERBEE TTESRTARFERS
MERELEREZ BIENERRER AEIEFFE
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management

ESERTEEEERE

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Hing, aged 55, is our Co-Chairman and an Executive
Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has been a Director
since 2 August 2002. He is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall strategies and assessing the performance of the Group as well
as providing leadership for the Board. He has more than 33 years of
management experience in the manufacturing, wholesale and distribution
businesses. Mr. Cheng has been awarded the “Young Industrialist Awards
of Hong Kong 1997” from the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, the
Distinguished International Entrepreneur of the Year Award 1997 from
San Francisco State University and the Chinese Outstanding Entrepreneur
Award 2008 from the China Enterprise Confederation and the China
Enterprise Directors Association. Mr. Cheng is the vice chairman of the
China Chamber of International Commerce, a standing member of the
10th and the 11th Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and a member
of the 3rd, 4th and the 5th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Cheng is also presently
the foundation honorary chairman of Gem and Jewelry Committee of
China General Chamber of Commerce, a standing member of the China
Enterprise Confederation and the China Enterprise Director Association,
vice president of the China Federation of Logistics and Purchasing, vice
president of the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region Federation of
Industry and Commerce, vice president of the Guangxi Overseas Friendship
Association, vice president of the China Chamber of International
Commerce Shenzhen, chairman of the Shenzhen Logistics and Supply
Chain Management Association, vice chairman of the Federation of
Shenzhen Industries, honorary life president of the Hong Kong Gemstone
Manufacturers’ Association Limited, honorary chairman of Zhejiang Pearl
Trade Association and member of the Shenzhen Overseas Friendship
Association. Mr. Cheng is currently the chairman and non-executive
director of Man Sang Jewellery Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 1466). Mr. Cheng was the chairman
and non-executive director of Man Sang International Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
938) until his resignation effective from 16 October 2014. He was also the
director of China Metro-Rural Holdings Limited (formerly known as Man
Sang International (B.V.l.) Limited), a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange MKT (ticker symbol: CNR) until his resignation effective
from 5 December 2013. Mr. Cheng is a younger brother of Mr. Cheng Tai
Po, a Non-Executive Director.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Mr. LEUNG Moon Lam, aged 60, is an Executive Director. He is a co-
founder of our Group and has been a Director since 1 June 2002. Mr.
Leung has been the Chief Executive Officer of the Group since November
2009 until re-designation with effect from 1 January 2016. Currently,
Mr. Leung is primarily responsible for the Group’s overall development
direction, the Group’s sales and marketing strategies, banking, trade
center occupants and government’s relations. He has more than 33 years
of management experience in the garment manufacturing, wholesale
and distribution businesses. Mr. Leung received the Chinese Outstanding
Entrepreneur Award 2008 from the China Enterprise Confederation and
the China Enterprise Directors Association. Mr. Leung was a member of
the 2nd, 3rd and the 4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference and a member of the 10th Liaoning
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He
was also the chairman of the 7th Shenzhen Textile Industry Association
Committee. Mr. Leung was appointed as a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in
February 2013. Mr. Leung is also presently a member of the Consultative
Committee on Economic and Trade Co-operation between Hong Kong
and the Mainland, the vice chairman of the Jiangxi Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association, the honorary chairman of the Shenzhen Longgang
Charity Association, the honorary professor of Business of Hang Seng
School of Commerce and the president of the Federation of Hong Kong
Shenzhen Associations. Mr. Leung is also the chairman of Wetter (China)
Limited and Kings Faith International Limited.

Mr. FUNG Sing Hong Stephen, aged 51, is an Executive Director and
the Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Fung joined our Group in July 2006 as
the Group’s Chief Financial Officer and has been an Executive Director
since August 2014 and was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the
Group on 1 January 2016, and ceased to act as Group's Chief Financial
Officer with effect from 19 May 2016. Currently, Mr. Fung is primarily
responsible for the overall management and operation of the Group,
and be responsible for formulating capital market financing, merger and
acquisition, and business spin-off strategies, and extending the strategic
co-operations with Tencent. Mr. Fung graduated from the University of
Wales, United Kingdom with a master degree in business administration.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, a member of the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Global Management Accountants, and is
also the vice president of Hong Kong Business Accountants Association
and a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. Mr. Fung
has more than 23 years of experience in financial management, mergers
and acquisitions, capital markets financing and corporate restructuring.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Fung was an executive director and the
chief financial officer of Guangdong Investment Limited (“GDI"). Before
joining GDI, Mr. Fung served as an executive director and the chief
financial officer of Guangdong Land Holdings Limited (formerly known
as Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited) (“GDL"). Both GDI and GDL are
companies listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(stock codes: 270 and 124, respectively). Mr. Fung was also a key member
of the Guangdong Enterprises (Holdings) Limited (“GDE") restructuring
team and has been extensively involved in the US$5.3 billion debt
restructuring of GDE.

RMMEE 6058 ITES - BARSEHEIH
AZ— B200256 1R EZXAEE - Bh4H
2009F 1M A HHEAREBEITHRABHKEE2016F1A1H
FERL - RAEXBATZEHEASEERERA
M| ANEEMEERTIHHERRE - £17 MEEF
MBFEER - R REEE RIS HES T EES
M33FEELS  c REAETFRCEBRESS RFED
ERXHYBEE2008FHFREFLERE - RAEY A
FRARBAHESREREFIME/E £=&
FENEZESZENEEELEETELZESERE - #
NE AR MHBTEREFEFLtEZESE R - %
ER2013F2AEZ X ATFBRARB A E SRS
ZESZE  UWRABRTHNMEEAGIELRNANZES
KE - ITREINEERIESRE  RYIMEEREES
grEek EHHAEBARSEERKEB/EHURLES
FdEgereR RRENAEEEE(FR)E
RARIRREREAERARNESRR -
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ER2006F7 A INAREE AEE SR FEE - I
F2014F8 A HEHNITES « 5201651 A1 HRBHTE
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THHEE o  BAE B EEAEAERNEEEERE
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BEFREE  ERHESHAATEEMEREHERE
SEMAEEE  MNADBHASTMBE g
ENEAEESEERTE - BLAERYBKERE - A
FERUREE - EAMSMERCESH T EESBIE23
FERE o INARNEEZ AT BEAARSREGRR
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Non-Executive Directors

Dr. MA Kai Cheung, s8s, 88S, aged 74, is our Co-Chairman and
a Non-Executive Director. He is a co-founder of our Group and has
been a Director since 2 August 2002. He is primarily responsible for
advising on the formulation of the Group’s general business models and
development strategies and the resolution of major issues. Dr. Ma has
more than 44 years of management experience in garment distribution
and manufacturing businesses. Dr. Ma was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia
Star (BBS) and a Silver Bauhinia Star (SBS) by the Government of Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003 and 2009 respectively. He
was also a member of the 9th, 10th and the 11th National Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Dr. Ma is
currently the permanent honorary president of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association, the permanent honorary president of
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce Limited, the chairman
of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organizations, the
permanent honorary president of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow
Public Association and the permanent honorary chairman of Federation
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations. Dr. Ma received
an honorary doctoral degree in philosophy from the Morrison University
in the United States in 2004. He received a fellowship from the Asian
Knowledge Management Association in 2008. Dr. Ma is also the Honorary
chairman of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Stock code:
126).

Mr. SUN Kai Lit Cliff, B8s, JP, aged 62, is a Non-Executive Director. He is a
co-founder of our Group and has been a Director since 2 August 2002. He is
primarily responsible for advising on the formulation of the Group’s general
business models, development strategies and the resolution of major issues.
Mr. Sun is an associate of the Institute of Industrial Engineers of Ohio and
has over 36 years of management experience in the business of wholesale
distribution and manufacturing of kitchenware and other metal and
plastic products. He was appointed as Justice of the Peace (JP) and was
awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the Government of Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region in 2003 and 2006 respectively. At present,
Mr. Sun is a member of the 11th Zhejiang Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He is also the honorary chairman of
the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, the honorary chairman of The
Hong Kong Exporters’ Association, the honorary chairman of the Hong
Kong Q Mark Council, the honorary president of the Hong Kong Plastics
Manufacturers Association Limited, the president of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association and the president of the CPPCC
(Shenzhen) Hong Kong and Macao Members Association Limited. Mr. Sun is
currently the chairman of Kinox Enterprises Limited and Kin Hip Metal and
Plastic Factory Limited, and is an independent non-executive director of
Ka Shui International Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 822). He was an independent
non-executive director of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 3828) until his retirement effective from 29 March 2016.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Dr. MA Wai Mo, aged 71, is a Non-Executive Director. He is a co-
founder of our Group and has been a Director of the Company since 2
August 2002. He is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation
of the Group’s general business models, development strategies and the
resolution of major issues. He has more than 37 years of management
experience in the printing and packaging, manufacturing, wholesale
and distribution businesses. Dr. Ma was a member of the 3rd and the
4th Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the chairman of the 13th, 14th, 16th and the 17th Hong
Kong Corrugated Paper Manufacturers’ Association. Currently, Dr. Ma
is a member of the Committee of Foreign and Overseas Chinese Affairs,
the Standing Committee of Shenzhen Municipal People’s Congress,
the honorary chairman of the 2nd and the 3rd Chaoyang District
Shantou City Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, the vice chairman of the 7th general committee of the
China Packaging Federation, the honorary chairman of the 7th and the
8th Shenzhen Packaging Association, the vice president of the 7th and
the 8th Guangdong Printing Association, the executive vice president of
the Guangdong Overseas Chinese Enterprises Association, the honorary
founding president and the executive vice president of Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association, and the permanent honorary chairman
of the Shenzhen Graphic Society. Dr. Ma is also the chairman of Luk
Ka International Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Luk Ka Overseas
Investments Limited. Dr. Ma was awarded the World’s Outstanding
Chinese in 2005 and received an honorary doctor of science degree from
Armstrong University in the same year. Dr. Ma was awarded the Bisheng
Printing Outstanding Achievement Award by the Printing Technology
Association of China in 2013 and the Global Outstanding Chinese Award
by the Global Outstanding Chinese Association in 2014.

Mr. CHENG Tai Po, aged 64, is a Non-Executive Director. He has been a
Director since 30 April 2010 and is primarily responsible for advising on
the formulation of the Group’s general business models, development
strategies and the resolution of major issues. Mr. Cheng has over 33 years
of experience in manufacturing, wholesale and distribution businesses. He
is a board member of the Zhanjiang Ocean University, China, a general
committee member of the Hong Kong Jewelry Manufacturers’ Association,
the chairman of Hong Kong Overseas Puning Sheshan Clansmen Association
and the permanent honorary president of Hong Kong Association of Jie
Yang Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese Limited. Mr. Cheng has
been the executive director and deputy chairman of Man Sang International
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 938), since August 1997 and has been re-designated
as chairman and non-executive director since 16 October 2014 until his
retirement effective from 31 March 2016, and the director and vice-
chairman of China Metro-Rural Holdings Limited (formerly known as Man
Sang International (B.V.l) Limited), a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange MKT (ticker symbol: CNR) until his retirement effective from 5
September 2014. Mr. Cheng is an elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing,
the Co-Chairman and Executive Director of the Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Mr. LIN Ching Hua, aged 43, has been a Non-Executive Director since
28 June 2014. He is primarily responsible for advising on the formulation
of the Group’s general business models, development strategies and the
resolution of major issues. Mr. Lin joined Tencent Group (“Tencent Group”
includes Tencent Holdings Limited, shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code no. 700, and
its subsidiaries) in April 2013. He is currently the vice president of Tencent
Group and is the general manager of Strategy Development Department
and Social and Performance Advertisement Department. Mr. Lin is mainly
responsible to establish the strategic platform of Tencent, to formulate
the business development strategies of the Tencent Group, and to lead
the research and development of various business models in the Tencent
Group and the business cooperation with external strategic partners who
the Tencent Group has equity investments. Mr. Lin has taken a crucial and
leading role in promoting Tencent's strategic initiatives, including Weixin
commercialization, important strategic investments and cooperations, and
the business planning and development in internet finance, and resources
integration and product innovation on social advertisement. Before
joining Tencent, Mr. Lin was a partner at Mckinsey & Company, Inc. and
general manager of its branch in Taiwan. Mr. Lin mainly served clients and
performed research in technology sector, including hi-tech manufacturing,
internet service, telecommunication and media during his 12 years with
McKinsey. His various research received wide coverage in a number of
Business and Financial media in China. Before joining McKinsey, Mr. Lin
worked at Deloitte Consulting Inc., Taiwan Office, as a consultant. He
received his MBA degree from Harvard Business School in 2001.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Kwan Yuen Andrew, GBS, SBS, JP, aged 65, has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director since 4 September 2009. He has more
than 36 years of management experience in the textile manufacturing,
wholesale and distribution businesses. Mr. Leung is currently a member
of the Industrial (First) Functional Constituency of the Legislative Council
of Hong Kong and is also a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Leung is currently
the honorary chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong, the honorary
president of the Federation of Hong Kong Industries, a fellow member
of the Textiles Institute as well as the Clothing and Footwear Institute in
the United Kingdom. He was a council member of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council. In addition, Mr. Leung is the chairman of Sun Hing
Knitting Factory Limited and is also an independent non-executive director
of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited (stock code: 2356) and Harbour
Center Development Limited (stock code: 51), both are companies
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Leung
was an independent non-executive director of Meadville Holdings (BVI)
Limited (formerly known as “Meadville Holdings Limited”), a company
withdrawing the listing of its shares from the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
effective 19 April 2010 (stock code: 3313), until his resignation effective
from 1 June 2010.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Mr. LI Wai Keung, aged 59, has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director since 4 September 2009. Mr. Li has more than 38 years of
experience in financial management. Mr. Li graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic and holds a master degree in Business Administration
from the University of East Asia, Macau, currently known as the University
of Macau. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and the executive vice president of Hong Kong Business Accountants
Association. Mr. Li is the executive director and chief financial officer of
GDH Limited, executive director of Guangdong Land Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Kingway Brewery Holdings Limited) (“GDL"), non-
executive director of Guangdong Investment Limited (“GDI”) and an
independent non-executive director of Shenzhen Investment Limited (“SZ
Investment”) and Hans Energy Company Limited (“Hans"). GDL, GDI, SZ
Investment and Hans are companies listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock codes: 124, 270, 604 and 554 respectively).
He is a director of Shenzhen City Airport (Group) Company Limited, the
chairman of the Council of the Hong Kong Chinese Orchestra Limited, a
member of China Overseas Friendship Association and the vice chairman
and secretary of the Financial and Accounting Affairs Steering Committee
of the Hong Kong Chinese Enterprises Association. He was appointed
as Advisor of Management Accounting of the Ministry of Finance, PRC
since 21 July 2014. Mr. Li had worked for Henderson Land Development
Company Limited (stock code: 12) and was an independent non-executive
director of Sun Century Group Limited (formerly known as Hong Long
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1383) until 27 May 2011.

Mr. HUI Chiu Chung, JP, aged 69, has been an Independent Non-
Executive Director since 11 April 2011. Mr. Hui has over 45 years of
experience in the securities and investment industry. He has served as a
council member and vice chairman of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
a member of the Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission, a director of the Hong Kong Securities Clearing
Company Limited, a member of the Listing Committee of the Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited, an appointed member of the
Securities and Futures Appeal Tribunal, a member of the Standing
Committee on Company Law Reform and an appointed member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants Investigation Panel
A for a number of years. He was also a member of the Committee on
Real Estate Investment Trusts of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Commission and a member of Government “Appointees” (independent
member) of Appeal Panel of the Travel Industry Council of Hong Kong.
Mr. Hui was appointed by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region a Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2004 and was also
appointed as a member of the Zhuhai Municipal Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in 2006. He is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and a senior fellow
member of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Hui also
serves as a non-executive director of Luk Fook Holdings (International)
Limited (stock code: 590) and an independent non-executive director of
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Zhuhai Holdings Investment Group Limited (formerly known as Jiuzhou
Development Company Limited) (stock code: 908), Lifestyle International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1212), Gemdale Properties and Investment
Corporation Limited (formerly known as Frasers Property (China) Limited)
(stock code: 535), SINOPEC Engineering (Group) Co., Limited (stock
code: 2386), Agile Property Holdings Limited (stock code: 3383) and FSE
Engineering Holdings Limited (stock code: 331), whose shares are listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He was an independent non-executive
director of Chun Wo Development Holdings Limited (now known as
China City Construction Group Holdings Limited) (stock code: 711) and
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (stock code: 388) until his
resignation effective from 1 February 2015 and his retirement effective
from 29 April 2015 respectively.

Mr. YUNG Wing Ki Samuel, s8s, MH, Jp, aged 57, has been an
Independent Non-Executive Director since 1 March 2013. Mr. Yung has
over 34 years of experience in insurance sector. He was awarded an
EMBA from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and has
attained certain professional qualifications, including Certified Financial
Planner, Registered Financial Consultant, fellow Chartered Financial
Practitioner, Certified Manager of Financial Advisor and Chartered
Insurance Agency Manager. Mr. Yung is currently an executive district
director of AIA International Limited and an independent non-executive
director of China Overseas Insurance Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of China Overseas Holdings Group, and is also an independent non-
executive director of China Overseas Property Holdings Limited (stock
code: 2669) and Fittec International Group Limited (stock code: 2662),
both are listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He
was an independent non-executive director of Group Sense (International)
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 601) until his retirement as
independent non-executive director effective from 11 September 2013.
Mr. Yung is also presently a member of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the founding president
of Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives Association and the
chairman or committee member of several Government committees and
non-governmental organizations.

Mr. Yung was elected the “Ten Outstanding Young Persons Award” in
1994. He was also a Municipal Commission Standing member of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Jilin, Standing
Committee member of All-China Youth Federation, member of
Commission on Strategic Development of the HKSAR, member of Central
Policy Unit, chairman of Hong Kong United Youth Association, chairman
of The Outstanding Young Persons’ Association, director & chairman
of International Committee of General Agents & Managers Association
International, co-chairman of the Asia Pacific Financial Services Association
and president of The Life Underwriters Association of Hong Kong,
president of General Agents and Managers Association of Hong Kong and
chairman of Betting and Lotteries Commission.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Key Management

Mr. TSOI Yiu Ting, aged 43, was appointed as the Group’s Chief
Financial Officer on 19 May 2016. He is primarily responsible for the
overall financial management of the Group, establishing and maintaining
investor relations and executing the Group’s capital market financing,
mergers and acquisitions and business cooperation. Mr. Tsoi has more
than 17 years of experience in corporate finance and investment banking,
specializing in initial public offerings, mergers and acquisitions as well as
equity and debt financing for companies in the real estate, manufacturing
and technologies sectors in Hong Kong and China. Before joining the
Group, Mr. Tsoi was the head of Hong Kong Corporate Finance of JP
Morgan. Other positions he had held before that include director of
Corporate Finance of ABN AMRO and vice president of Corporate Finance
of Cazenove Asia. He also worked at the Listing Division of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. Tsoi holds a bachelor of business administration
degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a master of
business administration degree from London Business School. He is a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Ms. TSE Man Yu, aged 45, is the Company Secretary and the Group’s
Deputy Chief Financial Officer. Ms. Tse joined our Group in February
2008. She assists the Chief Financial Officer in offshore financing, merger
and acquisition and business cooperation of the Group, and is responsible
for company secretarial duties and investor relations. Ms. Tse is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Tse graduated from
the City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor of science (honours)
degree in finance. She is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Ms. Tse has more than 20 years of experience in financial
management, mergers and acquisitions, corporate finance and asset
management. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Tse was the assistant chief
financial officer of GDI which is a company listed on the Main Board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 270). Ms. Tse was an
alternate director of Guangdong Development Fund Limited (“GDF"),
which was a company listed on the London Stock Exchange (code: gdf),
and a director of Guangdong Investment Management Limited, which
was the fund manager of GDF. Ms. Tse had also been a senior corporate
finance executive of Tung Fong Hung (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 279)
and Sing Pao Media Group Limited (stock code: 164), both companies
were listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Ms. JIANG Ling, aged 43, is the Group’s Vice President. Ms. Jiang
joined our Group in November 2003, and is responsible for the Group’s
strategic development, including policy research, project planning, land
resources planning and management and public relations. Ms. Jiang
graduated from the Department of Journalism, Huazhong University of
Science and Technology in 1994. She later completed Advanced Business
Management Course at HSBC Business School, Peking University in 2009
and the postgraduate course in fashion buying at Hong Kong Institute of
Fashion Buying in 2011. She has also attained the qualification of senior
planner from the Ministry of Labor and Social Security of the People’s
Republic of China (which has been renamed as the Ministry of Human
Resources and Social Security of the People’s Republic of China). Ms. Jiang
has over 16 years of management experience in the property industry and
3 years of experience in the media industry. She was the manager of the
development department of Shanghai Chenghuang Temple Fuyoumen
Small-Commodities Market Corporation Limited, the director of Shenzhen
Column Editorial Department, Hong Kong Ta Kung Pao and the general
manager of Shenzhen Tongyuan Nanling Cultural and Creative Park
Corporation Limited.

Mr. LI Sen, aged 43, is the Group's Vice President. Mr. Li joined our
Group in August 2010, and is responsible for the Group’s operations
management, human resources and property management. He
graduated from Wuhan University of Technology with a degree in
engineering and motors in School of Automotive Engineering, and
received an MBA degree from Bangor University. He later completed
courses of business administration, CEO training and study of enterprise
strategic management at the Graduate School at Shenzhen, Tsinghua
University. Mr. Li is expertized in group control, operations management,
consultation and training. Mr. Li was the human resources director of
Shenzhen Galaxy Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Key Management (Continued)

EERTECTEREBE(E)

Ms. LIU Qiang, aged 46, is the Group's Vice President. Ms. Liu joined our
Group in December 2007, and is responsible for the Group’s construction
project management, including cost management, tender management
and construction management. Ms. Liu graduated from Wuhan University
of Technology in 1992 with a bachelor degree in science and holds
a qualification of senior engineer. Ms. Liu later passed accounting
professional examination held by Ministry of Personnel of the People’s
Republic of China and became a qualified certified public accountant in
1998. She hence attained the qualification of cost engineer from Ministry
of Personnel and Ministry of Construction of the People’s Republic of
China, certified public valuer from Ministry of Personnel and Ministry
of Finance of the People’s Republic of China and registered consulting
engineer from Ministry of Personnel and National Development and
Reform Commission of the People’s Republic of China in 2000, 2001 and
2004 respectively. Ms. Liu has over 13 years of management experience
in the construction industry. She had worked for Shenzhen Chengxinhang
Engineering Consultation Company Limited.

Mr. ZHANG Xue Fang, aged 52, is the Group's Vice President. Mr. Zhang
joined our Group in May 2007, and is responsible for the overall operation
and daily management of CSC Nanchang and CSC Harbin. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Jinggangshan University in 1981, majoring in Chinese
and also completed a postgraduate program at the School of International
Politics in Shandong University in 1999. He is currently the member
of Jiangxi Writers Association and the chairman of Jiangxi Electronic
Commerce Association, the vice president of Jiangxi Management Society
and the vice chairman of Jiangxi Enterprise Federation of Literature.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang held senior managerial positions
with a large-scale national defense industrial corporation in Jiangxi, was
a chancellor of Jiangxi National Defense Industrial Staff University, an
adjunct professor of Jiangxi Normal University and a general manager
of Yuan Wang Group. He was also engaged in property development
education, and was an executive council member of China Market
Economics Society.
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Report of the Directors

EEEWE

The Board hereby presents this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2016.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group is developing and operating large-
scale integrated logistics and trade centers in China, providing a
comprehensive trading platform of raw materials and finished products
for domestic and international wholesale suppliers, traders, manufacturers
and distributors. With its unique business model, the Group not only sells
and leases well-designed, high quality trade center units for businesses to
display and sell their products, but also provides trade center occupants
and their customers with a full range of facilities and services such as
E-commerce services, outlet operations, logistics and warehousing
services, property management, offices, residential facilities, convention
and exhibition facilities, hotels, restaurants, banking services, on-site
government services in a bid to offer one-stop convenient supply chain
solutions. The successful business model was first pioneered by CSC
Shenzhen and has been replicated to the provincial capital and metropoli
cities across China such as Nanchang, Nanning, Xi‘an, Harbin, Zhengzhou,
Hefei and Chongging, forming a strategic network covering key domestic
logistics nodes. At the same time, through the cooperation with Tencent,
the Group is actively building an 020 business eco-system to facilitate the
industrial upgrade of the occupants. Details of the principal activities of
the principal subsidiaries, joint venture and associates are set out under
Management Discussion and Analysis as well as in notes 1 and 18 to 19
to the financial statements of this annual report respectively.

Results and Dividends

The Group’s results for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2016 and the
state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date are set out
under Management Discussion and Analysis as well as in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 129 to 244 of this annual report
respectively.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK5.0 cents
per share in respect of FY2015/16 (FY2014/15: HK14.0 cents). Subject to
the approval of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
at the forthcoming AGM to be held on 22 August 2016, the proposed
final dividend will be distributed on or about 12 September 2016 to
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 29 August 2016.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 26 August
2016 to 29 August 2016, both days inclusive. In order to be qualified for
the proposed final dividend, all properly completed transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Center, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on 25 August 2016.
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Business Overview

The business overview of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement, the Management Discussion
and Analysis and the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of this
annual report.

Successful Quotation of HOBA Furnishing on the
New Third Board

Shenzhen HOBA Home Furnishing Chain Store Co., Ltd. (“"HOBA
Furnishing”), an indirect 75% owned subsidiary of the Company, has
obtained approval for the application for the quotation of its shares on
the National Equities Exchange and Quotation System (also known as “New
Third Board”) in the PRC and the quotation of shares of HOBA Furnishing
on the New Third Board commenced on 16 November 2015.

The success of quotation of HOBA Furnishing will help to unlock the value
of HOBA Furnishing and its subsidiaries (“HOBA Group”) and provide a
fund-raising platform for HOBA Group'’s operation and future expansion,
improve brand recognition of HOBA Furnishing which in turn will improve
the business and performance of the HOBA Group.

Share Capital
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Year are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in the section headed “Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity” and in note 49 to the financial
statements, respectively.

Distributable Reserves

Details of the Company’s reserves available for distribution as at 31 March
2016, calculated in accordance with Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), amounted to
approximately HK$888.2 million (31 March 2015: HK$2,213.9 million), of
which HK$400.0 million (31 March 2015: HK$1,120.1 million), subject to
the adjustment with the number of shares which may be allotted after the
date of this report but before the date of book close, has been proposed
as final dividend for the Year, are set out in note 49 to the financial
statements.
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Senior Notes
The information of the outstanding senior notes issued by the Company
during the reporting period is as below:

In October 2012, the Company issued senior notes due in October 2017
with a nominal value of US$125 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$975 million) at a coupon rate of 13.5% per annum (“2012 Notes")
for the purpose of funding its properties under development and
properties planned for future development, and refinancing a portion of
its existing debt and for general corporate purposes. Subsequent to the
reporting period, the 2012 Notes has been redeemed in full on 15 April
2016 and was cancelled and delisted from the official list of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited accordingly.

In January 2014, the Company issued senior notes due in January 2019
with a nominal value of US$400 million (equivalent approximately
HK$3,120 million) at a coupon rate of 8.25% per annum (“2014 Notes")
for the purpose of redeeming all of the outstanding senior notes due in
January 2016, with which the coupon rate was 13.5% per annum, and for
general corporate purposes. In April 2016, the Company has completed
the consent solicitation and obtained requisite consents from holders of
the 2014 Notes in relation to certain proposed amendments to the terms
of the indenture governing 2014 Notes (the “Consent Solicitation”). The
principal purpose of the Consent Solicitation is to enable the Company
to become more adaptive to the fast-changing competition landscape,
increase the flexibility of the Company to implement business plans in the
future and bring the terms of the 2014 Notes more in line with the terms
of senior notes issued by comparable issuers in the market. Details of the
Consent Solicitation are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 16 March 2016 and 1 April 2016.

Further details of the Senior Notes are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

Donations

During the Year, in order to care about the society where the Group
operates its business, the Group made charitable donations totaling
approximately HK$2.4 million (FY2014/15: HK$9.3 million) to various
charitable organizations.

Subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016 are
set out in note 1 to the financial statements.
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Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Leung Moon Lam®

Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen (Chief Executive Officer)?

Non-Executive Directors
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung (Co-Chairman)
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff

Dr. Ma Wai Mo

Mr. Cheng Tai Po

Mr. Lin Ching Hua

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew

Mr. Li Wai Keung

Mr. Hui Chiu Chung

Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel

Notes:

(1

Mr. Leung Moon Lam has ceased to act as Chief Executive Officer of the
Group with effect from 1 January 2016 but remains as Executive Director of
the Company.

Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen, an Executive Director and Chief Financial
Officer of the Group, was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of the Group
with effect from 1 January 2016, and ceased to act as Chief Financial Officer
of the Group with effect from 19 May 2016.

In accordance with the Company’s Memorandum of Association and New
Articles of Association (the “Articles”), Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, Dr. Ma
Kai Cheung, Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel shall
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. All of them being
eligible will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Board considers all independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.
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The list of names of all directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this
report is available on the Company’s website.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years. The service contract and the letter of
appointment may be terminated by either party thereto by giving not less
than one month’s prior written notice.

None of the Directors has entered into any service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

None of the Directors had a material beneficial interest, whether directly
or indirectly, in any significant contract to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding
companies was a party during the Year or as at 31 March 2016.

Biographical Information of Directors and Key
Management

The biographical information of the Directors and Key Management of
the Company is set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Key Management” on pages 68 to 77 of this annual report.

Enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition
Pursuant to the deed of non-competition dated 4 September 2009 (“Non-
Competition Undertaking”) entered into by each of Mr. Cheng Chung
Hing, Mr. Leung Moon Lam and Mr. Cheng Tai Po, each of them has
undertaken with the Company (for itself and on behalf of each other
member of the Group) that so long as the Company is listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and so long as any of:

(i) in respect of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, he remains as the controlling
shareholder or a director of the Company;

(i) in respect of Mr. Leung Moon Lam, he remains as a director of the
Company;

(iii)

in respect of Mr. Cheng Tai Po, he remains as the controlling
shareholder of the Company,
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that he shall not, and shall procure his associates not to, either alone
or jointly with any other person or entity, or for any other person, firm
or company, or as principal, partner, director, employee, consultant or
agent through any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement, be engaged, invested, or otherwise involved,
whether as a shareholder, director, employee, partner, agent or otherwise,
directly or indirectly, in the carrying on of any business in any form or
manner in China that is in competition or is likely to be in competition,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, unless those business
opportunities have been first offered to the Group upon terms which are
fair and reasonable and the Board has declined such opportunities, in
accordance with the provisions of the Non-Competition Undertaking, Mr.
Cheng Chung Hing, Mr. Leung Moon Lam and Mr. Cheng Tai Po or any
of them or their respective associates may pursue such opportunities.

Mr. Cheng Tai Po has ceased to be a controlling shareholder of the
Company since 22 December 2015 and ceased to be binded by the
provisions of the Non-Competition Undertaking accordingly. The
Company has received an annual confirmation from Mr. Cheng Chung
Hing, Mr. Cheng Tai Po and Mr. Leung Moon Lam confirming their
compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking for the relevant period
of the Year. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed their
compliance with the Non-Competition Undertaking during the Year.

Directors’ Emoluments
Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments for the fiscal year ended 31
March 2016 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

Save as disclosed above, the Company has received confirmations from
all Directors that none of them have engaged or were interested in any
business which were in competition or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during the Year.
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Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests in
Securities

As at 31 March 2016, the interests and short positions of the Directors
in the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")) as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the

Company

EERFETHRAEREZES

201653 A31H » ESRA R A K HE AT ER AR
(EERFBHREEKRN([FEHRBAEGED ) EXVED)
KRR RRIRG (MR ]) - BERGD REEEPEESH
ABRRNEMRIBEEF RS GO EI2EETFENE
sofft - SRR EMBITAESETESFR HIZEST
BI(TMZESPAI D) BERE AR B REBB R FTHEZR &
KRBT

RERBRGRIEER G IR

Number of Shares held
igzz ol
Approximate
percentage of
the Company's
total
Corporate Personal Family Share number of
Name of Directors Class of Shares interest interest interest options Total issued Shares®
AR
BE7T
R SBL
E=pR RHER ARER AR RikER R EH BAL®
Cheng Chung Hing Ordinary Shares 1,778,196,831" 79,000,000 - - 1,857,196,831 23.21%
N LEk
Cheng Tai Po Ordinary Shares 588,984, 1457 4,936,000 - - 593,920,145 7.42%
BRR LEk
Leung Moon Lam Ordinary Shares/Share Options ~ 463,899,770° - 2,000,000 69,300,000¥ 535,199,770 6.69%
2R Tk wikE
Ma Kai Cheung Ordinary Shares 138,966,649° - - - 138,966,649 1.73%
ENE LEk
Ma Wai Mo Ordinary Shares 126,197,662° - - - 126,197,662 1.57%
BER LEk
Sun Kai Lit Cliff Ordinary Shares 125,241,662" - - - 125,241,662 1.56%
el LEk
Fung Sing Hong Stephen Ordinary Shares/Share Options - 9,200,000 - 155,990,000¥ 165,190,000 2.06%
BEM TLiafk R
Li Wai Keung Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
EXE RRE
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
REE RRE
Hiu Chiu Chung Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
FTRE RRE
Yung Wing Ki Samuel Share Options - - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.02%
B RRE
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Notes:

m
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(©)

(5)

(6)

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is interested in 100% of the issued share
capital of Accurate Gain Developments Limited which in turn holds
1,778,196,831 Shares and is therefore deemed to be interested in the
aforesaid 1,778,196,831 Shares. Mr. Cheng is a director of Accurate Gain
Developments Limited. Mr. Cheng Chung Hing is the younger brother of Mr.
Cheng Tai Po.

Mr. Cheng Tai Po is interested in 100% in the issued share capital of
Proficient Success Limited which in turn holds 588,984,145 Shares and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the aforesaid 588,984,145 Shares. Mr.
Cheng is a director of Proficient Success Limited. Mr. Cheng Tai Po is the elder
brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.

Mr. Leung Moon Lam owns 100% of the issued share capital of Kings Faith
International Limited which in turn holds 463,899,770 Shares and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the aforesaid 463,899,770 Shares. Mr. Leung
Moon Lam is a director of Kings Faith International Limited.

The relevant interests are share options granted to Mr. Leung Moon Lam,
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen, Mr. Li Wai Keung, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen
Andrew, Mr. Hui Chiu Chung and Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel pursuant to
the Company'’s share option scheme adopted on 4 September 2009. Further
details of the share option scheme are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in this report.

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, as beneficial owner and beneficiary of trust and through
the interest of his spouse, being interested in 41.45% of the issued share
capital of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited which through a
number of intermediaries, wholly owns Carrianna Development Limited,
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung is therefore deemed to be interested and duplicated
interested in an aggregate of 138,966,649 Shares held by Carrianna
Development Limited via its holding company. Dr. Ma is a director of each of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited, Carrianna Development Limited,
Sincere United Holdings Limited, Carrianna Holdings Limited, Gartrend
Development Limited and Carrianna (BVI) Limited.

By virtue of Dr. Ma Wai Mo’s 50% shareholding interests in Luk Ka
Overseas Investments Limited which is interested in 100% interests in Luk
Ka International Limited, Dr. Ma is deemed to be interested and duplicated
interested in the same 126,197,662 Shares held by Luk Ka International
Limited.

Bt

@

3)

(5)
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fetn - BUEBR ¥R ST AR /a5 A £ 1lt588,984, 145 0% %
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(7)  Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff owns the entire interests in Kinox Holdings Limited and is
therefore deemed to be interested in the 125,241,662 Shares held by Kinox
Holdings Limited.

(8)  The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 7,999,321,999
Shares issued as at 31 March 2016.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, to the knowledge of
the Directors, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i)
notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which the Directors and chief executive were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

As at 31 March 2016, to the knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) had or
were deemed or taken to have interests or short position in the Shares or
underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T
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Long Position in the Shares R HRIIFE
Approximate
percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Shares or total number
underlying of issued
Name Nature of interest Shares held Shares®
FRER 5 HAEARE
HIEE BITRDEE
HEERB EmME R EE WAE A
Accurate Gain Developments Limited Beneficial owner 1,778,196,8317" 22.22%
EmEAA
Mr. Chen Hong Tian Deemed interest in controlled corporation ~ 1,002,524,000? 12.53%
BRALAR ST WARVER A B R
Mrs. Chen Li Ni Yao Deemed interest in controlled corporation  1,002,524,000% 12.53%
FR#kEEYE 2+ WARIER TS =B
Chen Family Assets Management Company Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation ~ 1,002,524,000% 12.53%
WARVER P A E
Chen'’s International Investment Limited Beneficial owner 1,002,524,000? 12.53%
EmEB A
Naspers Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 925,100,000% 11.56%
WARIER TS =B
MIH TC Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 925,100,000 11.56%
WARVER P A E
Tencent Holdings Limited Deemed interest in controlled corporation 925,100,000% 11.56%
aIERER AR WARVER A B R
THL H Limited Beneficial owner 925,100,000% 11.56%
EmEB A
Proficient Success Limited Beneficial owner 588,984,145% 7.36%
EmfEAA
Kings Faith International Limited Beneficial owner 463,899,770 5.79%
REFRER AR EmEE A
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Notes:

(1) Mr. Cheng Chung Hing owns 100% of the issued share capital of Accurate
Gain Developments Limited.

(2)  Chen’s International Investment Limited is wholly owned by Chen Family
Assets Management Company Limited. Mr. Chen Hong Tian and Mrs. Chen
Li Ni Yao each owns 50% of the issued share capital of Chen Family Assets
Management Company Limited.

(3)  Pursuant to the Investment and Cooperation Agreement entered into
between the Company and THL H Limited (“THL") on 15 January 2014,
680,300,000 Shares were issued and allotted by the Company to THL on 23
January 2014, and 244,800,000 Shares were issued by the Company to THL
on 29 September 2014 with respect to the exercise of the options by THL. THL
is wholly owned by Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent”). Tencent is owned
as to 33.50% by MIH TC Holdings Limited which is indirectly controlled by
Naspers Limited.

(4)  Mr. Cheng Tai Po owns 100% of the issued share capital of Proficient Success
Limited.

(5)  These 463,899,770 Shares are held by Kings Faith International Limited which
in turn is 100% owned by Mr. Leung Moon Lam.

(6) The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 7,999,321,999
Shares issued as at 31 March 2016.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2016, to the knowledge of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, no other person (other than
a Director or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed or
taken to have interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares
which were required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Information on Share Options

Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September 2009
(the “Share Option Scheme"”). The major terms of the Share Option
Scheme are summarized as follows:

1. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives to
eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and to enable
the Group to recruit high-calibre employees and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.

2. The Board may at its discretion grant options to Directors,

employees, officers, agents, consultants or representatives of the
Group.
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The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from
time to time. The total number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% in nominal amount of the issued Shares as at the date
of commencement of the listing of Shares on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange unless with the prior approval from the Shareholders.
The Share Option Scheme limit was refreshed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2013, and hence the
maximum number of the Shares available for issue upon exercise
of all share options which may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is 395,932,400 Shares, representing approximately 4.95%
of the total number of issued Shares of the Company as at 31 March
2016.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) to
each grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess of this
limit is subject to approval of the Shareholders.

The period during which a share option may be exercised will be
determined by the Directors at their absolute discretion, save that no
share option may be exercised more than 10 years after grant.

The consideration paid by each grantee for each grant of options is
HK$1.

The exercise price in relation to each share option will be determined
by the Directors at their absolute discretion and shall not be less than
the highest of: (i) the official closing price of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheet of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on the
date of grant; (ii) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares on the date of grant.

The Share Option Scheme will expire on 29 September 2019 after
which no further options will be granted under the Share Option
Scheme. In respect of the options granted and accepted prior to
such expiration and not then exercised, they shall continue to be
valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance with the Share
Option Scheme.
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The table below summarized the details of the movements in the share

R EARERB BT 81X L BN E B 5

90

options granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme during the Year: AR TERZA
Number of Share Options
BREYA
As at Cancelled/ As at Exercise
Name Date of Grant 1 April 2015 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31 March 2016 Price Exercisable Period
R 2015 & #2016 &
8 RiEAH 4B1H BRI BT ESaf/ &% 3A31H %8 yid ]
HKS
BT
Directors
Bz
Leung Moon Lam 300612014 34,650,000 - - - 34,650,000 4.07 30/6/2014-29/6/2019
itk 34,650,000 - - - 34,650,000 4.07 30/6/2015-29/6/2019
Fung Sing Hong Stephen 271612013 8,000,000 - - - 8,000,000 1.69 2716/2014-26/6/2018
BEM 171212014 19,000,000 - - - 19,000,000 414 17/2/2014-16/2/2019
19,000,000 - - - 19,000,000 414 17/2/2015-16/2/2019
30/6/2014 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 4.07 30/6/2014-29/6/2019
15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 4.07 30/6/2015-29/6/2019
13172016 - 39,995,000 - - 39,995,000 1.528 13/1/2016-12/1/2021
- 39,995,000 - B 39,995,000 1.528 13/172017-12/1/2022
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew  17/2/2014 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 414 17/2/2014-16/2/2019
Z2EE 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 414 17/2/2015-16/2/2019
Li Wai Keung 171212014 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 414 17/2/2014-16/2/2019
Flal 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 4.14 17/212015-16/2/2019
Hui Chiu Chung 171212014 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 4.14 17/2/2014-16/2/2019
FRRH 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 4.14 17/2/2015-16/2/2019
Yung Wing Ki Samuel 171212014 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 414 17/2/2015-16/2/2019
Ak 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 414 17/2/2016-16/2/2019
Employees 11/4/2011 7,000,000 - - - 7,000,000 1.29 11/4/2011-10/4/2016
8 271612013 1,500,000 - - - 1,500,000 1.69 27/612013-26/6/2018
2,850,000 - (350,000) - 2,500,000 1.69 27/6/2014-26/6/2018
6,750,000 - (4,300,000) (500,000) 1,950,000 1.69 27/6/2015-26/6/2018
171212014 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 414 17/2/2015-16/2/2019
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 414 17/2/2016-16/2/2019
30/6/2014 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 4.07 30/6/2015-29/6/2019
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 4.07 30/6/2016-29/6/2019
175,400,000 79,990,000 (4,650,000) (500,000) 250,240,000
Notes: BsE

1. The closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on which the
share options granted on 13 January 2016 was HK$1.52 per Share.

2. The weighted average closing price of the Shares immediately before the date
on which the share options were exercised was approximately HK$2.427 per

Share.

3. Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 38 to the financial
statements.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T

1. BER2016F1 A 13K ERERBRIAQFKRN
W EASR1.528 T

2. EEBRETEABNARRRDMEFHRTER

242738 TT °

3. BEREREINFBENMIERERM S -



Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEWmE(E)

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debt
Securities

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests in Securities” and “Information on Share Options” in this report
and in note 38 to the financial statements, at no time during the Year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or chief executives of the Company (including their
spouses or children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

General Mandate Issue

Update on Use of Proceeds

On 15 January 2014, the Company entered into the Investment and
Cooperation Agreement (the “Agreement”) with THL H Limited (“THL"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tencent, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Pursuant to such Agreement
and the general mandate granted to the Directors at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 21 August 2013, THL has subscribed
for 680,300,000 shares of the Company at a price of HK$2.20 per share
("Subscription Shares”) on 23 January 2014 with a total consideration of
approximately HK$1,500 million. In addition, the Company has granted
an option to THL to subscribe for a further 244,800,000 shares at the
price of HK$3.50 per share (subject to adjustments (if any)) (“Option”).
In September 2014, THL noticed the Company to exercise the Option
at the option price of HK$3.36 per share at the total consideration of
approximately HK$822.5 million (as adjusted by the dividend declared by
the Company and the Company issued and allotted such shares to THL
accordingly. Details of the Agreement are set out in the announcements
dated 15 January 2014, 23 January 2014, 23 September 2014 and 29
September 2014 respectively. The Company intends to use part of the net
proceeds in certain areas of intended cooperation with the Tencent Group
and the remaining will be used for general corporate purposes.
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The net proceeds from the Subscription Shares and the exercise of Option
were in an aggregate of approximately HK$2,319.2 million. As at 31
March 2016, the Company has utilized approximately HK$1,848.7 million
in E-commerce related business and other general corporate purposes. For
the remaining of the net proceeds, the Group plans to use it for business
related to E-commerce, logistics and general corporate purposes.

Issuance of Debt Securities by a Subsidiary
Short-Term Notes

In September 2014, China South International Industrial Materials City
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (“China South International”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, obtained the relevant approval for
issuing short-term notes in a maximum principal amount of RMB4.3 billion
with a term of 1 year in the PRC.

In October 2014, China South International completed the issuance of
the first tranche of the short-term notes of 2014 (“2014 First Tranche
STN") in the national inter-bank market in the PRC with the total principal
amount of RMB2.2 billion with a maturity period of 1 year and at an
interest rate of 5.4% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used
for repaying part of bank loans of the Group. The 2014 First Tranche STN
has been repaid in October 2015.

In September 2015, China South International completed the issuance
of the first tranche of the short-term notes of 2015 (“2015 First Tranche
STN") in the national inter-bank market in the PRC with the total principal
amount of RMB2.1 billion with a maturity period of 1 year and at an
interest rate of 4.3% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used
for replacement of bank borrowings of the Group.

As at 31 March 2016, the carrying value of China South International’s
short-term notes was HK$2,525.5 million. As assessed by Dagong Global
Credit Rating Co., Ltd. (KABI &5 H AR A 7]) (“Dagong Global”),
China South International was given “AA" rating, and 2015 First Tranche
STN was given “A-1"rating.

Further details of the Short-Term Notes are set out in note 30 to the
financial statements.
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Medium-Term Notes

In April 2014, China South International obtained the relevant approval
for issuing medium-term notes in a maximum principal amount of RMB4
billion with a term of 5 years in the PRC.

In May 2014, China South International completed the issuance of the
first tranche of the medium-term notes of 2014 (“2014 First Tranche
MTN") in the national inter-bank market in the PRC with the total
principal amount of RMB1 billion with a maturity period of 5 years and at
an interest rate of 7.5% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used
for repaying existing short-term bank loans of the Group.

In September 2014, China South International completed the issuance of
the second tranche of the medium-term notes of 2014 (“2014 Second
Tranche MTN") in the national inter-bank market in the PRC with the total
principal amount of RMB1 billion with a maturity period of 5 years and at
an interest rate of 8.4% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used
for repaying part of bank loans of the Group.

In July 2015, China South International completed the issuance of the first
tranche of the medium-term notes of 2015 (“2015 First Tranche MTN") in
the national inter-bank market in the PRC with the total principal amount
of RMB2 billion with a maturity period of 3 years and at an interest rate of
7.0% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used for replacement
of bank loans of the Group and the development of CSC Nanning project.

As at 31 March 2016, the carrying value of China South International’s
medium-term notes was HK$5,026.7 million. As assessed by Dagong
Global, China South International, 2014 First Tranche MTN, 2014 Second
Tranche MTN and 2015 First Tranche MTN, all were given “AA" rating.

Further details of the Medium-Term Notes are set out in note 32 to the
financial statements.
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Corporate Bonds

In March 2015, China South International obtained the relevant approval
for issuing corporate bonds in a maximum principal amount of RMB1.5
billion with a term of up to 6 years in maximum from the date of issue in
the PRC. In April 2015, China South International completed the issuance
of the corporate bonds in the PRC with the total principal amount of
RMB1.5 billion with a term of up to 6 years in maximum at the coupon
rate of 7.0% per annum, and the listing of the corporate bonds on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange commenced in May 2015. The proceeds thereof
were to be used for the development of CSC Zhengzhou project. As at 31
March 2016, the carrying value of China South International’s corporate
bonds was HK$1,891.2 million. As assessed by Pengyuan Credit Rating
Co., Ltd. (BT EEHEAR A A]), China South International and the
corporate bonds were given “AA” and "AA+" rating respectively.

Further details of the Corporate Bonds are set out in note 33 to the
financial statements.

Domestic Company Bonds

In December 2015, China South International obtained the relevant
approval for issuing domestic company bonds in a maximum principal
amount of RMB4.4 billion in the PRC.

In January 2016, China South International completed the issuance of the
first tranche of the domestic company bonds in 2016 (“2016 First Tranche
of DCB") in the PRC with the total principal amount of RMB3.0 billion
with a term of 3 years at the coupon rate of 5.98% per annum, and the
listing of the 2016 First Tranche of DCB on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
commenced in April 2016. In May 2016, China South International
completed the issuance of the second tranche of the domestic company
bonds in 2016 (“2016 Second Tranche of DCB") in the PRC with the total
principal amount of RMB1.4 billion with a term of 3 years at the coupon
rate of 6.85% per annum. The proceeds thereof were to be used for
repaying part of bank loans of the Group and general working capital.

As at 31 March 2016, the carrying value of China South International’s
domestic company bonds was HK$3,629.1 million. As assessed by Golden
Credit Rating International Co., Ltd. (R 5 &S EE = ATEER A7),
China South International was given “AA” rating, and the 2016 First
Tranche of DCB and 2016 Second Tranche of DCB, both were given “AA+”
rating.

Further details of the Domestic Company Bonds are set out in notes 34
and 48 to the financial statements.
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Connected Transaction

The Company had not entered into any connected transaction during the
Year which is required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2016 which constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions are disclosed in note 44 to the financial
statements.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
The Company repurchased a total of 6,000,000 shares of the Company
at prices ranging from HK$1.80 to HK$2.00 per share on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange during the Year. Details of the repurchases of such shares
were as follows:

RABIRAFERLEETRE ETMRAE4AZ Y
WEENRMEIERS - 22016383181k #5
BERFEUFERER S 2 AEE B SR
HEMIFE44 -

BE - HEYER LHES

RAFER » RARAER1.808 L E2.008 THE
& PA & VS B 22 BT BE [B AN /A 7)6,000,000 8% J& 15 » & [El
ZERMZFEBHENT

Aggregate

Number of Highest Lowest consideration

shares price paid price paid paid (excluding

repurchased per Share per Share expenses)

BmRE

Date of the repurchase BE B BEKRDHE ERESE BREEE (FEEHRX)
HK$ HK$ HK$

A A A

8 July 2015 201557 A8H 5,000,000 1.98 1.80 9,602,100
9 July 2015 201547 H9H 1,000,000 2.00 2.00 2,000,000
6,000,000 11,602,100

All 6,000,000 shares repurchased were cancelled during the Year.
The Company believes that the repurchase of shares will lead to an
enhancement of the net value of the Group, its assets and its earnings per
Share.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities
during the Year.

Bank Borrowings
Details of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2016 are set out
in note 29 to the financial statements.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

The aggregate sales to the Group’s five largest customers were less than
10% of the Group's total revenue. The aggregate purchases from the
five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 54%
(FY2014/15: 36%) of the Group’s total purchases and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for approximately 15% (FY2014/15: 12%) of
the Group’s total purchases for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2016.

None of the Directors, their associates, or any Shareholders which to the
knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total
number of issued Shares has any interests in the Group's five largest
suppliers or customers.

Corporate Governance

The Company is committed to achieving high standard of corporate
governance. Detailed information on the Company’s corporate
governance principles and practices are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report as contained in this annual report.

Environmental, Social and Governance

The Group is committed to fulfilling its corporate social responsibility in
community affairs, environmental protection and corporate governance
during its business operation in order to achieve its sustainable
development. The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance
Report is set out in this annual report.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEEWmE(E)

Five Years’ Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five fiscal years is set out on page 67 of this annual report.

Management Contract

During the Year, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the Year.

Events after the Reporting Period
The events after the reporting period are set out in note 48 to the
financial statements.

Auditors

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. Ernst & Young who
will retire and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of Messrs. Ernst &
Young as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

For and on behalf of the Board
CHENG CHUNG HING
Co-Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2016
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Corporate Governance Report
ERERME

The Company recognizes the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. The Board is also committed
to the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

Throughout the fiscal year ended 31 March 2016, the Company has
complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code, save and
except for the following deviation:

Code Provision A.6.7

Under Code Provision A.6.7, independent non-executive Directors and
other non-executive Directors, as equal Board members, should attend
general meetings of the Company. During the Year, one non-executive
Director and one independent non-executive Director were unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 August
2015 as they had other prior business engagements. Attendance of the
Directors at the general meeting is set out in this report.

The Board of Directors

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2016, the Board comprises twelve Directors, including
three executive Directors, five non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year and up to the
date of this annual report, Mr. Leung Moon Lam has ceased to act as
Chief Executive Officer of the Group with effect from 1 January 2016
but remains as Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Fung Sing Hong
Stephen, an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Group,
was appointed as Chief Executive officer of the Group with effect from
1 January 2016 and ceased to act as Chief Financial Officer of the Group
with effect from 19 May 2016. The brief biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Key Management” on pages 68 to 77 of this annual report.

Independent non-executive Director

During the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements of
Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10(A) of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors and
representing at least one-third of the board with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

During the Year, all existing independent non-executive Directors have
made an annual confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that each of the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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Role and Function

The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and performance
monitoring of the Group. It delegates day-to-day operations of the
Group to the executive Directors and key senior management within the
control and authority framework set by the Board. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. Further details
of these committees are set out in this report.

Relationship between Directors
Mr. Cheng Tai Po is an elder brother of Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.

Change in Information of Directors

The change in the information of Directors since the publication of the
2015/16 interim report up to the date of this annual report is set out
below pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules:

o Mr. Leung Moon Lam has ceased to act as Chief Executive Officer
of the Group with effect from 1 January 2016 but remains as
Executive Director of the Company. Upon re-designation on 1
January 2016, Mr. Leung'’s basic annual salary has been adjusted
from HK$5,850,000 to HK$5,500,000, and his entitlement of a
performance based bonus was also adjusted from an amount of
1% to 0.5% of the audited net profit attributable to owners of the
parent of the relevant financial year excluding fair value gains on
investment properties and related tax effects and fair value gain on
derivative financial instrument (in addition to any discretionary bonus
(if any)).

o Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen was appointed as Chief Executive
Officer of the Group with effect from 1 January 2016 and has ceased
to act as Chief Financial Officer of the Group on 19 May 2016. Upon
re-designation on 1 January 2016, Mr. Fung’s basic annual salary has
been adjusted from HK$5,820,000 to HK$6,800,000. In addition,
Mr. Fung is entitled to a performance based bonus of an amount of
0.75% of the audited net profit attributable to owners of the parent
of the relevant financial year excluding fair value gains on investment
properties and related tax effects and fair value gain on derivative
financial instrument (in addition to any discretionary bonus (if any)),
and 79,990,000 share options (representing approximately 1% of
the issued shares of the Company) was granted to Mr. Fung by the
Board on 13 January 2016 in accordance with the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme of the Company.
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o Mr. Cheng Tai Po has retired as chairman and non-executive director
of Man Sang International Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 938), on 31
March 2016.

o Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel was appointed as independent non-
executive director of Fittec International Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2662), on 21 January 2016.

o Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff has retired as independent non-executive
director of Ming Fai International Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 3828), on 29 March
2016.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code of the Listing Rules as a
code of conduct of the Company for Directors’ securities transactions.
Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
fiscal year ended 31 March 2016. Employees who are, or likely to be, in
possession of unpublished price sensitive information in relation to the
Company or its Shares are required to prohibit from dealing in shares of
the Company during the black-out period.
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Board Meetings

During the Year, four Board meetings were convened by the Company.
The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings was as follows:

EEFEE:
RAFER  ARaXBHUAEEESE  £52
SEMNEELFEBELOT

Number of
Attendance/
meeting held®
HFE/ET
Directors E=E =N
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) BN S A (B ) 4/4
Mr. Leung Moon Lam ZmRI & 4/4
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen (Chief Executive Officer) SR Mo (BT AR EL) 4/4
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung (Co-Chairman) ESNEET(BELE) 074
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff RS E 4/4
Dr. Ma Wai Mo SEAEL 4/4
Mr. Cheng Tai Po BRI AE a/4
Mr. Lin Ching Hua MIREESE 4 3/4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE 4/4
Mr. Li Wai Keung FEREE 4/4
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung AR LA 44
Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel BB E 4/4

Note:

(1) The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number of meetings

a director is entitled to attend.

The Directors are provided with agenda and relevant Board materials
related to the agenda in advance before the meeting. They can access to

the senior management and the company secretary of the Company at all

time and, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice

at the Company’s expense.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into service contract with the
Company while each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for a term of three years.

The Company's Articles provide rotation and re-election for all Directors.
In accordance with the Articles, at each annual general meeting of the
Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation. The Articles also
provide that any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
on the Board shall hold office only until the next following general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election,
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible to offer for re-election. Accordingly,
four Directors, namely, Mr. Cheng Chung Hing, Dr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr.
Hui Chiu Chung and Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel, shall retire from office
and are eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer are segregated. Mr. Cheng Chung Hing
and Dr. Ma Kai Cheung are Co-Chairman of the Company and they
provide leadership for the Board and ensure the proper and effective
functioning of the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities. Mr. Leung
Moon Lam and Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen during their tenure of office
as the Chief Executive Officer during the Year, are respectively accountable
to the Board for the overall implementation of the Company’s strategies
and the coordination of overall business operations of the Group.
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Board Committees

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of the Board and the
Company’s affairs. All board committees of the Company are established
with specific written terms of reference which have been published
at the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company
respectively. The board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company's expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is responsible for the review and supervision of the
Group's financial reporting process, risk management and internal controls
system and review of the Company’s financial statements. The written
terms of reference are in line with the provisions under the CG Code and
the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board, which include to determine the appropriate corporate governance
practices applicable to the Group’s circumstances and to ensure processes
and procedures are in place to achieve the Group’s corporate governance
objectives. To align with the recent amendments to the CG Code in
relation to the risk management and internal controls has become
effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, the
Company has revised and adopted the updated written terms of reference
of Audit Committee accordingly.

During the Year, the Audit Committee consists of Mr. Li Wai Keung
as chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew, Mr. Hui Chiu Chung
and Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel. All the Audit Committee members are
independent non-executive Directors. During the Year, two meetings of
Audit Committee were held to review the FY2014/15 annual results and
the FY2015/16 interim results of the Group before submission to the
Board.
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EXRERRE (B)

During FY2015/16, the Audit Committee had reviewed the risk
management and internal control system, connected transactions, interim
results and annual results of the Group and the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group. The attendance of the Directors at the
Audit Committee meetings was as follows:

R2015/168EE - ERLZEEEHASENE
MR AIEITRS - BERS FHEEREFEE
URAEBRAOGHRARED - EREELLHE
MEFLEBERAT

Number of

attendance/

meeting held

HFE/ET

Directors 2= SRR
Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) TEREE(ERE) 2/2
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE 2/2
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung AR L 2/2
Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel BRI E 2/2

104

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
on the Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration and other
benefits. The remuneration of all Directors and senior management is
subject to regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee so as
to ensure that the level of their remuneration and compensation are
reasonable. The specific written terms of reference are in line with the
provisions of the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director, including Mr. Li Wai Keung as
chairman, Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew and Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.

The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance
as measured against the Group’s corporate objectives and operating
results, taking into account also the comparable market conditions. The
principal elements of the remuneration package of an executive Director
include basic salary, performance and/or discretionary bonus, participation
in the Share Option Scheme and other benefits. The remuneration of
non-executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
includes mainly the director’'s fee and participation in the Share Option
Scheme which is a matter for the Board to decide by reference to their
duties and responsibilities and the comparable market conditions.
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During the Year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held to
review the structure of the remunerations for Directors of the Company
and the grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme to Director
of the Company. The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration
Committee meeting was as follows:

RAFEERN - BARMAFTHEESEEZ - UEHA
RAEFNFTHRBLREBRETIRTESTER
BEE FHMZEeeZNESHERINT

Number of

attendance/

meeting held

/84T

Directors 2= SRR

Mr. Li Wai Keung (Chairman) TEREE(EE) 2/2

Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERAE 2/2

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing LN 2/2
Nomination Committee EEEZRE

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendation
to the nomination of Directors with a view for the appointment of
suitable individuals with relevant expertise and experience to enhance
the constitution of the Board and to contribute to the Board. The specific
written terms of reference are in line with the provisions of the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors and one executive Director, including Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen
Andrew as chairman, Mr. Li Wai Keung and Mr. Cheng Chung Hing.
During the Year, two Nomination Committee meetings were held to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board, including the
skill, knowledge, experience and diversity of background of its members,
and the re-designation of senior management of the Company. The
attendance of the Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting was as
follows:

REZBSAANEFRAENES  UREAER
BAEEMBNEROEE AR URICEZTERER
B REFSFLEN HPAREABESENAE
JASTRIME -

REZBEHMEBIIFNTEER —ERTESA
B BRERRBERE(ERE)  FREEEREMNES
o RAFERN  REZESLARMAEHE - g
WNEEEHEE  ABEBK BREZFEKENR
B HE - KBEBSOHZENE  URARRSRE
BEZHE - REZEEEZNESLEBRLOT

o

Number of

attendance/

meeting held

HE/ET

Directors =S BEXRH
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew (Chairman) REEFREEE) 2/2
Mr. Li Wai Keung TEBLE 2/2
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing =N 2/2
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity by adopting a board
diversity policy which stipulates that when identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Directors, the Nomination Committee will
consider the benefits of all aspects of diversity including, but not limited
to, a number of factors, such as age, race, cultural and educational
background, professional and business-related experience, reputation of
candidates for integrity and his/her accomplishment, skills, knowledge and
length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range of balance
of skills, experience and background on the Board. The appointments of
Directors will base on meritocracy and take into account the aforesaid
factors as a whole for the benefits of the Company, as well as taking into
consideration its own business model and specific needs from time to
time.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

During the Year, the Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liabilities insurance coverage in respect of legal action against its
Directors and Officers.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for overseeing the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group and reviewing its effectiveness.
A defined management structure with specified limits of authority and
responsibilities is developed for safeguarding assets against unauthorized
use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting records for
the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publications and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

An internal audit department has been established to perform regular
financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary actions to
the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal audit
department ensure the risk management and internal control systems are
in place and function properly as intended. The results of the internal audit
and reviews are reported to the executive Directors and Audit Committee
of the Company. The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems and are satisfied
with the adequacy of the systems of risk management and internal control
of the Group during the Year.
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For the annual review on the risk management and internal controls,
the Audit Committee considered the internal control report and risk
management report were satisfied as to effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. There were no matters of
material concerns relating to financial, operational or compliance controls.
The Board is satisfied with the adequacy and the effectiveness of the
systems of the risk management and internal controls of the Group during
the Year.

Independent Auditors’ Remuneration

The Group’s independent auditors are Messrs. Ernst & Young. For
FY2015/16, the remuneration paid and payable by the Group to the
independent auditors in respect of audit and non-audit services provided
by them were as follows:

MRS ERERARERRE - WEAREERRK
NEEZERRBEAXN - BEXEAMPT  ELRAR
ERmEREEINET - EEFENAEENAREF
ERRBREIENARBEE RSB RN BRIE -

BB AT
REEMNBILZBEMARKEFTMERR - #HE
201516 U E - AE B M)A ZEEN B ZFTiE
HEZRIEEZRBEAN REFHOMEST

HK$'000

FAT

Audit and review services Bz R EERG 3,900

Non-audit services EEZARTE 180
Directors’ Responsibility EEEE

Every newly appointed Director will receive briefings and comprehensive
induction on appointment to ensure understanding of the Directors’
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to refresh their knowledge and skills
and the Company organizes appropriate directors’ training to Directors
to help ensure they are apprised of the role, functions and duties being a
director of the Company.

The Directors are aware that they should give sufficient time and attention
to the affairs of the Company and they are continually adapted with
regulatory developments and business development of the Group to
discharge their responsibilities. The Directors’ knowledge and skills are
continuously developed and refreshed by, inter alia, the following means:

BUHEEZFEEEERE - NEHRLZENGEEE
£ R AT RRE B E AR AMAEEERE T
ZEFEINER - EFTRH2EBBEERERUE
FEABANRRE - MARB RGBSR ARSI N5
BEEEI - BUARRMCPREESRNARNERTZA
e BeErEE-

BB REANERARHEIOTE NAREARA
=5 RESESERESETN LTRBRRAE
EHEBER  UDREETRES - BE(ED %)
AT RARHER R EHER 2 AB L6
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERHRE(E)

Attending training session organized by and/or reading materials
provided by the Company, as regards to legal and regulatory
changes and matters relevant to the Directors in discharging their
duties, including the laws, rules and regulations relating to the
corporate governance;

Participating in continuous professional training seminars/
conferences/courses/workshops on subjects relating to directors’
duties and corporate governance, and rules and regulatory
changes, organized by the other companies, professional bodies or
government authorities; and

Reading news, journal, magazine or other reading materials from
time to time as regards to legal and regulatory changes, economics
and matters relevant to the Directors in discharging their duties.

According to the records provided by the Directors, the Directors received
the following trainings during the Year:

2INAAR AR R 2 EEET B EMBE MR
MERER - RRERMERLRERS  UNE
ERTHBEZHEBER  BREXEARFHZ
SED - SRR IR B

SEMEMAR EXRERUBUTHERRERE

EXEREMEEES  ERANEEZEERHN
REHTFEEXIEIBE - 85 RIZHH
g R

TRHHERBEEREIREEE « LF  URE
EREEETHEEERBEE2HHE - 7
FEGREMBEER -

RIBEEMEHNLCE  RAFER  EF2H 7T
AT

Type of Training

Directors 2= e k=il
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) BN S A (B ) M &@3)
Mr. Leung Moon Lam ZmmsE (1 &(3)
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen (Chief Executive Officer) WS E Mk (BT A 5) M &@3)
Non-Executive Directors FETES

Dr. Ma Kai Cheung (Co-Chairman) SNEBL(EEERE) (3)
Mr. Sun Kai Lit Cliff BRI E (M &@3)
Dr. Ma Wai Mo BEREL M
Mr. Cheng Tai Po B RS AE (M &(3)
Mr. Lin Ching Hua MBS A (M &@3)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUkETES

Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE (1), 2) & (3)
Mr. Li Wai Keung FERTE (1 &(3)
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung SRR A (1), (2) &(3)
Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel BB E M, 2 &03)
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERHRE(E)

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2015/16 which
were prepared in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the independent auditors of the Company
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in the
independent auditors’ report on pages 127 to 128.

Company Secretary

Ms. Tse Man Yu has been the Company Secretary of the Company since
2008. She is a full time employee of the Company with professional
qualifications and extensive experience, and has adequate working
knowledge on the Company to discharge her duty as the Company
Secretary. During the Year, Ms. Tse confirmed that she has received
relevant professional training of not less than 15 hours to update her skills
and knowledge.

Communication with Shareholders and Noteholders
The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders,
noteholders and other investment community is essential. During the
Year, the executive Directors, Chief Financial Officer and team of investor
relations of the Group held regular briefings, press conferences and
analysts meetings of interim and annual results, attended investor forums
and participated in roadshows, conducted meetings and visits to projects
of the Group with the institutional investors and financial analysts in
China, Hong Kong and overseas countries to keep them abreast of the
Group's business and development. Investors can also communicate with
the Company through email at ir@chinasouthcity.com.

ESRBHARMBRRAENEE

AL BT R T AR A S 1201 571681 L4 8
BAMBRROEE  YERBATRT AR R
AAIER -

NRATVBYIZBANE A EBIR A SRR PRET
HRE 1272128 B AIB M AZEENREN »

AEME

FNH LT E2008FRHEARRRZARIME - 1A
ARREHREES  BEBEERME R - LAHE
RN TVEREE  UWBITARMENEE - RAFEE
W LT EREEES T OR5NE Z ABEE R
FIATE FTE R RE RN A0

ERRRREBSEAEER

AAFRAE - BRE - FEFAARAREEEE
HARERDZHEE - RAFER  HITEF - &
EEEMBRERREEBEERENRTHRE -

MEEGS AT FEEEESTEE  KNPE -
BRRBINERLFEREERE  BREBREE LY

BOMELMKE  RITEBERSBAEE 2 ER -
BELTE TRAEENEBRENER - REEA
% B E Bir@chinasouthcity.com B 7R 2 FIEEAS o
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERHRE(E)

The Shareholders’ meeting provides a useful forum for the Shareholders
to exchange views with the Board. The Directors and Chief Financial
Officer of the Group will attend the Shareholders’ meetings to answer
the questions raised by the Shareholders. Shareholders can also direct
their enquiries and proposals to the Company. The contact details of
the Company are set out in the “Contact Us” section of the Company’s
website at www.chinasouthcity.com.

Shareholders’ Rights

Pursuant to the new Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), shareholders of the Company holding not less than 5% of
the total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at general
meeting may request the Directors to call a general meeting. The request
must state the general nature of business to be dealt with at the meeting
and may be sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic
form and must be authenticated by the person or persons making it in
accordance with the provisions under sections 566 to 568 of the New
Companies Ordinance and the Company’s Articles.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERF3HIZREGR A T

RREHERHEEEN®IE  HIRREAEEFEH I
ThBER EEREEARMBEEREFERREXR
RERRIBEARRE - RESDJUMARQRRD
MR o ADEME BT IBE N AR E 4
www.chinasouthcity.com[ B 48 #Af9 |— 57 -

2N

By 1 X

R SR FER

RIBHCRRUGRGN (B BEDIF6225) » FHAEARF
BRENEREH LREZARRMARREREET
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

EEERHmE (&)

Attendance of the Directors at the annual general meeting of the

BEM2015F8A21ART 2 ARBIREAFTREH

Company which was held on 21 August 2015 was as follows: HEERImT
Number of
attendance/
meeting held
HRE/
Directors = HITFEX
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Cheng Chung Hing (Co-Chairman) BB A (B )E) ”n
Mr. Leung Moon Lam( ZERARST M 11
Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen (Chief Executive Officer)® BEM T E (EETTHAEF ) 11
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Dr. Ma Kai Cheung (Co-Chairman) SNEBL(BEEE) 1”1
Mr. Sun Kai Lit CIiff BRRUSEE ”
Dr. Ma Wai Mo HEREL 11
Mr. Cheng Tai Po B RgmAEE 7
Mr. Lin Ching Hua MRS A 0/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew REERE 71
Mr. Li Wai Keung ESEE on
Mr. Hui Chiu Chung SRS 11
Mr. Yung Wing Ki Samuel AT E ”n

Notes:

BGE

(1) Mr. Leung Moon Lam has ceased to act as Chief Executive Officer of the (1) 2t Am2016FE1 A1 BRTBETEETHRA
Group with effect from 1 January 2016 but remains as Executive Director of - BEERETAARNTES -

the Company.

(2)  Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of  (2) JBEMEAM2016FE1 A1 BRESTEAEETHA

the Group with effect from 1 January 2016 and has ceased to act as Chief
Financial Officer of the Group on 19 May 2016.

Mr. Lin Ching Hua and Mr. Li Wai Keung were unable to attend the last

annual general meeting of the Company due to other prior business RELFEAQR ERBEREAFAEG

engagements.

Published documents together with the latest corporate information and

news are available on the Company’s website at www.chinasouthcity.com. ‘A Al Swww.chinasouthcity.com ©
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

E%E% {tEE/\ ﬂq#ﬁﬁq

Our Philosophy

China South City is a leading developer and operator of large-scale
integrated logistics and trade centers in China. Adhering to the business
philosophy of “Integrity, harmony, win-win and sharing”, China South
City on the one hand, provides urban functional upgrade solutions to
local governments at its projects through provision of modern wholesale
marketplace to promote regional economic development; on the other
hand, it provides one-stop comprehensive value-added services to SMEs
within China South City projects to assist them in reducing the operating
costs and enhancing their competitiveness.

The Group has consistently maintained open communications with its
stakeholders. It endeavors to achieve the sustainable development of
the Company through creating a favorable working environment for
its employees, assisting its customers to enhance their competitiveness,
and minimizing the impacts on the environment during the course of its
business operation.

Workplace Quality
The Group believes that outstanding talents are the cornerstone for the
facilitation of the healthy and steady development of an enterprise.

As such, China South City greatly emphasizes the recruitment, reserve,
nurturing and development of talents. During the Year, the Group
continued to reinforce employee communications, training and safety
education, and was committed to achieving a win-win situation for both
enterprise and employees through effective interactions.

Overview of Employees

China South City values its employees as an important asset, arranges and
adjusts its structure according to the needs of its business development.
During the Year, the Group continued to engage qualified staff through
campus and social recruitment as well as internal referral, based on the
principles of fairness and openness. As at 31 March 2016, the Group had
approximately 6,930 employees in total.

£EEER

EERRTHRELRNALGANEYREERR ST
DHFEEELR - TAHE - M w2
FINKEER  ERR T EERBREERAICHI

BMISREIGH 0 RAR EHBF R TIEE R

AT R IRERIBQEER - B EIFAAREE
IR R MR/ MR R U 2 EISERT - A

BB/ N R EERAA - RITEBF T

REBMELBRER —EBGRFEFNEER -
MBEABIMERTMIERE  BYEFPRART
7 RERERVERELBRHRBEXNNTE - U
BERATWAFEEE

ﬁﬁﬁ-

'R EFR

TERIR
AEBREEFAST AHSEERREREROE
E °

FHit - EEWTAERAT RS - #E - BE L%
R RAFE  AEBESEINRE TER HlkL

EHEERZHENTHE  BIBBEREHEELHE

BET%5H -

EI#X

EMWEETASEMEE  WIEEBKEERTELH
DAREEEE - NAFE - AEBEEUQNFAHY
REI - BAREEE  HEBERAPEBSTH
BAAEMRALT - R20165F3A310 » AEBHBAL
6,930 8T -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEHEERRE ()

Number of Employees (by Type of Engagement) as at 31 March 2016
HE20165F3831 AR ABEREINET AR

Total Full-time Part-time Contractual
FEUNE | 2 3 SR
6,928 6,903 23 2

Number of Employees (by Age) as at 31 March 2016
BZE2016F3A31BRFREINETIA

W 18-25 years old
18-255%

M 26-30 years old
26-30%%

M 31-40 years old
31-40%%

W 41-50 years old
41-505%

W 51-60 years old
51-605%

M 61 years old or above
60B% A =

31.8%

Sustainable Development of Employees

China South City believes that learning and self-enrichment are the
principal methods to equip employees with sustainable values and
creativity, and an enterprise is responsible for providing opportunities for
its employees for continuous improvement.

During the Year, the Group conducted a series of training courses for its
employees in every position, including professional knowledge and skills,
topical social issues and business management, and at the same time the
Group included the hours of training completed as one of the criteria of
employees’ assessment in order to amply motivate employees’ initiatives
in learning and encourage the constant self-improvement of employees.
During the Year, the total staff training hours of the Group has jumped by
approximately 3.7 times as compared to the last fiscal year.

Number of Employees (by Gender) as at 31 March 2016
BZE2016F3A31BRMAIEIDNET A

W Male
B
M Female

oy

44% 56%

BT ARFERR
EHHREEERARSELEE TARFELEE
REEENNEERT  CEEEEARTRHETH
RF RIS -

RAFE  AEERZREAEIRART BEEENZ

HEE - HRRBEERCETIEE — RIINEHIR
12 - FRS TS SRR YIRS B A E X B T iz -

NFRDHEETILBNEGN - BB T TEETE
HIEE - WAFE - AREE THIARSER L
BEE AR ETHE3.715 -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HSHEERRE (B)

Training Hours by Types of Staff in FY2015/16
2015/16 81 B F E 12 & T 18587 AYsE 5 i

Basic Level Middle Level Senior Level Total

—RET hEEE =EEEE P2
Hours NEE 26,540 7,960 910 35,410
Percentage Bt 75% 22% 3% 100%

In addition, the Group has also introduced an e-learning system during
the Year through the provision of various online teaching resources,
it enabled employees to keep abreast of the latest information and
courses, whenever and wherever. Employees can also share their learning
experience via the platform. Currently, such e-learning system has been
launched in Shenzhen and shall be gradually applied to other projects.

AN - REBITRAFESIABLEE RS - BBk
HETRABENERHBER - S B TEERELERE
BHMEMMRIE  MEIRARZFAERESZHE
Bikh - BAT - ZWBEBRARCERYIAB T
WikFEER AN EMIER A

Outward bound Video training
FIMRRIE RGIEI
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HSHEERRE (B)

Occupational Safety and Health for Employees

China South City is committed to maintaining a good occupational safe
and healthy environment. Through regularly providing its employees,
particularly those involved in construction, decoration and fire services,
with educational courses and training on occupational safety, their
awareness of safety precaution has been aroused. In the event of
construction accidents, the Group has also established a comprehensive
response system to reimburse the payment of the medical expenses for
the sick and wounded employees in the first instance. The Group will also
delegate staff from labor union to visit the affected employees, conduct
counseling for the employees’ families and seek the best treatment plan
with the medical institutions.

BETRRZZRER

ERBEN T RIFNBRRZ 2 MEFIRE - AEE
BEEHAET  LEESRET - RKELHEHNE
TREBELZEZHERERIFI  ARAER2HE
BH o ARENCRY-ETENEE R 0 WL
BIEY  ARERRE-HHEABKETIRANTE
BEEMA - AEETERETIEAERIBHET
M ETHENOERE - WEEFEEEBLS - XK

RERBENE

Male Female Total
B Z =
Rate of work-related injuries per SEFZETIMHIER 1.0 0.3 1.3
thousand employees
Number of working days lost as a TEBATIERE 560 40 600
result of work-related injuries
Environmental Protection BISRE

Recognizing that the development of each enterprise may affect the eco-
environment, China South City adheres to the philosophy of energy-saving
and emission reduction throughout the entire process of development
and operation. From product design, constructions to practical operations,
China South City is committed to implementing different environmental
protection measures in every single aspect so as to reduce the impacts on
the environment.

EERRAPASEALENBRINGHERRIRENY
2 ARBHERFNESEFRAELN2B
12 AERMNRT - MIUEERES - EEUED
ERREBET I RRFRERARBERENZE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RIE > EHHEERRE (B)
.:
u;ia
NN E
Environmental-friendly Design RRRE
All constructions of China South City are designed and built according to  ZERGI B P B IR IR BB R ETGL iR R T B 1T 0 5

the state’s energy-saving standards, and have undergone energy-saving
examination by third parties. Projects are also subject to energy-saving
inspections by the government upon completion. For example, the trade
centers for Metals, Chemicals and Plastics in CSC Shenzhen adopted a
series of energy-saving design, helping the Group to implement energy-
saving measures from the origin. And such energy-saving design has also
met the requirements of Green Building Label (one-star level in the PRC)
([47 & 2 £ T EE# B R — £ #&J) and bronze level in Shenzhen (&
Il 4 AR).

The energy-saving and emission reduction measures of the trade centers
for Metals, Chemicals and Plastics in CSC Shenzhen:

®
@
®

RiT - WiRRE= E%Tﬁﬁ’]ﬁﬁ“ BE - MBERT
Ve BBUTH#ETTE LR IR o URYIZERM A - %18
EMRSETERBRSPLRA—RIBETgERET -

BN AS B RIRSE B M REIEME o X ENRERRGT UM ES
[FERETEER IBR—ER R MRLENHE

RINFEFR A TERR S OERERBEEE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEHEERRE ()

Environment-friendly Facilities BIREEHE

To better incorporate the philosophy of sustainable development into AT {Fi A B EXENIESMA B SLENLEIE

daily operation and management, the Group proactively promotes the  th . KeE@EELEEE hERHETE BELLHRE -

use of energy-saving equipment in every project. Taking CSC Shenzhen SURIIEE A - REKERSE - E =R %

a§ an ex'a'mp!e, in terms of water-saving meas.ures, it has adopted the XS 2N S S I T 2o A ek B I &

e g o, . SREANEREBSAS 1z
' B FAKEI9,50032 70K « RERERMAE - AJIER

approximately 9,500 cubic meter of water last year. In terms of electricity e o e s . L
saving, 1.2 million kWh of electricity can be saved in CSC Shenzhen BIVRRZRS  2RRZH5 - FEBEMSRRE
plaza 1, plaza 2, wholesale markets and the Group’s office building THM AR BB R K DI - BFAHE1208
by the installation of LED energy-saving lightings. Furthermore, the & o eoh - AREBBBHNNRYIFERERRR B R
Group can save over 1.7 million kWh of electricity each year through %5 NM2SERZESHMNSRE ~ RAR - RAEBTE
the implementation and application of variable-frequency control and ~ #E#%= &l R FER SR E(LIEHI R4 - BFAIEEE170
integrated optimization control system for refrigeration pumps, cooling  &JE -

pumps and cooling towers in plaza 1 and plaza 2 of CSC Shenzhen.

Energy management measures adopted in the projects RIEBEHEANERERER

Solar panels

KIGEEAR

Variable-frequency controller for cooling pumps
RAVREIEESIRR

Induction wash basin

RESRFA
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEHEERRE ()

During the Year, the Group signed a memorandum of understanding for
the strategic cooperation with a professional renewable energy solutions
provider and construction contractor to forge closer cooperation in solar
power energy conservation business. The Group is going to build a 2MW
solar power generation system on the rooftop of the plaza 4 of CSC
Shenzhen, for the use of electricity by CSC Shenzhen and its tenants. At
the moment, the installation of solar power generation system on the
rooftop of plaza 4 of CSC Shenzhen was steadily processed. Meanwhile,
the Group plans to install solar power generation system on the rooftop
of the qualified buildings in other China South City projects. The Group
believes this measure will effectively lower the electricity cost of China
South City and create a green business environment for its clients.

Green Construction

The Group realizes the impact it may have on the environment and
community during its project development, it has established a set of
standards in relation to civilized construction and monitoring measures,
including “Construction Sites Safety and Civilized Construction Standard
of China South City" (ZEMMER TR S L2 XHETEIEIZE)
and “Construction Project Safety and Civilized Construction Evaluation
Methods of China South City (Trial)” (ZERHERTREL 2 XHAMEIE
HET L% (577)), to urge the contractors to minimize the impact of
operation on the environment.

RAFEE  ARBE-FEEXABERRERT R M
fER R ZEABHARRITBRAFRTE - S8R
KIGRERTBERERMARAAIE - NEEKRRIIERS
WA R 5 EIH N ETREE — E2MWIERE YL » 4R
YERREEEPER - BRRYIERHARRZE
BERAREHNERERELETE - AE - ALE
That BN EAERNIER AN A RN EENETRR
KRR EY - REBREHBEAERFEERBNE
ARAE > REPAEREEHERE -

R T
AEETHERAEERABTERTPHRERMEBROY
. UHETRE(ERREEEIRSR 2 XHKE
TEERE) M EMMER TERE XL HIEAF
Ho A (BAAT) VER B — 251 SR i TR B % 52
EABIRARR  BOHELHRENTVERER
1K -

Car-washing trough at the entrance

AR

Water sprays to prevent dust at construction site
IR SRR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HSHEERRE (B)

The Group implements closed construction at the construction sites and
requires the contractors to establish a green belt at the main entrance
of the site and along the main construction passage. Also, measures on
preventing pollutions from dust, mud, sewage and wasted water are
strictly enforced at all construction sites. Regarding drainage facilities,
the Group requests the contractors to build filtration tank and grit
chamber near the drain in the construction sites and prohibits the direct
discharge of oil substances, including oils used in daily life and wasted
oil, and untreated polluted rainwater into municipal pipe network and
rivers. Regarding the construction waste processing, the Group engages
professional removal companies approved by the local government
authorities to transport left-behind concrete, mortar and decoration
garbage to the landfill or disposal sites specified by the government, so
that they can be treated by the government authorities in accordance with
relevant requirements. Regarding the environmental protection of the
community, the Group also requests the contractors to establish relevant
non-intrusive construction measures and prevent dust, noise and light
pollution at the construction sites.

Operation Practices

Through close cooperation with suppliers and contractors, the Group
strives to provide its clients with efficient and high-quality products and
services, and requires its staff to comply with the Company’s policies
against corruption and bribery at all time so as to avoid violations.

Supply Chain Management

Most of the procurements made by China South City have undergone a
tender process. The Group implements a just and fair tender process to
ensure adequate competition and adopts a series of assessment methods
in relation to supplier management to ensure the quality of its supplied
products and services and the professionalism during performance
process.

AEERETRSETHEHARNET - W EFAREN
TiFAOREHRTBESRERLT - BRE it
T EEEAITOILIZEE - T IERAR - )57k - BEK
TERRIBMEE o RYKRIESTHE - ANEEERE
EEMEIRSSEIYKE D ERESRBN NP -
WEREER AR M ~ BEMOM S MM E - ARAKE R
BEVFSK - BRPEATERE MR o PREREERER
BRIETTH - ARBRIKEFE LS MR ATARFTRT A A
BERE BEIE TRRRL - AU RIS
KigRuf - EXERFEENNRRIERIES © f
BUF BB PHZABREAR B IE - MtEIRFRE T H - A
SERESFEEFIERBE T TN ERENE - it
TISHBMEE - BigE Re5 -

GEEH
AEEBBEGRENRERHERAE  BUAES
REEHEENELRRY  YERETHAETA
RIRES R OBE - MRRRITA -

HEEEE
EHHABHNRBIBBRIPET - AEERAT
RTRNBERT - RASHT - TEE—FIIH
EEERERIS - URRHAHEEREREOS
B ARBHIBIZ ORI -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEHEERRE ()

Following the principle of “Integrity, fairness and justice”, the Group
signs letters of undertaking with suppliers of goods, service providers
and construction units to strictly restrict any staff from receiving private
benefits including gifts, commissions or any form of remuneration to
eradicate corruption and bribery.

Customer Service and Security Management

Apart from property development, China South City also actively cultivates
the market in order to provide a favorable business environment for its
tenants. In this regard, the Group values the comments and suggestions
of its tenants and seeks communications with its tenants via different
channels. During the Year, the Group established Customer Satisfaction
Survey Management Procedure{E F mEEFAEE B EE) to
further standardize the implementation of customer market research. By
conducting questionnaire, focus group and phone sample survey for the
tenants in the trial operating projects through customer service centers,
the Group understands the views of and ratings by its clients in respect of
product planning and design, construction quality, sales service, business
operation, property and customer service during the process of property
development, sales and after-sales services. Accordingly, a clear analysis
of the problem can be reached and feedback and improvement measures
can be timely reflected and proposed to relevant departments so as to
raise the satisfaction and loyalty of the clients.

AEFZR  2F - AEINRE  ARBERERHEE
B RBEETREMRAGHS - BRREEMNE
TWRBREEY - RS ERT 2 R E AT
g7 HBESHIETA -

EFRBERZEZERE

EMBENERB 2BRMEREETS - RARREP
RERFHEHRE - Bt AEETOERBFH
BERNEZ TRBXBRESRKEBFPNER -1
AEE  AEERI(EPREEREERRIE) &
—HRBELTIGAMORNIT - AREBEBEF RH
FLOHBUELRE ANEFPETHERE  BE
LEFRGRES  NTHEFPEMERE  HEX
ERRGHBRET - BERRERG - TIERE -
ER% - BELLE  MERFPRESEITENER
FFHE - femEARED T MBI - I MBS RIAR R ARPT
R T R REBCER - AEAEP AR EE R

kAR i GREREB L

BAEZBZE

The Advisory Committee for Tenants of CSC Nanning was established for a better communication between China South City and tenants

BRI EEF 2 MEERAN R E RN RE AR E N
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIB - HFHEERRE ()

As more projects proceed to trial operation, safety management has REZEFZHEERAGES @ T2EEK AREE
become an important aspect to the development of the Group. In order RHFHEEZ—IB o ﬁiﬁ—iiﬁﬁu$’ilﬁqiﬁﬂ’]§% B
to further regulate the internal safety management, the Group set up the % - $%IEA$¢FTﬁIE?’£\EEEFHETE%#J#’“ﬁ '

Production Safety Supervision and Management Office (X 24 EEEE BEHITHEFERE  T2RIERE - BAR

IBH#EAZ) during the Year, which is responsible for formulating relevant &t + T - %ﬁﬂﬁz&ﬁ[%;z’\**ﬁi\mfﬁﬁlélﬂf A
systems and standards, participating in safety related works in project  RHEELHOEHZEE o BN - ZER I E R EH
planning, blueprint designing, construction, inspection and fire safety, as  FiEFIAHEE T - E REPETEM M S R
well as coordinating and arranging fire safety training. In addition, China  [78% - WRENE S RMEE A « AT ERT
South City, together with the armed police fire department, promoted the  ZFEIH - AXBERESENE#RE - RAFE @ &
knowledge of fire safety, held fire drills and introduced the usage of the — Eg¥f[AIE T « FP RIT PSR T 40K T 2B LY
fire equipments, firefighting methods and precautions, fire hazards and  [F&% @ UIRAHEBRZ 2 S -

emergency knowledge, etc to its staff, tenants and residents. During the

Year, China South City held more than 40 safety talks and fire drills for its

staff, tenants and residents to raise their awareness of safety.

Fire safety talks
% 2B

Firemen introduced fire safety to staff, tenants and residents
HBIABRET REREFPNBENZ2

Fire drill
EbERE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HSHEERRE (B)

Profession Invasion

The Group strictly prohibits any acts of bribery and corruption during its
business operation and reminds its employees to avoid any acts which may
cause conflicts of interest from time to time. To conduct risk prevention
work, the Group has set up an email account for reporting complaints
and a telephone number for case handling at the home page of its office
system, while each subsidiaries of the Group also establishes their own
public complaint and report mailboxes. All complaints are received and
reported by the dedicated supervisory personnel from the customer
services center and the supervision and auditing department of the Group
at once and subsequently, be investigated and handled after categorizing
the cases. If the reported act involves criminal activities, it shall be
transferred to the judiciary authorities for handling according to the laws.
During the Year, the Group had no case involving criminal activities that
was required to be transferred to the judiciary authorities for handling.

Community Engagement

As a corporate citizen, China South City has been supporting and
engaging in community and charitable activities in order to achieve a
harmonious development between enterprise and the community.

o e
AREBEFEEELBRETATAMBRESHTR
TRES ZIHR B B T W78 R R (o] ] BE A M s T SR 91T
o RIFFRRHETHE  ARBERBARGE AR
URFBRBEANZERREF - SHERARTRL
NRFRFRMEN - IERFRE - AAEENTR
PR ERETHNERSEMMML - NE —RHERK
PSR - BERRAIBRBAEERIE - ERBRITAHSIIL
T - IHOEB R RVERBRIE - RAFE - AEH
BRESRILFRREXBEMBERIENEN -

HESHE
EREEAR  ERMBEBKERY2EME RS
EE  ERPEEMRBEROMEESE -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HSHEERRE (B)

Charity Donations

China South City cares about the society where it locates. During the
Year, it made charitable donations of approximately HK$2.4 million in
aggregate to various charitable organizations. Apart from charitable
donations, with the aims of improving the social environment and
promoting the development of the society, China South City, together
with Shenzhen Charity Foundation, established the Shenzhen Charity
Foundation e China South City Charity Fund (RYIT & Z= 2 eI &
=H%), committing to charitable functions regarding environmental
protection, education and elderly care services, poverty relief, disaster
relief and youngsters physical and mental health. During the Year, the
foundation engaged in various charitable activities, including:

e Nanning City Charity Day (2 M H)

e Guangxi Poverty Alleviation and Education Support Foundation (&
A& BN EEST)

e Poverty Alleviation Day of Guangdong (SR8 ER H)

e Green Shenzhen e Tree Planting Activity for Livable Home (4% ;% 3l|e
HERBRREREE)

EERE

EEPHAEMELR  YRNAEFERZEZSHIES
HIBHA2408 B TNREERN - B T EEB/FON
EFRERYMESEBTRILRNNEES « £3
BESED  NRSHERR  HPIHSERAT
EREBRRERE  HENREZRYE  KEE
RAKIEE  SAOFHORESEELREA o1
AEE  ZELG2ENEZ LY

T

=
i
3
o>y
g I
jui|

ERHKEER A
eERY| e BEFERREMEE)

Charitable donation campaigns
REBTED
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEHEERRE ()

Cultural and Recreational Activities

1.

CSC Nanchang - World-record-breaking Cycling Parade

As an incubation base of E-commerce business for university
students in Nanchang, CSC Nanchang, together with the Human
Resources and Social Security Bureau of Nanchang (FF & 1 A 1 &
JR ANt & 1R [E /5), the Communist Youth of Nanchang Committee
(5 ®F & ™ £) and Financial Bureau of Nanchang, organized
the 1st Cultural Festival for Mass Entrepreneurship and Innovation in
Nanchang cum 27 World-record-breaking Cycling Parade of China
SouthCity((HMETEEZAIX LB EERME —_ET A
B5 77 Pk Bt SR 42 $% ). It called on university students and citizens
to engage in Mass Entrepreneurship and Innovation ([ X 22 &l % &
R &l #7]) initiated by the State.

CSC Nanning — The Healthy Run for The 10t Nanning
International Half Marathon

CSC Nanning and the People’s Government of Jiangnan District,
Nanning co-organized the healthy run for the 10t Nanning
International Half Marathon (#5510/EF 2 BB L2 SR ALL
ZEf#F ). The activity attracted over 1,000 runners. Not only did
it raise the health awareness of the public, but also reflected China
South City’s care about community development.

AN Nﬂ
SN

World-record-breaking Cycling Parade
T ARTH Bt R a0k

)

0
“bh
V>

77
=
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MALERSEE

1-

MEERH - TARTHEERCHER
MEFERMIEREEMASREEFREBAIZERL
Hity - WFRAEMANERNMGRER - #£F
BREEMEZLEETHRES BRI METE
BRI EERME — BT ARTHEER
LERES - AR ARSERTREEER
R KR BIZEERAIH HIEH -

MEERY - LOEFI0EHEEREESH
ML ERER

MEEENEET IEEARBTEHS S
WMOAEE10ERERRFEF UL BRE
B WREBRSIBTEREF2E  EBHER
SMREREM G - TERERMHIHTRER
HBEE °

The Healthy Run for the 10t Nanning International Half Marathon
MEF10EEERR 2B AR BEER
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HSHEERRE (B)

Serving Community

1.

Incubation Base of E-commerce Business for University
Students

Echoing the State’s spirit of “encouraging entrepreneurship to
promote employment” ( [ EIAIZ - REBIETEHZE] ),
CSC Nanchang and CSC Zhengzhou, with the keen support from
the local governments and coupled with the local universities’
resources, separately established “Incubation Base of E-commerce
Business for University Students”. This nurtured E-commerce talents
and incubated entrepreneurship projects through providing the
undergraduates and fresh graduates with free facilities such as
office premises and computer network, professional E-commerce
trainings and seminars, concessionary operational policies and free
commercial promotional resources. Currently, the projects are co-
operating with many local tertiary institutions, providing numerous
university students with E-commerce trainings, and have assisted
them to establish E-commerce projects.

ARIEHE
1° ABEBFEBARFCER

RERBERZBAIE - (BERIEFEHIE
1o AR I ERRAES BT A N
XFET  #AEHSRER  HRIKIZTIKE
EEFREBEIZER R | ot EEBmER K
MIEXNRBLRTBERDIGH - ERERS
RERM - FENBRHFIIRGERE - EENER
BRESPENEFERERS  ETERATH
BENAFAEBR L - BA ZFRECERS
EHMAERIGETTEE MRS EARLERHEE
B - WEBASARTERHEAR -

Incubation base of E-commerce business for university students

RBEBFEBEIEM R

“Face-to-face with Famous Teachers” ( [ BETZERE ] )
Large-scale Charitable Seminar

To care for the students, CSC Hefei and the educational and legal
channel of the Hefei Broadcasting Television Station (& fEE &
BIRE - ZEEHIEE) jointly organized a large-scale charitable
seminar, entitled “Face-to-face with Famous Teachers” ( [ &l
ZJpEE | ), which invited famous teachers for national college
entrance examination from the local key high schools to give talks
and give advices to students regarding examination skills and mental
adjustment before the test, helping students to proactively cope
with the examination.

2

“Face-to-face with Famous Teachers” large-scale charitable seminar

LIRS AN N

[BEVEER KB NEHEE

REREL  ALERRBRAEEEERSE -
BEENAE AR B TER KR REE
B BREAMERHETSERMESEE 9
AT - BRIOREHESHELETTHRE - 1))
ELRERESEA -
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)
RIE - HEHEERRE ()

Distribution of Winter Heartwarming Packs from
One Foundation cum Warm Winter Campaign of CSC
Zhengzhou (EE X FRR BN EEMNERHELTE)
CSC Zhengzhou, together with One Foundation and Henan
Association of Emergency Assistance CAEE E2RIERE),
presented 500 heartwarming packs from One Foundation ([ &%
&P 1) and 200 caring gifts from China South City to children
who suffered from poverty and disaster in various cities in Henan
province, including Pingdingshan, Zhoukou, Anyang, Xinxiang and
Jiyuan, to comfort children living in the freezing disaster area.

3>

EESLTERERHEBMERTREL
T8

BMERRESES RTEEESERSETF
oA A FIEL - B0 - 26 - S RERE
A B R K RERRS0010 | EESREES IR
2000 EmMEERM - RERAEZER DR
BE o

Distribution of winter heartwarming packs from One Foundation
cum warm winter campaign of CSC Zhengzhou
SESLF AR X BN ERNELITE

Cool Summer HOBA's Charity Walk in Pengcheng
BR-EIFBFBRART
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Cool Summer HOBA's Charity Walk in Pengcheng
(BR—EHFEFBRAET)

Since its launch last year, "HOBA’s Charity Walk in Pengcheng”
( TFEEMEMA%77] ) has enjoyed wide support from the
general public and has been approved by government bodies such
as Shenzhen Environmental Hygiene Bureau and environmental
hygiene bureaus of each district. During the Year, HOBA organized
“Cool Summer HOBA's Charity Walk in Pengcheng” ([/&5—
B AFEENA%17]) again and distributed materials for relief
from summer heat and labour protection, including towels, gloves,
caps and mineral water to thousands of cleaning workers in major
communities in Shenzhen, with an aim to call upon every sector in
the community to respect and care the cleaning workers.

China South City Holdings Limited ZERFiHIZRGR A 7
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

VR CE: S

-
EY::

To the members of China South City Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China South
City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries set out
on pages 129 to 244, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2016, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

BERHERERATZRE
(REBEMALZ BRAA)

KRB ERYENE 129244 B ERHIER AR A
AITEAR D REWBRARMNEMISHRE  HPER
20163 A31HMERE M BT - REEZAILF
EREEEREER KA2HARER  HREeEmZHR
MEERERERAREBE ST BRI E R E b 387
EH e

EERGAMBRRARENER

BERREZARARBEESFHMASTRNTEY
BmEE REERREDIRERGIFE P B®RE
NV BREFLEEMAFHORKR - FOEEE
RRmEE A BRERM B BONEIES] - A
MEHMRNFAERPREFRERMEBH B RERR

it o

RBENEE
BANETRBERMNEREZSGREMBHRRE
RER - AMERBEEBRFUEDIFE405GERMT
(TFERER)W|E - Rt 2o BIEEME M o AzH
B A& AR E AR EAEMA LB ESFASEERA
BfE-

BRMERBEEE SRS TIEN B BB LERET
Tz o EERAEREFIETERRE - WARE B
TEZ  NARRENSHRAMBREEE T FAE
I EAFERRERAL ©
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Independent Auditors’ Report (Continued)
BB AR = ()

Auditors’ responsibility (Continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at
31 March 2016, and of their financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central

Hong Kong

27 June 2016
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mEBRmRK

Year ended 31 March 2016 & ZE 2016438318 IFFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2016 2015
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P s THET FAET

REVENUE PN 5 6,136,262 9,757,767
Cost of sales $HE R (3,177,209) (4,582,237)
Gross profit Sl 2,959,053 5,175,530
Other income and gains/(losses) Hug A R lzs (E518) 5 1,066,242 334,096
Fair value gains on investment properties wEMENFERE 5 3,232,699 2,398,531
Selling and distribution expenses HE MY HEAX (864,670) (721,991)
Administrative expenses 1TBRAX (1,177,180) (1,083,587)
Other expenses HAxk (152,525) (70,285)
Finance costs AR 7 (159,386) (165,595)
Share of profits and losses of: FEMR T 5 R R &5

Associates [ dl/NC] - (7.210)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BLATR 6 4,904,233 5,859,489
Income tax expenses FriS i sz 10 (1,370,457) (2,144,709)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEFRH 3,533,776 3,714,780
Attributable to: OB TTRE,

Owners of the parent SRARERA 3,537,012 3,727,872

Non-controlling interests JEFERS fE s (3,236) (13,092)

3,533,776 3,714,780

EARNINGS PER SHARE BERSAREER

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EREEAZ

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT BRER 12
Basic FoK
— for profit for the year — REEFH HK44.22 centsi&fll  HK48.73 cents/&{ll
Diluted e
— for profit for the year — ARFEF)HE HK44.05 centsifll  HK45.27 centsi&{ll
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meZEREE

Year ended 31 March 2016 & ZE 2016438318 IFFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEZFHE 3,533,776 3,714,780
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hi 2 EUEA
Other comprehensive (loss)/income to be BREZEEES BE B
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent H b2 (B8 )/
periods:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign & BIN EFKH
operations PE 5 =R (1,092,050) 58,537
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME REERBE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX Hitr2m (&8 ) /A (1,092,050) 58,537
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME REEHEZEBIA
FOR THE YEAR 2,441,726 3,773,317
Attributable to: THNE T FELL
Owners of the parent S ARER A 2,453,167 3,788,396
Non-controlling interests EEaliig (11,441) (15,079)
2,441,726 3,773,317
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

BaE FET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE N&E 13 1,507,155 1,328,231
Investment properties wEYZE 14 34,814,188 30,217,792
Properties under development BRI 15 4,252,854 3,697,166
Prepaid land lease payments SN b b ek 16 996,351 787,819
Goodwill HE 17 34,128 34,128
Investment in a joint venture R—REEDENRE 18 - 5,079
Investments in associates REEZE R R IE 19 60,310 34,834
Available-for-sale investments A HESRIIRE 20 175,512 175,500
Other long-term receivables H b = HAfE W skoE 21 4,179 8,860
Deposits paid for purchase of land use rights BE i E A MHIES 22 403,144 1,225,250
Deferred tax assets RIENIBE E 35 2,145,347 1,475,323
Total non-current assets ERBEEME 44,393,168 38,990,032
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Properties held for finance lease FERERSEME 168,524 297,940
Properties held for sale EEHEME 23 25,179,046 22,969,976
Trade receivables FEUE SRR 24 1,149,273 1,636,626
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FENIE - 128 REAMERFZIE 25 781,260 653,785
Held-for-trading investments FEiBEEA AT AR

at fair value through profit or loss BIEEERE 26 27,365 32,890

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash & MRS ZEY LRI REIE S 27 11,686,695 8,672,722
Total current assets MEEELRE 38,992,163 34,263,939
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENRIE 28 13,269,724 13,534,665
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SESERTREMESE 29 7,656,878 6,824,949
Short-term notes e EIRLE 5 30 2,525,460 2,750,880
Tax payables FER R IE 4,569,111 5,235,130
Total current liabilities mENBELARE 28,021,173 28,345,624
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEEFE 10,970,990 5,918,315
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥EZERADARS 55,364,158 44,908,347

Annual Report 2015/16 4§



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

R BRI R ()

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

31 March 2016
20163 H31H

31 March 2015
201543 A31H

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P FTHET BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STRRITERHEMES 29 8,965,863 8,640,398
Senior notes BEEE 31 4,113,363 4,082,811
Medium-term notes hERZ 32 5,026,696 2,704,226
Corporate bonds TEES 33 1,891,219 =
Domestic company bonds BARAIMES 34 3,629,086 -
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIB & E 35 5,369,466 4,459,096
Total non-current liabilities IFRE R EHEH 28,995,693 19,886,531
Net assets BEFE 26,368,465 25,021,816
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent [SYNCIE PS PNy o
Share capital [N 36 7,043,784 7,034,761
Other reserves H A 39 19,134,733 17,832,208
26,178,517 24,866,969
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M A 189,948 154,847
Total equity RSB 26,368,465 25,021,816
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

I‘/T\

BRARE TR

Year ended 31 March 2016 & ZE 2016438318 IFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAREEAEE
Equity
component
Statutory Share  Exchange of Non-
Share  surplus option  fluctuation Capital Revaluation ~ Retained convertible controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits notes Total interests equity
TaR
R BRE EX Ef g5 FER
BE  BHERE B RERE E18E BE RENE  EERO a5t BE EREE
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i T T Thx Thx T T T T Thr T T
Note (i)
Hii()
At 1 April 2014 201454718 4,684,476 684,711 85157 1397501  (232,690) 28645 13,026,534 37,360 19,969,505 174,640 20,144,145
Profitfor the year KEEFE - - = 3,721,872 3721872 (13092) 3714780
Other comprehensive income for the year: ~ AEEEM2EMA :
Exchange differences on translation of BERNERY
foreign operations ERZR - - - 60,524 - - - - 60,524 (1,987) 58,537
Total comprehensive income for the year KEEAZARA - - - 60,524 - - 3721812 - 3,7883% (15,079 3,773,317
Capital contribution from non-controling FHERRREER
shareholders e - - - - 5211 - - - 5211 8,921 14132
Acaisition of non-controling interests of WM EARNIEER
subsidiaries = - - - - - - - - - (13635 (13,639
Exercise of Tencent call options IR ERE 851,904 - - - - - - - 851,904 - 851,904
Conversion of convertible notes TARERER 1,045,292 = = = = = - (37360) 1,007,932 - 1,007,932
Evercise of share options ke 38 453,089 - (62917) = = = = - 390,172 - 390,172
Lapse of share options BRERK 38 - - (215) - - - 215 - - - -
Equity-settled share option arrangement INEREENBRER S 38 - - 90,742 - - - - - 90,742 - 90,742
Shares repurchased iy mEE - - - - - - (150,619) - (150619 - (150,619)
Final 2014 dividend paid Ef014FRSRE = = = = = - (1,086,274) - (1,086.274) - (1,086.274)
Transfer from retained profits ERORATE - 39,369 - - - - (39,369) - - -
At31 March 2015 2015634318 7034761 1,081,080%  112,767F 1458,025% (227479  286,456* 15,121,359* - 24,866,969 154,847 25,021,816
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Continued)

maEnSER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2016 & ZE 2016438318 IFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SAUHEARE
Statutory Share  Exchange Non-
Share surplus option fluctuation Capital Revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
EE BRE EX Eff FER

Ba  BHER fafé
Notes  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
i FiEL FiEL FiEL

ROfFE  ERGRE i REARE &t BE  BEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEL TiEL FiEL TiEL TiEL TEL TiEL

Note (i)

iRH)
At 1 April 2015 R201584F18 7,034,761 1,081,080 112,767 1,458,025 (227,479) 286,456 15,121,359 24,866,969 154847 25,021,816
Profitfor the year REEFHE - - - - = - 3537012 3537012 (3235) 3533776
Other comprehensive loss for the year: AEEEMRERE :

Exchange differences on translation of HEBNERH
foreign operations ERzR - - - (1,083,845 - - - (1,083,845 (8,205)  (1,092,050)

Total comprehensive income for the year KEEEZARA - - - (1,083,849) = - 3537012 2,493,167 (11,441) 2,441,726
Capital contribution from non-controling shareholders  EERRREIAAHE - - - - (46,542) - - (46,542) 46,542 =
Evercise of share options fritElkiE 8 9,023 - (1,164) - - - - 7859 - 7,859
Lapse of share options BIRELR 38 = = (126) = = = 126 = = =
Equity-settled share option amangement INEREENRRER 3 - - 29,341 - - - - 29,341 = 29,341
Shares repurchased BrilEE 3% - - - - - - (160D (11602 - (11602
Final 2015 dividend paid BR015ERERE = = = = = - (1,120,675 (1,120,675) - (1120675)
Transfer from retained profits BRERATE - 263,686 - - - - (263,686) - - -
At 31 March 2016 R2016%3A31H 7,043,784 1,344,766* 140,818* 374,180* (274,021 286,456* 17,062,534*  26,178517 189,948 26,368,465
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* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of
HK$19,134,733,000 (31 March 2015: HK$17,832,208,000) in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Note:

(i) In accordance with the PRC Company Law, the Company’s subsidiaries
registered in the PRC are required to appropriate 10% of the annual statutory
profit after tax (after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the statutory surplus
reserve. When the balance of this reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s
registered capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus
reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to increase capital.
However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at
a minimum of 25% of the registered capital after such usages.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

AERETMER

Year ended 31 March 2016 & ZE 2016438318 IFFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZ3A31HILLEE
2016 2015
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BiEE FHER FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES @& ZBHHRERE
Profit before tax A5t Al ) 4,904,233 5,859,489
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs ELEVD#N 7 159,386 165,595
Share of profits and losses of associates FEAEE & N E)FE M E1E = 7,210
Bank interest income AT B A 5 (85,947) (68,996)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEMZE - BEKEZEEER
plant and equipment 5B 6 61 114
Depreciation e 6 150,885 93,265
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments — FE{< 1t H FH & 8 4 6 23,618 14,823
Changes in fair value of investment properties & )% A V(4% 5 (3,232,699) (2,398,531)
Provision for/(reversal of provision for) JEWZ SERFURBE R,
impairment of trade receivables (e B4E) 6 96,660 (16,400)
Loss on disposal of a joint venture BRE—R&EAREE 6 4,959 =
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries REMEAREE 6 444 -
Fair value losses/(gains), net: NFEEE, (Wes) - F5E
Derivative financial instrument TSR TA 5 - (151,915)
Held-for-trading investments at fair value FBBERARNTFENEZ
through profit or loss, net BIEEERE 5 5,525 (3,770)
Dividend income from held-for-trading BEERAANFETIERZ
investments at fair value through profit or BIEEEREN
loss g 2N (1,053) (195)
Equity-settled share option expense LARE = 45 B B IR 6 29,341 90,742
2,055,413 3,591,431
Decrease/(increase) in properties held for sale  #{E$SEMER L (3L HN) 1,793,122 (2,841,920)
Decrease/(increase) in properties held for BEREREMERL (L)
finance lease 233,976 (51,421)
Decrease in other long-term receivables H b R EAFE W R IR R > 4,342 9,158
Decrease in trade receivables FEWE 5 RRRR 328,128 1,192,361
Increase in prepayments, AR « RE REMW
deposits and other receivables FEWRIEIE AN (152,468) (61,818)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash SRR E (380), (993,890) 58,356
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 REMEMNFRIE
other payables CR ) /8 hn (599,346) 708,071
Cash generated from operations KRBTSR & 2,669,277 2,604,218
Overseas taxes paid B8 INRIE (1,481,940) (1,217,408)
Net cash flows from operating activities KBTI SR AT 1,187,337 1,386,810
Annual Report 2015/16 &3
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
SRR RER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2016 & ZE 2016438318 IFFE

For the year ended 31 March

BZ3A31HILLEE
2016 2015
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BiEE FERT BT
Net cash flows from operating activities KBRS M AFE 1,187,337 1,386,810
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES #®REZERLRE
Purchases of items of property, HBEYE  BEX
plant and equipment FfEEE (38,390) (84,127)
Dividends received from held-for-trading BiEBR AR TEEREZ
investments at fair value through profit or loss ~ #H{EB ER & WK & 1,053 195
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME  BENMREEE
plant and equipment FriS 5838 6,392 3,124
Purchase of available-for-sale investments BEIHLESRINE (12) (175,500)
Investments in associates REEE R AR E (26,760) (30,733)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W RSP E A R FRIE AR i 2
of subsidiaries - (239,342)
Proceeds received from disposal of subsidiaries & B{E A A TS I8 10,246 139,261
Net advances to a joint venture —RAEDEMERFEE - (3,349)
Additions to properties under development BRERAVERNE (5,423,894) (12,022,895)
Additions to prepaid land lease payments TS At S FH S 38 0 (83,019) =
Interest received B HFIE 5 85,947 68,996
Net cash flows used in investing activities &R SRR (5,468,437) (12,344,370)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES @& ZERERE
Issue of medium-term notes TR EIE S 32 2,415,662 2,483,550
Issue of corporate bonds BITREES 33 1,787,980 =
Issue of short-term notes EITREHIRE A 30 2,559,480 2,750,880
Issue of domestic company bonds BIIBENARIES 34 3,582,545 =
Capital contribution from non-controlling IR IR HE
shareholders - 8,921
Shares repurchased & [B1HE 36 (11,602) (150,619)
Payment for interest on senior notes BREZERNBNR 31 (389,024) (389,024)
Payment for interest on convertible notes AIHARR SRR H SRR = (31,688)
Payment for interest on medium-term notes R ERSRIR I SR 32 (196,953) -
Payment for interest on short-term notes R EARNE S5 A B4 5K (135,995) =
Repayment of short-term notes EREHRES (2,698,740) =
New bank and other borrowings FTEERTT REAME K 10,800,504 9,346,170
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EEIRIT R EMEK (9,051,904) (6,370,970)
Exercise of share options 1T{E BB AR 7,859 390,171
Exercise of Tencent call options 1T RN B AR i - 822,528
Dividends paid Papii e (1,120,675) (1,086,274)
Interest paid BAAFLE (990,380) (960,997)
Net cash flows from financing activities BB EEIRESMAFEE 6,558,757 6,812,648
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND BERBESEEYE N
CASH EQUIVALENTS CR2)HEE 2,277,657 (4,144,912)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F#1HR S MRS EEY 27 7,253,469 11,303,044
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ R B EH S 2 540 (203,319) 95,337
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERNRERASEEY
AT END OF YEAR 9,327,807 7,253,469
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF RERRESENERDN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents BE NRESEEY 27 9,327,807 7,253,469

136

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BAFEERAR MY RE

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

1. Corporate and Group Information

China South City Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The registered office
of the Company is located at Room 2205, 22/F, Sun Life Tower, The
Gateway, 15 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) were principally engaged in the
development and operation of large-scale integrated logistics and

trade centers, development of residential and commercial ancillary

facilities, property management and the provision of E-commerce,

outlet operations, logistics and warehousing services.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Nominal value of

1. REAIRAEEER

ERPIERBR AR ([ ARR ) EEB ML
RERAR » ARRZMMEELNEENBE
RYEERESHBEAEKAS B AE 221
2205% -

FA - AR REME AT (S AEER DR
NEERIELEAIVEABEYREEET L
REBEBELERE MEEEAREHRETRD
g RERENEE - MRRA R o

MY A R E R
AARMEENBAR BT -

Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of
registration and capital asat  incorporation/  equity attributable
Name business 31 March 2016 registration to the Company Principal activities
£8 MR/ ERE R201653A318 AL/ ARAEE  TEER
e BRTLE/AR  EmAS BEADM
BAEE
Direct Indirect
B HE
% %

China South International Industrial Materials City  The People’s Republic HK$2,200,000,000 18 December 2002 100 - Development and operation of
(Shenzhen) Company Limited (ii)iv) of China (“PRC")/ 2,200,000,000%7  18-12-2002 integrated logistics trade centers
("China South International”) Mainland China GREENTRERR L

ERERTERAHRNER ARV VAN FERES
(B

Nanchang China South City Company PRC/Mainland China Renminbi ("RMB") 16 November 2007 = 100 Development and operation of
Limited (i)(iv) RE/REARE 1,100,000,000  16-11-2007 integrated logistics trade centers

BEEENERA )W) AR1,100,000,0007T TaBEMR kAR ST

REREE

Nanning China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 28 August 2009 = 100 Development and operation of

Limited (i)(v) B/ REAE  AK#1000,000,0000  28-08-2009 integrated logistics trade centers

AEERHNBRAHW)

EARENRRARZ AT
R LER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

1.

Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1. RERAEEER @)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARER &)
Nominal value of
Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of
registration and capital asat  incorporation/  equity attributable
Name business 31 March 2016 registration to the Company Principal activities
&8 MR ERE R2016%3A318  EMEL/ ARAEE  XEER
ey BRTLE/AR  ERmAS BEADM
BAEE
Direct Indirect
ER  BE
% %
Xi"an China South City Company Limited (ii) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 12 November 2009 - 100 Development and operation of
PR AR A i) R/ REARE AK™1,000,000,000  12-11-2009 integrated logistics trade centers
FABENRRARZZTDL
REREE
Harbin China South City Company Limited (iii) PRC/Mainland China RMB1,500,000,000 9 January 2012 = 100 Development and operation of
BREEER AR hE/hEAE  AE#1500,000,000  09-01-2012 integrated logistics trade centers
TaBEMRRARRZ ST
REREE
Harbin Baolitong Market Development PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000,000 22 December 2011 = 100 Development and operation of
Management Company Limited (i) R /B AR%500,000000  22-12-2011 integrated logistics trade centers
RAEENBET SR EERAR A HRBEMRRARZ ST
FEREE
Zhengzhou China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000,000 17 May 2012 = 100 Development and operation of
Limited i)iv) mE/REAE  AR#1,000,000,000  17-05-2012 integrated logistics trade centers
ey =N (1) ) FaBENRRARR SR
FEREE
Hefei China South City Company Limited (i){iv) ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB600,000,000 25 December 2012 - 100 Development and operation of
RIEE AR e/ hEARE ARE600,000,0000  25-12-2012 integrated logistics trade centers
FRBENRRARZ SR
FERES
Chongaing China South City Company PRC/Mainland China RMB800,304,400/ 27 December 2013 - 100 Development and operation of
Limited (ii)(iv) R /AR RMB1,000,000,000  27-12-2013 integrated logistics trade centers

ERERAER )W)

AE800,304,4007/
AKE1,000,000,0007

RABENRRBRZAT L
FERER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

1. RREIRAEEER ()

Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARER &)
Nominal value of
Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of
registration and capital asat  incorporation/  equity attributable
Name business 31 March 2016 registration to the Company Principal activities
&8 MR ERE R2016%3A318  EMEL/ ARAEE  XEER
ey BRALE/HR  2MAS BHAAL
BAEE
Direct Indirect
ER  BE
% %
Shenzhen Huasheng Commercial Development ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 19 November 2010 - 100 Management of outlet operations
Company Limited (ii) RE/FEAR AE50,000,0007  19-11-2010 R RABZEEEE
AYEEEXZRER AR
Shenzhen China South City E-Commerce PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 19 April 2012 = 100 Development, operation and
Technology Company Limited (i) R /B AR%100,000000  19-04-2012 management of E-commerce
R ER AR AR AR platform
ETHETARE BERER
Shenzhen First Asia Pacific Property Management ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 31 December 2003 25 97.5 Provision of property management
Company Limited (i) hE /R EAR AR#50,000,000C  31-12-2003 services
R E-BANEERERAA) REMEERRE
Qianlong Logistics Group Limited (iii) PRC/Mainland China RMB200,000,000 2 July 2004 - 100 Provision of logistics services
SRS BA R D) I/ EAR AK#200,000,0000  02-07-2004 RS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

1.

Corporate and Group Information (Continued) 1. ARIREEFER (®)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARER &)
Nominal value of
Place of issued ordinary/
incorporation/ registered share  Date of Percentage of
registration and capital asat  incorporation/  equity attributable
Name business 31 March 2016 registration to the Company Principal activities
&8 MR ERE R2016%3A318  EMEL/ ARAEE  XEER
ey BRALE/HR  2MAS BEADM
BAEE
Direct Indirect
ER  BE
% %
Shenzhen HOBA Home Furnishing Chain Store ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB480,000,000 12 October 2001 - 75 Furnishing market operation
Company Limited (if)v) HE /R E AR ARHE480,000,0007T  12-10-2001 FERESER
AT B EREEHRAER D))
China South City Management Company Hong Kong HK$1 9 November 2007 = 100 Provision of management services
Limited i 1%L 09-11-2007 RHEERE
EMHEEARAT
China South City Group Company Limited (ii) PRC/Mainland China RMB300,000,000 20 July 2004 = 100 Investment holding
B NG () i/ EAR AKH300,000,0000  20-07-2004 REMAR
Notes: BT
(i) Sino-foreign equity joint ventures under PRC law. (i) FEEETHRIEGELENRF
(i) Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. @iy  HPEUERTHINGBERE -
(i) Limited companies under PRC law. (i) FEBUERERTHERAR °
(iv)  Pursuant to certain project and land related contracts signed by vy BEANEENEAREEMENENETIER

the subsidiaries of the Group and the local governments, as well as
pursuant to the requirements of the local governments and the local
authorities related to the relevant public tender, auction and listing,
some of the land acquired have sales restrictions on properties built
on it. The saleable area of trade centers of CSC Shenzhen is limited
to 30% of the total buildable gross floor area (“GFA") of properties
built on the relevant parcels of land. The saleable area of trade centers
and logistics facilities built on certain parcels of land acquired by CSC
Nanchang and CSC Nanning in 2010 is limited to 60% of the relevant
total buildable GFA. The saleable area of trade centers built by CSC
Hefei and CSC Chongging is limited to 50% of their relevant total
buildable GFA. The saleable area of trade centers of phase | and future
phases of CSC Zhengzhou are limited to 60% and 50% respectively of
the relevant total buildable GFA. Except for the restrictions mentioned
herein, there is no sales restriction on other parcels of land acquired by
the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.1

Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(v)  Pursuant to an agreement entered into with Shenzhen HOBA Home
Furnishing Chain Store Company Limited (“HOBA Furnshing”) in July
2013, the Group has agreed to subscribe for 360,000,000 shares
of HOBA Furnishing at a total consideration of RMB522,210,000. In
November 2013, the Group subscribed for 72,000,000 shares in HOBA
Furnishing, which was satisfied by cash of RMB104,442,000 (equivalent
to HK$132,861,000). During the year, the Group further subscribed for
288,000,000 shares of HOBA Furnishing, which was satisfied by cash
of RMB52,221,000 (equivalent to HK$63,647,000) and investment
properties with fair value in aggregate of RMB365,547,000 (equivalent
to HK$445,529,000). As of 31 March 2016, the Group has acquired a
75% equity interest in HOBA Furnishing.

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, except for investment properties and
held-for-trading investments at fair value through profit or loss,
which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2016. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled
by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

2.1

NAEIRAEEER (&)
MEBATER (@)
WisE : (4)

(v)  BEERIWFEFREEERNERARN (&
BEREI)R201357 AFTRI L - A%
B[R ERE LT B FR/E /360,000,000 &%
BREARARYKS522,210,0007T ° R2013F 11
A AEEB BT ARMKE104,442,0007T (HHZF
132,861,000 7t ) 72 B8 72,000,000 i& 4F & F
RERRD - RAFR - AEENREEARK
52,221,000 (174 63,647,000 70) & A FE
AR #365,547,0007T (18 % 7 445,529,0007% 7T)
HY1% & M) % 7R 8% 288,000,000 47 B F R JE B9
f&15 - R201653A318 » AEBFEFEHER
JE75% RS ©

AR ELYE
ZERBHRRIBEEREGAM A (RS
B DM BN BHEER ([ BB
SEAD (BT REMBEEMBRE L - &
AEFER([FEGTER]) kRE) FER
REFRUREBAFTRIIZ AEMRE - Wi
BEERAERE  EREMEREBERARTF
BIRZ FHEEBIRER A FEFTERIBRI - B
AR - WEPMBERERIABITES - AEE
BEHEHERAAESEI TR -

meERE

BB HRRBEANEEE E2016F3A318 1E
FENTERE - MBAR AR R EESREE
THOER(BEEREER) EAEEEASR
ZH2HEEHREBMENIZER - BB
BEHRESRNE N (AT ASEEBRGENE
B EUWRBAEDHMETERN) ¥ EZ SRR
B - BNEUSHRHIAE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.1 REEE )

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

142

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangement; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.1 REEE )

2.1 Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of
any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee

2.2

mEEEE)

RS R ENBARMIEHE - BIGRIFRER
(VZMBARMEE(RERNE)RERE (VI
SEERRRIE S BRI E ¢ (i) ET A 260 REHE
HERE WERODURENARE  ()E TR
RBREODAE  RGVERMEETAERE
MRS - %ATE R EM 2 ERARROA
EEELEDS  DIRBAEEEEHERREE
REGBSFIRTHERESE  EEENBERTE
AR BRTURBFIE -

STHRNBEREE
FEEE R E RIS R & R T oIS
ST -

BREGTERF 1955 REFFTE - 1L HH

Contributions ZIEET
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle 2010 Z2012 F R E B & ER 2 F/Z
2

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The nature and the impact of each amendment is described below:
(@ Amendments to HKAS 19 apply to contributions from
employees or third parties to defined benefit plans. The
amendments simplify the accounting for contributions that
are independent of the number of years of employee service,
for example, employee contributions that are calculated
according to a fixed percentage of salary. If the amount of
the contributions is independent of the number of years of
service, an entity is permitted to recognise such contributions
as a reduction of service cost in the period in which the related
service is rendered. The amendments have had no impact on
the Group as the Group does not have defined benefit plans.

201 149F 22013 F H B & B 53R & ER 2 F )&
2

BREFI RRBZ EE R EHANT

BREGTENE1SRETAERMES K
FEFRE=RRERNETEMR - ZERT
AEEBULNME B REFHOHEROEE

BIE - in{E B MR IR & 1 B E LL
T8 - MtREBBLINREFH - B
BRI AEREBRHEARRGHRESEEH
RHERRREKANERIR - BRAEE
I EAEFSFERAGE - MR FETLE
HAEERBREMTE -

(a)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)
(b) The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle issued
in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs.
Details of the amendments that are effective for the current
year are as follows:

o HKFRS 8 Operating Segments: Clarifies that an entity
must disclose the judgements made by management in
applying the aggregation criteria in HKFRS 8, including
a brief description of operating segments that have
been aggregated and the economic characteristics
used to assess whether the segments are similar. The
amendments also clarify that a reconciliation of segment
assets to total assets is only required to be disclosed if the
reconciliation is reported to the chief operating decision
maker. The amendments have had no impact on the
Group.

° HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and HKAS 38
Intangible Assets: Clarifies the treatment of gross carrying
amount and accumulated depreciation or amortisation
of revalued items of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets. The amendments have had no impact
on the Group as the Group does not apply the revaluation
model for the measurement of these assets.

o HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures: Clarifies that a
management entity (i.e., an entity that provides key
management personnel services) is a related party subject
to related party disclosure requirements. In addition,
an entity that uses a management entity is required to
disclose the expenses incurred for management services.
The amendment has had no impact on the Group as the
Group does not receive any management services from
other entities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)
(©)  The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle issued
in January 2014 sets out amendments to a number of HKFRSs.
Details of the amendments that are effective for the current
year are as follows:

° HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies that joint
arrangements but not joint ventures are outside the
scope of HKFRS 3 and the scope exception applies only
to the accounting in the financial statements of the
joint arrangement itself. The amendment is applied
prospectively. The amendment has had no impact on the
Group as the Company is not a joint arrangement and
the Group did not form any joint arrangement during the
year.

e HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: Clarifies that the
portfolio exception in HKFRS 13 can be applied not only
to financial assets and financial liabilities, but also to
other contracts within the scope of HKFRS 9 or HKAS 39 as
applicable. The amendment is applied prospectively from
the beginning of the annual period in which HKFRS 13
was initially applied. The amendment has had no impact
on the Group as the Group does not apply the portfolio
exception in HKFRS 13.

° HKAS 40 Investment Property: Clarifies that HKFRS 3,
instead of the description of ancillary services in HKAS
40 which differentiates between investment property
and owner-occupied property, is used to determine if
the transaction is a purchase of an asset or a business
combination. The amendment is applied prospectively for
acquisitions of investment properties. The amendment
has had no impact on the Group as the acquisition of
investment properties during the year was not a business
combination and so this amendment is not applicable.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-i%#ﬁﬁ BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,

2.3 BEMHEMKE NN BB BREE

El
ASEEI R UL SR B P IRALA T ERMB(E

that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

HKFRS 9
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28
(2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 11

HKFRS 14

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKAS 27
(2011)

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Financial Instruments?
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture'

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception'

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations'

Regulatory Deferral Accounts*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

Leases?

Disclosure Initiative'

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation
and Amortisation’

Agriculture: Bearer Plants'

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements'

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs!
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1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
4 Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual financial

statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 and therefore is not
applicable to the Group
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)
Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of HKFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments project to
replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the standard upon adoption and expects that the
adoption of HKFRS 9 will have an impact on the classification and
measurement of the Group’s financial assets. Further information
about the impact will be available nearer the implementation date of
the standard.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 April 2016.

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer of an interest
in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation
constitutes a business must apply the relevant principles for business
combinations in HKFRS 3. The amendments also clarify that a
previously held interest in a joint operation is not remeasured on the
acquisition of an additional interest in the same joint operation while
joint control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to HKFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do not apply
when the parties sharing joint control, including the reporting entity,
are under common control of the same ultimate controlling party.
The amendments apply to both the acquisition of the initial interest
in a joint operation and the acquisition of any additional interests in
the same joint operation. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group
upon adoption on 1 April 2016.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)
HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods
or services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue.
The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total revenue,
information about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key judgements
and estimates. The standard will supersede all current revenue
recognition requirements under HKFRSs. In September 2015, the
HKICPA issued an amendment to HKFRS 15 regarding a one-year
deferral of the mandatory effective date of HKFRS 15 to 1 January
2018. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 April 2018 and is
currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

HKFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases for the lessee and the lessor to
a contract. For the lessee, HKFRS 16 introduces a single accounting
model for all leases, with certain exemptions, which requires
the lessee to recognise most leases in the statement of financial
position. For the lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the
lessor accounting requirements in HKAS 17. HKFRS 16 is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and early
adoption is permitted if HKFRS 15 has also been applied. The Group is
yet to assess the full impact of HKFRS 16.

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus improvements in
respect of the presentation and disclosure in financial statements.
The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or loss and the
statement of financial position may be disaggregated,;

(iii) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they
present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of associates
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method must
be presented in aggregate as a single line item, and classified
between those items that will or will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-i%#ﬁi BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)
Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements that apply
when additional subtotals are presented in the statement of financial
position and the statement of profit or loss. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 April 2016. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle in HKAS
16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of economic benefits
that are generated from operating business (of which the asset is
part) rather than the economic benefits that are consumed through
the use of the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and may only
be used in very limited circumstances to amortise intangible assets.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The amendments
are not expected to have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group upon adoption on 1 April 2016 as the
Group has not used a revenue-based method for the calculation of
depreciation of its non-current assets.

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term interest
of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control
over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent
of the parties sharing control.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)
The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting
policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when there
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate
or joint venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between
the Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition
of associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant influence
over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at its fair value.
Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and
the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is classified

as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-ﬁ%#ﬁ‘%% BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition
date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values
of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the
non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets in the event of liquidation either at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation
in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances
and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value and any
resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount recognised
for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the Group’s
previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the identifiable
net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-ﬁ%#ﬁ‘%% BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the
Group's cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or
group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-i%#ﬁ‘%% BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed
in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets, investment properties and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-i%#ﬁ‘%% BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% to 9%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9% to 18%
Motor vehicles 9% to 18%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)
Construction in progress represents buildings under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for a property which
would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property)
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment
properties are included in the statement of profit or loss in the year
in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year
of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property
becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such
property in accordance with the policy stated under “Property,
plant and equipment and depreciation” up to the date of change in
use, and any difference at that date between the carrying amount
and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and
equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from properties
under development to investment properties, any difference
between the fair value of the property at that date and its previous
carrying amount is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Properties under development
Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost comprises the land costs, construction
costs, capitalised borrowing costs and other costs directly attributed
to such properties during the period of construction.

Properties under development are initially classified as non-current
assets and transferred to current assets under the category of
properties held for sale when the construction of the relevant
properties commences and the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to complete within normal
operating cycle.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the
minimum lease payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing.
Assets held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are included in property, plant
and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms
and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under
operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals
receivable under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where
the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of
any incentives received from the lessor are charged to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially

stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial
investments, or loans and receivables. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets,
except in the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through
profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial
assets held-for-trading. Financial assets are classified as held-for-
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair
value presented as other income and gains. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on these
financial assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial recognition
and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are satisfied.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes
fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss in finance
costs for loans and in other expenses for receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt securities.
Equity investments classified as available for sale are those which
are neither classified as held-for-trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those
which are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response
to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or losses
recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss as other income, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is
reclassified from the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
to the statement of profit or loss as other gains or losses. Interest
and dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend income,
respectively and are recognised in the statement of profit or loss as
other income in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such
investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group may
elect to reclassify these financial assets if management has the ability
and intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or until
maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale category,
the fair value carrying amount at the date of reclassification becomes
its new amortised cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over
the remaining life of the investment using the effective interest rate.
Any difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to
be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to
the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-i%#ﬁ‘%% BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e therights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received
cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have an
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses
whether impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of
financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues
to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the
reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring
the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic
prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-ﬁ%#ﬁ‘%% BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment
loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to other expenses
in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence
that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of an investment below its cost. “Significant”
is evaluated against the original cost of the investment and
“prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been
below its original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss —
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the statement
of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)
The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among
other factors, the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the
case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
senior notes, short-term notes, medium-term notes, corporate
bonds, domestic company bonds and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
short-term notes, medium-term notes, corporate bonds, senior
notes, and domestic company bonds are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Properties held for sale and held for finance
lease
Properties held for sale and held for finance lease include completed
properties held for sale and held for finance lease and properties
under development expected to be completed within normal
operating cycle. Properties held for sale and held for finance lease
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost includes
land costs, all development expenditure, applicable borrowing costs
and other direct costs attributable to such properties. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to the prevailing market prices, on
an individual property basis.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-ﬁ%#ﬁ‘%% BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Income tax
Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused
tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to the statement of profit
or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced
depreciation charge or over the benefits received by the Group
related to such assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@ from the sale of properties, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the properties sold;

(b) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms;

() finance lease income, when the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the properties have been transferred
to the lessee;

(d) property management service and other revenue, when the
services have been rendered;

(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(f)  income from E-commerce and the provision of logistics and
warehousing services, when the services have been rendered.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as
consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
an external valuer using an appropriate pricing model, further details
of which are given in note 38 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled in employee
benefit expense. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has
expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into
account when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but
the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within
the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award,
but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the
fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional
share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their respective payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Following the
implementation of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622), proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measures at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)
The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates
The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on
an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that
it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Transfer from properties under development to investment
properties

Properties under development are transferred to investment
properties when there is a change in use with sufficient evidence.
The Group determines whether a change in use has occurred based
on an assessment of all relevant facts and circumstances, which
include but are not limited to: (a) a business plan that reflects the
future rental income generated by the property; (b) the resources
to hold and manage an investment property; (c) legal permissibility
for the change in use; (d) the commencement of development if
the property requires further development for the change in use.
Any excess of fair value over the original carrying amount of such
properties at the date of transfer was recognised as current year
profit or loss.

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement.
Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets
held by the Group. Some properties comprise a portion that is held
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold separately or
leased out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately,
the property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services
are so significant that a property does not qualify as an investment
property.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
March 2016 was HK$34,128,000 (2015: HK$34,128,000). Further
details are given in note 17.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged Savills Valuation and Professional Services
Limited (“Savills”), independent professionally qualified valuers, to
perform the valuation of the Group’s investment properties at the
end of the reporting period. The carrying amount of investment
properties at 31 March 2016 was HK$34,814,188,000 (2015:
HK$30,217,792,000). Further details are given in note 14.

Impairment allowances for trade receivables and other
receivables

The Group estimates the impairment allowances for trade receivables
and other receivables by assessing the recoverability based on
credit history and prevailing market conditions. This requires the
use of estimates and judgements. Allowances are applied to trade
receivables and other receivables where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may not be collectible.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, the
difference will affect the carrying amounts of trade receivables and
other receivables and thus the impairment loss in the period in
which the estimate is changed. The Group reassesses the impairment
allowance at the end of each reporting period. At 31 March 2016,
the aggregate carrying amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables were HK$1,644,268,000 (2015: HK$2,082,857,000).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty(Continued)

Land appreciation tax

Under the Provisional Regulations on Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT")
implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional Regulations of the
PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains arising from the transfer of real
estate properties in Mainland China with effect from 1 January 1994
are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60%
on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from sales
of properties less deductible expenditures including land use rights,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaging in the property development
business in Mainland China are subject to LAT, which has been
included in income tax. However, the implementation of these taxes
varies amongst various Mainland China cities and the Group has not
finalised its LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises these liabilities based on management’s best estimates.
When the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax and provisions for land appreciation taxes in the period
in which the determination is made.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends pursuant
to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax
is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. Further
details are given in note 35.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 March 2016 201643 A31H

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised tax losses
at 31 March 2016 was HK$355,795,000 (2015: HK$152,803,000).
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2016 was
HK$652,542,000 (2015: HK$452,875,000). Further details are
contained in note 35 to the financial statements.

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has five reportable
operating segments as follows:

(@) the property development segment engages in the development
of integrated logistics and trade centers and residential and
commercial ancillary facilities;

(b) the property investment segment invests in integrated logistics
and trade centers and residential and commercial ancillary
facilities;

(c) the property management segment engages in the management
of the Group'’s developed properties;

(d) the E-commerce segment engages in the development, operations
and maintenance of an E-commerce platform; and

(e) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the provision of

advertising, exhibition, logistics and warehousing services,
outlet operations and other services.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

Operating Segment Information (Continued)
Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/(loss),
which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted
profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the Group's
profit before tax except that interest income, finance costs, fair
value gains from the Group's financial instruments, head office and
corporate expenses are excluded from this measurement.

Segment assets exclude cash and cash equivalents, equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss and other unallocated
head office and corporate assets as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, short-term notes, medium-term notes,
corporate bonds, domestic company bonds, tax payables and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

No geographical segment analysis is presented as the majority of
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
which is considered as one geographical location in an economic
environment with similar risks and returns.

There was no single customer to the revenue derived from which
amounted to 10% or more of the Group’s revenue during the year
ended 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4, REFBERE)
Year ended 31 March 2016 Property Property Property
BZE2016F3A310 L FE development investment  management  E-commerce Others Total
NELR NERE nEgR ) A &t
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Tén
Segment revenue: AHUA
Sales to external customers HIREHE 4,715,703 681,314 27,121 202,184 289,340 6,136,262
Intersegment sales AHEEE - 30,058 - 146,228 14,051 190,337
4,715,703 11312 247,121 348,412 303,391 6,326,599
Elimination of intersegment sales DEERELH (190,337)
Revenue WA 6,136,262
Segment results before increase in fairvalue of  REWEATELMAI N FEE
investment properties 2,488,203 493,656 (44,460) 202,169 181,566 3,321,134
Increase in fair value of investment properties  FAMEAT B - 3,232,699 - - - 3,232,699
Segment results after increase in fair value of REMENTEEIRH DLE
investment properties 2,488,203 3,726,355 (44,460) 202,169 181,566 6,553,833
Unallocated cost of sales AATHENA (362,081)
Interest income FISMA 85,947
Loss on held-for-trading investments at BERRNATE]E 25
fair value through profit or loss, net BERESE 58 (5,525)
Unallocated income and gains APEMA RN 985,820
Unallocated expenses G NALE (2,194,375)
Finance costs BAKA (159,386)
Profit before tax A 4,904,233
Segment assets AHEE 36,370,396 32,286,528 45,300 100,455 1,338,433 70,141,612
Reconciliation: HE -
Investments in associates REEDRINRE 60,310
Unallocated assets AOWEE 13,183,409
Total assets BEAE 83,385,331
Segment liabilities gV 5,610,040 5,164,724 56,657 544,419 288,382 11,664,222
Recondiliation: 3
Unallocated liabilities FoRAE 45,352,644
Totalliabiliies BERE 57,016,866
Other segment information: Rt HER
Depreciation e 98,266 1,495 403 3242 14,445 117,851
Corporate and other unallocated amounts NAREHASEEE 33,034
150,885
Increase in fair value of investment properties REWENTAEEN - 3,232,699 - - - 3,232,699
Capital expenditure* ERER* 8,973,136 18,032 345 6,181 9,676 9,007,370

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7
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31 March 2016 201643 A31H

4. Operating Segment Information (Continued) 4, REFBERE)
Year ended 31 March 2015 Property Property Property
BZ015F3A31B L EE development investment ~ management E-commerce Others Total
MEER VESE) MEER ERT At @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
ThL ThL ThL ThL ThL ThL
Segment revenue; ABRA
Sales to external customers TREHE 8,654,171 573,895 133,321 201,806 194,574 9,757,167
Interseqment sales AHEEE - 45,907 41,965 43,127 21,086 152,085
8,654,171 619,802 175,286 244933 215,660 9,909,852
Elimination of intersegment sales AL (152,085)
Revenue WA 9,757,767
Segment results before increase infairvalue of  KEMEATFERNANTEE
investment properties 4,875,425 379,064 (88,574) 201,806 112,948 5,430,669
Increase in fair value of investment properties REWENTEEN = 2,398,531 - - - 2,398,531
Segment results after increase in fairvalue of ~ RAMEAFERNEN DL
investment properties 4,875,425 2,771,595 (88,574) 201,806 112,948 7,879,200
Unallocated cost of sales RATEERA (305,139)
Interest income FEHA 68,99
Gains on held-for-traing investrments at BRERNATETE 2 5E
fair value through profitor loss, net BERENS 58 3,770
Unallocated income and gains AP RMA R 261,330
Unallocated expenses KRR (1,875,863)
Finance costs BERR (165,595)
Share of losses of associates ElERENTER (7,210)
Profit before tax AR 5,859,489
Segment assets ABEE 32,990,415 29,648,772 9810 329,344 573974 63,552,315
Reconciliation: i
Investment in a joint venture S %’é%ﬁ%ﬁ’]&ﬁ 5078
Investments in associates EAH?% NGB 34,884
Unallocated assets AONEE 9,661,693
Total assets EELE 73253971
Segment liabilities AR 5,371,768 4,408,104 623,801 323393 173222 10,900,288
Reconciliation: 2
Unallocated liabilities AAMAE 37,331,867
Total liables HEEE 48,232,155
Other segment information: HippBEs
Depreciation & 36,077 1,758 1,056 4442 7811 51,144
Corporate and other unallocated amounts ARREMRARLEE 2.1
93,265
Increase in fair value of investment properties REMENTELEM - 2,398,531 - - - 2,398,531
Capital expenditure* BRER 18,152,683 43597 1,042 4323 294218 18,495,863
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * ﬁqs[ﬁ;ﬁﬁ@%%% J}%}%&fﬂﬁ FE LA
equipment, prepaid land lease payments, properties under development R E RIS A ERE

and investment properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

5. Revenue, Other Income and Gains/(Losses), and 5.
Fair value gains on Investment Properties
Revenue represents the net sales of completed properties, finance
lease income, rental income, income from the provision of property
management services, E-commerce income and other revenue, net
of business tax and other sales related tax.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains/(losses) is as follows:

WA - B AR WE S (BiR) - R
A E N A 2
IWAFEHIBREEFBR TYXEEFE  MEMA
BEA - WA - REYEEBREKA - B
FREZEWRAREAUA TNk & 2T R E S
FERETEIE) ©

WA - B AR Was, (BE)DITAT

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A31MBLEEE
2016 2015
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BaE FExT FAT
Revenue N
Sales of properties MEHE 4,164,135 8,190,793
Finance lease income mEREWA 551,568 463,378
Rental income e WA 681,314 573,895
Property management service income Y EERIFUA 247,721 133,321
E-commerce income ErEmERA 202,184 201,806
Other revenue* Hth U A * 289,340 194,574
6,136,262 9,757,767
Other income Hiplt A
Bank interest income RITAIE WA 85,947 68,996
Government grants** BT Eh * * 1,001,128 56,454
Others HAth 56,122 43,580
1,143,197 169,030
Gains/(losses) W (E58)
Fair value (losses)/gains on held-for-trading BEBSUAATESEREY
investments at fair value through BIEEERE (EE),/
profit or loss, net Was - 558 (5,525) 3,770
Exchange (losses)/gains EH (E8), Wk (71,430) 9,381
Fair value gain on derivative financial PTHESR T AR ERS
instrument - 151,915
(76,955) 165,066
1,066,242 334,096
Fair value gains on investment properties R&E %A FEWZE 14 3,232,699 2,398,531

* Other revenue includes amounts of HK$136,944,000 (2015:
HK$92,476,000) related to income from outlet operations and
HK$143,433,000 (2015: HK$95,845,000) related to income from
logistics and warehousing services.

**  Various government grants have been received from the relevant
government authorities to foster and support the development of
the relevant projects of the Group in Mainland China. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

6. Profit Before Tax

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. BiAIHHE

AEENHATABEE MR/ GEA) TSR

For the year ended 31 March

BZ3A31HILLEE
2016 2015
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
s FHET FHET
Cost of properties sold BEEWEKA 1,984,613 3,563,495
Cost of properties held for finance lease BB EMHEK AR 242,887 215,251
Depreciation e 13 152,182 94,523
Less: Depreciation capitalised in respect of W RERRYEER
properties under development g (1,297) (1,258)
150,885 93,265
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments B + i H FE 4 # 4% 16 23,618 14,823
Minimum lease payments under operating T R T R JRE AR
leases in respect of land and buildings and HETHRERS
vehicles 9,239 13,957
Auditors’ remuneration LA IR 4,080 4,000
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ {2 E@FH X (BFEEE
remuneration): ) -
Wages and salaries* TERESE* 718,348 707,329
Equity-settled share option expense LA A E MR R 29,341 90,742
Pension scheme contributions BINEETEIEER 107,938 86,974
855,627 885,045
Provision for/(reversal of provision for) e Z FERFORE R,
impairment of trade receivables** (b o] faas ) * 24 96,660 (16,400)
Loss on disposal of a joint venture** BRE—REE A REE 18 4,959 =
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries* * REEMBAREIE* 444 -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BE RREEE
plant and equipment B8 61 114

& Included amounts of HK$176,313,000 and HK$127,665,000 for *
the years ended 31 March 2016 and 2015, respectively, which were
capitalised under properties under development.

** Included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss.

* %

BEHE2016EK20156F3A31 B ILEENEH
3 51176,313,000/ 7T %2.127,665,000/8 7T * EF
RERME AR E -

FEAGA ER R MR TEA -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

7. Finance Costs 7. MERAK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKARZ DT ¢
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3A3MBLEEE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Interest on bank and other borrowings (including RITREMEEF S (BTE
convertible notes, senior notes, medium-term ARBRERE C BEEE -
notes, short-term notes, corporate bonds and REAER - RERE S
domestic company bonds) PEEHFKIBARRIES) 2,049,155 1,617,376
Less: Interest capitalised B BAREFE (1,889,769) (1,451,7817)
Total A=t 159,386 165,595
8. Directors’ Emoluments 8. EEM<
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the BIBREBERFES WA EmRAD) - &
Rules governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock B R aEFI25383(1)(a), (b), ()R f)iE KR (3
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(), (b), (c) and (f) of BEEMRER)RAE2H  RAFENES
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies e RENT
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is
as follows:
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
Fees we 4,640 4,640
Other emoluments: Hi e :
Salaries, allowances, and benefits in kind e ZELREWET 17,678 16,131
Performance-related bonuses* ERRIEN ) EAT 34,957 52,898
Equity-settled share option expense N E R ERERS 28,181 89,552
Pension scheme contributions RIRE TR 54 48
85,510 163,269
*  Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to a * RRAFETHITERARBEURZI B EERNAR
performance based bonus payments which are determined as a FHREME AT ERE RARRBEENTES
percentage of the Group's consolidated net profit attributable BTARATERENEARERS ARGFFER
to owners of the parent excluding fair value gains on investment DLEERENRKR 2 AL (BREMMBBIEAL (1
properties and related tax effects and fair value gain on derivative H)) o

financial instrument (in addition to any discretionary bonus (if any)) of
the financial year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued)

During the year, one director was granted share options, in respect
of his services to the Group, under the share option scheme of
the Company, further details of which are set out in note 38 to
the financial statements. The fair value of those options, which is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in
the financial statements for the current year is included in the above
directors’ remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during
the year were as follows:

EEME

FERN - —REERAREBIR Y BRI TR A
N RIS AE ST BRI ARE - i — S EHBEN
BTSIREMIIE3S - ZEWERNO DT E(ERE
BHRMNERRER) DREL ASEE - M
RAEERBRENSED OER EEEOM
SWEER -

(a) BAFHTES
FRN PR FMTEENRSIT ;

Equity-settled
share option

Fees expense Total

DRESEER
ik B IR 2R X #Et
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET THERT FHERT

2016 2016

Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew 2EE 380 - 380
Li Wai Keung R4 380 - 380
Hui Chiu Chung FTHR A 380 - 380
Yung Wing Ki Samuel oK 380 390 770
1,520 390 1,910

Equity-settled

share option
Fees expense Total

AR SR AEE HY
ik FERER #aEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FHETT FHETT

2015 20154
Leung Kwan Yuen Andrew DEE 380 782 1,162
Li Wai Keung HEog 380 782 1,162
Hui Chiu Chung EEls 380 782 1,162
Yung Wing Ki Samuel Ao 380 1,224 1,604
1,520 3,570 5,090
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEMEwm
(b) Executive directors and non-executive (b) HITEERIFEHITES
directors
Salaries, Equity-
allowances,  Performance- settled Pension
and benefits related  share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
e 2ER BREMN  UERLEN BG5S
e BENER A BRERX HE -
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT THERT TERL TER TER
2016 2016%
Executive directors; BITES:
Cheng Chung Hing LN - 5,850 13,167 - 18 19,035
Leung Moon Lam* 2 - 5,763 10,582 1222 18 23,585
Fung Sing Hong Stephen* BEM* - 6,065 11,208 20,569 18 37,860
- 17,678 34,957 27,7191 54 80,480
Non-executive directors: FHITES -
Ma Kai Cheung ENE 1,080 - - - - 1,080
Sun Kai Lit Cliff HRIZ 680 - - - - 680
Ma Wai Mo HER 680 - - - - 680
Cheng Tai Po e 680 - - - - 680
Lin Ching Hua** IR+ - - - - - -
3,120 - - - - 3,120
3,120 17,678 34,957 27,7191 54 83,600
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

8. Directors’ Emoluments (Continued) 8. EEMEw)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive (b) BITESERIHITEE ()
directors (Continued)
Salaries, Equity-

allowances,  Performance- settled Pension

and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total

He 2R EXRBAN  VEREEN BIREEE
ik ENER #7EAL BIRER it S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TR TEL TAL TAT TR

2015 20156

Executive directors: HnES:

Cheng Chung Hing LN - 5,850 18,949 - 18 24,817
Leung Moon Lam* 2Rk - 5,850 18,949 52,721 18 71,538
Xu Yang B2 - 926 - 305 - 1,231
Fung Sing Hong Stephen* IBEM* = 3,505 15,000 32,956 12 51,473

- 16,131 52,898 85,982 48 155,059

Non-executive directors: FHTES:

Ma Kai Cheung SNE 1,080 - - - - 1,080
Sun Kai Lit CIiff pidaed 680 - - - - 680
Ma Wai Mo SR 680 - - - - 680
Cheng Tai Po Ly 680 - - - - 680
Lin Ching Hua** b - = = = = =

3,120 - - - - 3,120

3,120 16,131 52,898 85,982 48 158,179

* On 1 January 2016, Mr. Leung Moon Lam ceased to act as * R2016F1 A8, BRMEETHELR
Chief Executive Officer of the Group but remains as an executive SEITHRAE  BEEETARARZH
director of the Group, while Mr. Fung Sing Hong Stephen was TEZ  ANSEMCEEZERTEE
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. ZATEARE -

**  Mr. Lin Ching Hua, a non-executive director of the Company, ** o RKRNRZIEMITEEMIBHEILEGRD
has voluntarily decided not to receive any director’s emolument W ER 8201446 A28 B _E{FAE B E(AA
in the future from the Company since his appointment on RRIZEEZME - BIE201FHNESS
28 June 2014, including a director’s fee of HK$380,000 and 380,0007% 7T [ 2,000,000 A% B8 A% 4 © BR 1t
2,000,000 share options in 2015. Apart from this, there was no 2N RAFERNEE B WMES R EREN
agreement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any Eal:kze7 30

remuneration during the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

9. Five Highest Paid Employees 0.
The five highest paid employees during the year included three
(2015: three) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in
note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid
employees for the year are as follows:

hfuEEFAL

£ A REHEESHE=REE(015
F:=4)  EMEEMR EXHES - FRE
EREFREMSOEMT

For the year ended 31 March

BZ3A31MBLELEE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e ERLREYER 23,838 23,429
Bonuses TE4L 34,957 71,298
Equity-settled share option expense LARE 2 45 B ) RE AR R <2 27,791 85,899
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEI R 54 54
86,640 180,680

The number of the five highest paid employees whose remuneration
fell within the following bands is as follows:

NFATHENAEESHEEABLOT :

Number of employees

BEAH

2016 2015

HK$2,000,001 to HK$15,000,000 2,000,001 7T % 15,000,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$15,000,001 to HK$25,000,000 15,000,001 7T.225,000,000/5 7T 2 1
HK$25,000,001 to HK$50,000,000 25,000,001#7T. 250,000,000/ 7T 1 =
HK$50,000,001 to HK$75,000,000 50,000,001 775,000,000/ 7T - 1
HK$75,000,001 to HK$95,000,000 75,000,001 7T % 95,000,000/ 7T - 1
5 5

During the year and in prior years, share options were granted to
non-director, highest paid employees in respect of their services to
the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosure in
note 38 to the financial statements. The fair value of those options,
which is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting
period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current year is included
in the above five highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

10. FRiG#H

10. Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2015:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been
made as the Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year (2015: Nil).

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China are calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the provinces in which the Group operates.

Under the relevant income tax law, the PRC subsidiaries are subject
to corporate income tax (“CIT") at the statutory rate of 25% (2015:
25%) on their respective taxable income during the year.

The PRC LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the
sale of properties less deductible expenditures including land costs,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

The major components of income tax expenses for the year are as
follows:

FA - RBEBEENGHERBRFTH1Z16.5%
(20154 : 16.5% )T ERETE - FA » AR
SEBEREESHERTEIE MU ETIEE
SR B (20154F - ) -

o B A MR I BB T e 4 P A
EIPMBITRIREHE o

BRIEREMERE R dENBARARS
B FE SR B AIRE TE B % 25% (20154 : 25%)
BN TSR -

R B 3 (B B 1R 30% = 60% N5 K R EF R
T EE (B2 & TS SIBR B8 £ HAK
N BERARETE Y E5R R N R AT R
s ) IE AR ©

FA - AISHAXEERIWT

For the year ended 31 March

HE3H3MALLEE

2016 2015

Note HK$°000 HK$'000

FfaE FET FAT

Current — Mainland China BNER — R B KBz 1,011,480 819,254
LAT in Mainland China AR B A e+ 3t (E T (23,865) 1,213,663
Deferred Mainland China corporate income tax JEZERR B A [E (> 2 AR5 51 35 382,842 111,792
Total tax charged for the year FEMIAY 4R 1,370,457 2,144,709
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
/\Zl-i%#ﬁi BTT HE ( n‘ﬁ )

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

10. Income Tax (Continued) 10. FriS®i(m)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at HOAE R R EE AR AT AE A T IE R X iR
the statutory rate to the tax expense at the Group's effective income AREBARFEERHRTENFIAR X AE RN
tax rate is as follows: s &

For the year ended 31 March

BZE3A3MBLEE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Profit before tax A5t A ) 4,904,233 5,859,489
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 1£16.5% %M E& T ERTIE 809,198 966,816
Higher tax rates enacted by local authorities b 75 H B8  E FBR r= F R 416,656 509,000
Income not subject to tax BAEZBHUA (37,664) (176,604)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR A 2 51,975 39,337
Tax losses utilised from previous years FABTFEMRIBESSE = (4,787)
Losses attributable to associates B 25N A FE (L B 18 = 1,803
Tax losses not recognised RIERH T IEE 18 80,078 21,155
LAT T IRAE R (23,865) 1,213,663
Tax effect of LAT TR ET T G2 5,966 (303,416)
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BEFEBIEFAR
previous years 23,363 19,955
Effect of withholding tax on the distributable TZEKE Els b yEinpEE NG o
profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries S ECAE M ETEIEN
SRR E 44,750 (142,219)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate BEARSEEERTERAELN
FHIE S 1,370,457 2,144,709
The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to nil (2015: Bt N =) 7 4 PEAS B IE (20154 ¢ 1,803,00078
HK$1,803,000) is included in “Share of profits and losses of TT)EFA ,Z*/\j‘»aﬁni\%a‘]fﬁ%{gﬁéﬁM“Tﬂ,ﬁﬁ&)&ﬁ
associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. BN
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

11.

12.

Dividend 1. RE
For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMBLFE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$’000
THET FAT
Proposed final dividend — HK5.0 cents EER AR E — R TR
per ordinary share (2015: HK14.0 cents 5.0/ (20154 : FA%
per ordinary share) AL 14.05511l) 399,966 1,120,094

The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
Company'’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary
Equity Holders of the Parent

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 7,999,399,905
(2015: 7,650,707,736) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The
weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation
is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in
the basic earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

12.

FR R BB AR AR B RN EERR A S K
SRR - AR -

FERBAREEREEREEAZE
B2 F
EREREMN BB QT L BRERSTE A
JE Al & 9 FI0 R F N B 817 7,999,399,905 fi%
(20154 : 7,650,707,736/% ) & A% &9 hn#E F 15
HEtE o

BREERT DRES AR T RRERSE AR
EERFEE - FHEMARNEBRIE T8
DR ESRERANMANFARETEBR
Begh - manAE T E SRR E B TR T R s
MBEAEEHEENEBR AT ARIZEESR
(e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 431H

12. Earnings Per Share Attributable to Ordinary
Equity Holders of the Parent (Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based

12. BERBAREEREREEAZE
RER (&)
SREANREE RN EER

on:
For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31HLEE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT BT
Earnings EF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of FARFTEERERAF 2
the parent, used in the basic earnings per share AR EBREREE A
calculation FE(E R 3,537,012 3,727,872
Add: Interest on convertible notes o0 AR EEFE = 1,701
Less: Fair value gain on derivative financial instrument 3 : /744 & T A A FEWS = (151,915)
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the RARFTESREERT 2
parent, used in the diluted earnings per share ISYNEIE7 2PN NE
calculation 3,537,012 3,577,658
Number of shares
[
2016 2015
Shares BRH
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue ~ FARFTESREAEF]Z
during the year used in the basic earnings per share FREBFTE BN
calculation hnEFE g2 7,999,399,905  7,650,707,736

BEyE - TRRINETHR

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of
ordinary shares:

Share options RE AR
Tencent call options il
Convertible notes AR IR

29,764,395 74,674,865

- 6,810,690

- 171,232,876
8,029,164,300 7,903,426,167
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 431H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment

13. 1% - BENRE

Furniture,
fixtures
and
Buildings equipment  Motor vehicles Total
B
BF EERRE "E b
31 March 2016 2016F3A31H Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 Thn ThL ThRL Thn
At 1 April 2015: 1201554 A18 :
Cost A 1,348,702 181,634 85,896 1,616,232
Accumulated depreciation 25tE (160,597) (89,394) (38,010) (288,001)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,188,105 92,240 47,886 1,328,231
At 1 April 2015, net of accumulated depreciation 18201554818 » BB Z5HTE 1,188,105 92,240 47,886 1,328,231
Additions NE 3,854 21,316 13,220 38,390
Transfer from properties under development ERRERTIE 15 353,081 - - 353,081
Disposals HE (1,095) 4,712) (646) (6,453)
Depreciation provided during the year FERERE 6 (104,867) (30,615) (16,700) (152,182)
Exchange realignment ERHBE (48,886) (3.410) (1,616) (53.912)
At 31 March 2016, net of accumulated depreciation 12201643 A318 » 21k 25t & 1,390,192 74,819 42,144 1,507,155
At 31 March 2016: 2016F3 7318 :
Cost A 1,648,029 191,041 95,342 1,934,412
Accumulated depreciation 2iME (257,837) (116,222) (53,198) (427,257)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,390,192 74,819 42,144 1,507,155
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

13. % - BERRE®)

Furniture,
fixtures
and
Buildings equipment  Motor vehicles Total
I
BF RERZE RE ek
31 March 2015 2015434318 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TiEx Tir T T
At1 April 2014 2014464818 -
Cost jZN 658,730 136,323 59,358 854,411
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (109,236) (59,459) (26,793) (195,488)
Net carrying amount RHFHE 549,494 76,864 32,565 658,923
At 1 April 2014, net of accumulated depreciation ~ #2014£4 718 + BNKR E3E 549,494 76,864 32,565 658,923
Additions NE 7,279 49,133 27,715 84,127
Transfer from properties under development EHEERME 15 681,372 - - 681,372
Disposals HE (25) (2,948) (265) (3,238)
Depreciation provided during the year FETERE 6 (51,326) (31,003) (12,194) (94,523)
Exchange realignment & 5 % 1311 194 65 1,570
At 31 March 2015, net of accumulated depreciation  72015%3 8318 » B4k 25HH7E 1,188,105 92,240 47,886 1,328,231
At 31 March 2015: R201543A318 :
Cost R 1,348,702 181,634 85,896 1,616,232
Accumulated depreciation ZoiE (160,597) (89,394) (38,010) (288,001)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,188,105 92,240 47,886 1,328,231
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 13. 1% - BERZE®)

Certain of the Group's buildings with aggregate carrying values
of approximately HK$469,182,000 as at 31 March 2016 (2015:
HK$23,546,000) were pledged to secure general banking facilities

R2016F3A31H  AEBEEREARES FID
469,182,000/ 7T (20154 : 23,546,000/ 7T ) &I
ETEFEEMEARSEER —RIBITHEN

granted to the Group (note 29). FER(HEE29) o

201653 A31H » AEBERPEKREFES
buildings of the Group in the PRC with an aggregate net book value H#91,045,731,0007% ¢ (20154F : 752,134,000
of approximately HK$1,045,731,000 (2015: HK$752,134,000) had BT S TIEFERERBE R#EE T a R
not been issued by the relevant PRC authorities. The Group is in the & o AEBEFHEEFRBETEREE -

process of obtaining the relevant certificates of ownership.

At 31 March 2016, certificates of ownership in respect of certain

14. REWE

14. Investment Properties

2016 2015

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000

B sE THERT BT

Carrying amount at beginning of year FUMEREE 30,217,792 24,033,905

Additions = 928,586 2,267,085
Transfer from properties under ERAEERYFE

development 15 424,934 1,446,966

Transfer from completed properties R E R T E

held for sale HEME 1,843,953 -

Transfer to completed properties held for sale B ZEiF(ESHE Y (632,773) -

Net gain from a fair value adjustment AN EFHEF W R 5 3,232,699 2,398,531

Exchange realignment bE W AR (1,201,003) 71,305

Carrying amount at end of year FRMEREAE 34,814,188 30,217,792

The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31
March 2016 and 2015 by Savills at RMB28,949,100,000 and
RMB24,166,500,000, respectively (equivalent to approximately
HK$34,814,188,000 and HK$30,217,792,000, respectively), on an
open market, existing use basis.

The Group's investment properties with aggregate carrying values
of approximately HK$21,237,246,000 and HK$20,652,214,000 as
at 31 March 2016 and 2015, respectively, were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

The Group's investment properties with aggregate carrying values
of approximately HK$30,598,954,000 and HK$26,084,344,000
as at 31 March 2016 and 2015, respectively, are subject to sales
restriction (note 1(iv)).

E—KFE &I N20164 £ 201563 A31H
EMAEENKREME  BAMMBEAER
BEERNEESD A A AR 28,949,100,000
TT & A R #24,166,500,000 7T (2 Bl 48 % R 49
34,814,188,0007% 7T %.30,217,792,00058 7T) °

M20165E & 201543310 » NEEBREHEEE
2 BI#921,237,246,00078 7T }2.20,652,2 14,0007
TR EYEDIRFEAAE @R —RIBITR
B REIR(HEE29) -

M20165F M 20153 A31H © AEEREAE

2 511#4930,598,954,0007% 7t }2.26,084,344,0005%
TCRIR B W52 B SHEBR S (BT EE1Gv)) o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

14. Investment Properties (Continued)

The Group's investment properties consist of trade centers,
commercial and other ancillary facilities in Mainland China.
The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 March
2016 based on valuations performed by Savills, an independent
professionally qualified valuer, at HK$34,814,188,000 on an open
market, existing use basis. Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuer to be responsible for the
external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group’'s finance
department has discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results twice a year when the valuation is
performed for interim and annual financial reporting.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group's investment properties:

14. REWZE @)
AEENRENEBREPEOR S0 - X
MEMPRERE - RIBE—RBULEEESERHE
BB — R FEHHEIETHGE  AEENEREY
¥M2016F3 A31 BHMR ARMIZHEA AGEE
E(H{E(EE34,814,188,000/8 T - AEERERE
EBSFRELZTATHAEBYEETINGDGE
BISNER A {ERT AR - ERRERIEETISAE B
B @ ARREEFESEKT - P E KL
FREMGREEITEER - N5 B 80 %530l
BREF A ERE R EEERETRA R ©

DR EER
AEBRAMENATEFRBABNTE |

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2016
using significant
unobservable inputs

(Level 3)
201653 H31H
FRAEARTABELE
WATEE
(5B34%)
HK$'000
FAT
Recurring fair value measurement for: RUTHENLE AT ERTE
Trade centers, commercial and RSP BER
other ancillary facilities HAb =R 34,814,188
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

14. Investment Properties (Continued) 14. REWZE @)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEER®
Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2015
using significant
unobservable inputs
(Level 3)
A201563H31H
FRAEARTABELE
WAFETE
(5E34%)
HK$'000
FHTT
Recurring fair value measurement for: AT SENEEERFERE
Trade centers, commercial and RSP~ BER
other ancillary facilities HAb L ER 30,217,792
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements FA - BIREF2R2EMEZERNTES
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 ENEY  B3RNEQATEFEEANEL
(2015: Nil). (20154 : f&) »
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key T RIREDEGEMANGERTREETE
inputs to the valuation of investment properties: HE :
Significant
Valuation technique unobservable inputs Range
fRERA BERFUEERE &[E
As at As at
31 March 2016 31 March 2015

201653 A31H 20153 H31H

Trade centers, commercial and  Income capitalisation Market unit rental rate 41-144 40-142
other ancillary facilities method (RMB/sg. m./month)
RSB EER WAEBARIE iRk vEitk
Hib il ER (ANR¥,FHAKR)
Capitalisation rate 3.00%-8.25% 3.00%-8.25%
B
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

14.

15.

Investment Properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The fair values of investment properties are determined principally
using the income capitalisation method by capitalising the rental
income derived from the existing tenancies with due provisions for
the reversionary income potential of the properties. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the market unit rental rate
and negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate. For the portions
which were under construction, the expended construction costs
and the costs that are expected to be expended to complete the
properties have also been taken into account in arriving at their fair
values.

14. REWE E)

DR EEBHE)
REMEATBETSRRABRET - Fx
REBAREMENESRABT AL - TRyE
MBI R ES R ASHRE S BE - ATEEHTE
SIS A IE L B G AL R R L, o BLIETE
BT - ERTATEES DEEDHK
B S 4% f 2 S Bk AN T 2 Bk B % TE oS S S O BR
z]go

Properties Under Development 15. BRPFYI%
2016 2015
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
P s FET FAET
Carrying amount at beginning of year FREEEE 3,697,166 2,933,492
Additions NE 7,957,375 16,144,651
Transfer to property, plant and EEEYE -
equipment ] 13 (353,081) (681,372)
Transfer to investment properties (LB N gL S 14 (424,934) (1,446,966)
Transfer to prepaid land lease payments EEFREMN T HAS 16 (182,681) (659,404)
Transfer to completed properties held for sale  E## % 238 T15(E
and properties under development SHEM R RERPIFE
held for sale SHEWIZE (6,171,387) (12,601,248)
Transfer to properties held for finance lease EREmEHEnmE (115,950) =
Exchange realignment b 3, B (153,654) 8,013
Carrying amount at end of year FRMAREE 4,252,854 3,697,166

Certain of the Group’s properties under development with
aggregate carrying values of approximately HK$779,665,000 and
HK$190,683,000 as at 31 March 2016 and 2015, respectively, were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 29).

During the current year, the Group has received government
grants with a total amount of approximately RMB833,257,000
(equivalent to HK$1,002,075,000), which were provided by the
local government authorities to support infrastructure construction
and development activities in connection with the Group’s property
development projects. The amount was deducted from the additions
of properties under development for the year. An aggregate amount
of approximately RMB458,259,000 (equivalent to HK$559,030,000)
(2015: RMB654,082,000 (equivalent to HK$813,287,000)) which
related to properties sold, has been credited to the cost of properties
sold during the year.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7

R20164F M2015F3 A31H » AEBEEmAE
5 All#9779,665,000 7% 7T f 190,683,000 % JT #Y
ETERFPYEDEIMER RN EFER —MRIRT
A& R R (MEEE29) -

FR - AEERSEE AL ARKS33,257,000
7T (8% 5 1,002,075,000 7T ) B Hb 77 B FF 4%
BRM BEEASEVEREBEPEERE
RERTIRERERFHREFOBTREE -
EHEEABERRFWEPME - ERER
EELMERFTEEL AR KA458,259,0007T
(#8572 559,030,000/ 75 ) (20154F : AR
654,082,0007T (1855 174813,287,000/8 7T ) ) fE £F
RN E S MER AR o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 431H

16. Prepaid Land Lease Payments

16. N L HES

2016 2015
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B sE FTHET FHTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FUMEREE 802,642 144,093
Additions VIN=E 83,019 -
Transfer from properties under development & B R R Y 15 182,681 659,404
Recognised during the year FARER 6 (23,618) (14,823)
Exchange realignment ME W % (24,755) 13,968
Carrying amount at end of year FIRREREE 1,019,969 802,642
Current portion included in prepayments, FTATENFUE - B Rk
deposits and other receivables H A EMGRIER BVEE o (23,618) (14,823)
Non-current portion FERNERFL 7> 966,351 787,819
17. Goodwill 17. B2
HK$'000
FAT
At 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016: 201543 HA31H KX201643A318 :
Cost B 54,194
Accumulated impairment ZERE (20,066)
Net carrying amount BRIEFEE 34,128
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

17. Goodwill (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations have been
allocated to the hotel cash-generating unit and the property leasing
operation cash-generating unit for impairment testing.

o Hotel cash-generating unit
o Property leasing operation cash-generating unit

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the cash-
generating units is as follows:

17. BE %)

AERERR
BREBARBNREC PEEBENRSE
BN EMERELENREEEEMIERER
o JHEMRESELBM
o PEHERENRSELEM

PERBREELENNHEREENT

Hotel Property leasing operation Total
B VEZHES aE
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAR TAT TAT TAT
Carrying amount of goodwil HEREE - - 34,128 34,128 34,128 34,128

The Group has leased its hotel properties to an independent party.
Full impairment loss of HK$20,066,000 has been provided on the
goodwill related to the hotel operation of the Group in the previous
year.

The recoverable amount of the property leasing operation
cash-generating unit is determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by senior management covering a five-year period.

The key assumptions adopted on the growth rate and discount rate
used in the value-in-use calculation are based on management'’s
best estimates. The growth rate of 5% is determined by considering
both internal and external factors relating to the property leasing
segment. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections is
14%.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the
key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts of goodwill are
based would not cause the carrying amounts of goodwill to exceed
their recoverable amounts.
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AEEEHAEBEMET @B E=H - §
A EBAEE L ENE BRI FEERRT
EEBRREEE © ©%8/420,066,00078 7T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 431H

18. Investment in a Joint Venture

18. R—HREELENRE

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT

Share of net assets EhEEFE = =
Due from a joint venture I —RE &R ERIE = 10,299
- 10,299

Provision for impairment B = (5,220)
- 5,079

Particulars of the Group's joint venture are as follows:

Nominal value of

REFEZAECEFBOT

issued and fully Percentage of
Place of paid-up equity attributable
registration and registered capital Date of to the Group
Name business as at 31 March 2016 deregistration asat31March  Principal activities
2016534318
BRTRAR R3A31A%ER
£R AR EEHE HMEAEE  HEEH EEBRESE  TEER
2016 2015
% %
China South Royal Restaurant (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China - 16 June 2015 - 505 Restaurant operations
EREREE(RY) RO REREAR - 16062005 EREE

The joint venture was deregistered on 16 June 2015. The Group
recognised a loss from the disposal of the joint venture of

HK$4,959,000 (note 6).

HAEPER2015F6 168 5EH - AEERA
EREE A EDFEMNEESE4,959,00078 7T
GEE

19. Investments in Associates 19. REEE N TINIRE
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Due to associates FETES & A B IR (3.316) (3,514)
Due from associates JE Y HE 2 N B FRIE 63,626 38,398
60,310 34,884

The amounts due from/(to) associates included in investments in
associates above are unsecured, interest-free and are not expected

to be repaid in one year.

A LR BE i R BRI A ) U (B ) Bt 2
RAFBAAEER  RERBEHRISE—FAE
7= o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

19. Investments in Associates (Continued)
Particulars of the associates are as follows:

19. REFE QN TINRE (8)

B2 RRFHENT

Nominal value of Percentage of equity
Place of issued and fully paid- attributable
registration and up  Dateof to the Group
Name business registered capital  registration as at 31 March Principal activities
W3A31R
BRITRER AEEER
£ ERREEE dfErmE ZRAH BREEAN IEXH
2016 2015
% %
China South Intimex Technology (Shenzhen) PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 18 January 2004 30 30 Website and software development
Co,, Lid. REFEAE  ARE10,000000  18-01-2004 B REHE
EEREARMINERLA
Harbin Huayilong Fur Market Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB21,000,000 17 January 2014 25 25 Property leasing
REBEERKEHARAR REMEAE  AR21,000000  17-01-2014 IEZi
The associates have a financial year end of 31 December. The BERNRINPREETIEEI12A31B L - 6
consolidated financial statements are adjusted for the material SR AMEF1A1BE3A31 B EMB L AR
transactions between the associates and the group companies HEEK B A RZHANEAR ZELFAE -
between 1 January and 31 March annually.
The associates have been accounted for using the equity method in Bt N B AR AR L F M IR R AR o
these financial statements.
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information of TR TRESEASEEE A TNMBELBIE
the Group'’s associates:
2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET BT
Assets BE 11,934 16,305
Liabilities B 72,606 43,902
Revenue WA 4,178 35
Loss Ea (34,515) (24,035)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 431H

20. Available-for-sale Investments

21.

20. AIRHESRKRE

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT

Unlisted equity investments, at cost BRI ERIE TR E 175,512 175,500

As at 31 March 2016, certain unlisted equity investments with a
total carrying amount of HK$175,512,000 (2015: HK$175,500,000)
were stated at cost less impairment because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is so significant that the directors are of the
opinion that their fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group
does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.

M BR T 42 {8 /& 175,512,000 7T (2015 £
175,500,000 70 ) (U AJ B E S BMEE A2
AEEGTHEEN  BEEEREEQATFET
RERTSEMIETE - B 201643 A31 BRI
WA E - AEEWEZENRTAKRLEE
BE -

Other Long-term Receivables 21. Hit REAEEUW IR
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Finance lease receivables* BlE TH S U IE 1,758 8,860
Other long-term receivables Hth R EAFE N GRIE 2,421 =
4,179 8,860

* The balance represents entrusted loans provided by the Group to
lessees through Shanghai Pudong Development Bank in connection
with the finance lease of its properties. The finance lease receivables,
which bear interest at rates ranging from 6.336% to 8.613% per
annum, are repayable by monthly instalments within 6 to 10 years.
The carrying amounts of the finance lease receivables approximate to
their fair values. The amounts of the current portion of the finance
lease receivables as at 31 March 2016 was HK$7,910,000 (2015:
HK$8,224,000) which was included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables (note 25).

* EREASEREMENRERS BB LEH
REERRTAABARENEZTER - BEMH
ERWRBIRFEFNEN T6.336% £8.613% 5T
B WEREI10ERNFTADHERE - EAE
R RERREEEEAFERE - R20164
3A318 - EARERKFIBREEBHBS B A
7,910,0007% 7T, (20154F : 8,224,0005% 7T) 3 £ 51
AFBRFIE -~ Be REMEYGIE(KIFE25)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 431H

22. Deposits Paid for Purchase of Land Use Rights 22.
The balance represents deposits paid for acquisitions of land use
rights for parcels of land in Mainland China. The carrying amounts
of the deposits paid for the purchase of land use rights approximate

to their fair values.

BELBEAEINNRS

SRR TE D BURRE WS 3 SR A 1+ 358 FRRE P SX
NHEReE - BELHERENNRENREE

BENFERE -

23. Properties Held for Sale 23. FEHEWE

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT BT
Completed properties held for sale BEHER T Y 12,283,168 9,967,608

Properties under development expected to be TEEIR IEE & ERER
completed within normal operating cycle BT HEERERYE 12,895,878 13,002,368
25,179,046 22,969,976

Properties under development expected to be EERYETESRE TR

completed and ready for sale AI{ESHE

Within one year —F A 8,055,546 6,535,438
Beyond one year —F1% 4,840,332 6,466,930
Total w@E 12,895,878 13,002,368

Certain of the Group’s properties held for sale with an aggregate
carrying value of HK$3,644,590,000 (2015: HK$3,626,061,000) at
the end of the reporting period were pledged to secure the bank

loans granted to the Group (note 29).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

24. Trade Receivables

24. EWWE B ERR

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Trade receivables FEUE Z R 1,388,129 1,778,414
Impairment JRE (238,856) (141,788)
1,149,273 1,636,626

Trade receivables represent sales income, rentals receivable and
service income receivables from customers which are payable on
issuance of invoices or in accordance with the terms of the related
sale and purchase agreements. The Group generally allows a credit
period of not exceeding 60 days to its customers. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of this and
the fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. The carrying
amounts of the trade receivables approximate to their fair values.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables based on the payment due
date as at the end of the reporting period, net of provision, is as
follows:

FEWE ZIR IR i AR R BN SRIE RS
B EREFPHNIEERA - BEES MR
BN - REE—RIEH T BBOREERT
BF - e EEEEHRMBMGE - BENL
RAEERNERESRFEAETRESHE
B EEAEREERR - BAEZEAR /R
B o BWEZRFIREERE A FEBS

RS BRE - IRIBAFEHA - BUE SRR
HIRBREMARE DT

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Within 1 month 1ELA AR 550,292 952,372
1 to 2 months 12218 A 108,926 55,269
2 to 3 months 2231 A 39,340 32,239
Over 3 months #31E A 450,715 596,746
1,149,273 1,636,626
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

24. Trade Receivables (Continued) 24. EWE 5 R (#)
The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are as JEWE SRR EREE ST
follows:
2016 2015
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
P s THET FHTT
Carrying amount at beginning of year FUMERAEE 141,788 158,268
Provision for/(reversal of provision for) FEUE B RFURERE,
impairment of trade receivables (el HEE) 6 96,660 (16,400)
Exchange realignment [ 5 g %X 408 (80)
Carrying amount at end of year FRRHEE 238,856 141,788
The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not individually BRI E 5T TR AR E R FE W E 5 8RR BR
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: DM
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Neither past due nor impaired REER K AR R B 297,010 875,257
Less than 1 month past due EE P M A 253,282 77,115
1 to 3 months past due B Z=3(E A 148,266 87,508
Over 3 months past due BAER3ME A LA E 450,715 596,746
1,149,273 1,636,626
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired and past due R ER R AR E A K& B H B KR E R EUGRIE
but not impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers HMASTNERFEH  BESOWERGCEE
for whom there was no recent history of default. The Group would EEREHFENKA - AEETFREELRE
not release the property ownership certificates to the buyers before EE o

the buyers fully settle the payment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

25. Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables 25. RRIE - Re R HEMERTRIE

2016 2015

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

B sE T FHTT

Prepayments TEfFIE 286,265 207,554

Receivables for disposal of subsidiaries S E A R FE U E A - 12,504

Deposits and other receivables & RHEMEWFRIE 487,085 425,503
Current portion of finance lease receivables &M EREKRIE Y

BNERER 21 7,910 8,224

781,260 653,785

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to R Lt AR ABRAY © Bl & B Bl W AR R EREC 8% ©

receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

26. Held-for-Trading Investments at Fair Value 26. ZBEBERUAFEHIERZFEEE

Through Profit or Loss K&

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHTT
Listed investment funds at market value EMEFEN LMIREES 27,365 32,890
The above listed investment funds at 31 March 2016 and 2015 were 20165 K201543A31H @ Lt FHiREE
classified as held-for-trading upon initial recognition, and designated SFHRRSBAFEEE - ARNBESES
by the Group as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss FTEARNEENHEESERE - MASEKEEE

since they were acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of AHEBEHUATETIENSREE -

selling or repurchasing in the near term.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

27. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

27. REeRBEEEYRZIRHERE

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$'000

TERT FAT

Cash and bank balances & MIRTTHE S 11,686,695 8,672,722
Less: Restricted cash* B RREIERE (2,358,888) (1,419,253
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRESEEY 9,327,807 7,253,469

* Restricted cash mainly comprises: (i) guarantee deposits for the
mortgage loan facilities granted by the banks to purchasers of the
Group's properties; (i) guarantee funds of construction projects to
meet local authorities’ requirements; (iii) certain amounts of pre-
sale proceeds from properties placed as guarantee deposits for the
construction of related properties; and (iv) certain amounts of proceeds
from lease of properties which have been placed as guarantee deposits
for the borrowings.

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in Renminbi amounted to
HK$7,709,882,000 (2015: HK$5,488,597,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and restricted cash
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Certain of the Group’s bank deposits with a carrying amounts of
HK$245,330,000 as at 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil), were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group (note 29).

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 431H

28. Trade and Other Payables 28. EZ R HMEMRIE
2016 2015
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B sE FTHET FHTT
Other payables and accruals Hh fETRE R FERTIE B 2,514,025 1,626,215
Notes payable ANE S (0] 203,708 187,560
Deposits and receipts in advance & RIEWIE 4,184,827 3,913,942
Construction fee and retention payables ENEERERLERES (ii) 6,367,164 7,806,948
13,269,724 13,534,665

(i)  An aged analysis of the Group’s notes payable presented based

) RERSHRTEFEREZAZENRIE

on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as RBRER D ITIOT -
follows:

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAT
1 to 3 months 1231@ A 72,625 187,560
Over 3 months iBA31E A 131,083 -
203,708 187,560

(i) An aged analysis of the construction fee and retention payables

(i) MBEMRZEERRRESENFAN

as at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BREC AT -
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT
Within 1 year 1R 6,152,501 7,714,040
Over 1 year B 214,663 92,908
6,367,164 7,806,948
The construction fee and retention payables are non-interest- ERNEEEAMMREBE AR ERAR—K

bearing and repayable within the normal operating cycle or on

demand.

The other payables are non-interest-bearing.

HAENFRRRE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

29. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings 29. FFERITRHEMEE
2016 2015
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) (%)
EBAI= Maturity HK$'000 ERA= Maturity HK$'000
(%) ) T (%) Bl Fir
Current B
Bank loans - unsecured ROEH-ERE 3.30%-6.00% 2016-2017 1,712,502 5.50%-6.94% 2015-2016 2,357,004
Bank loans - secured BOEF-EHA 3.97%-5.34% 2016-2017 1,691,277  6.16%-6.60% 2015-2016 1,025,328
Current portion of long term RERITRAM SR
bank and other borrowings: MRS -
Bank loans - unsecured RITER—BER 5.15%-7.50% 2016-2017 654,767  6.15%-7.07% 2015-2016 1,280,871
HIBOR+2.65% HIBOR+2.65%-
HIBOR+2.75%
Bank loans - secured RIES-EEA 4.41%-17.48% 2016-2017 3,598,332  5.54%-8.00% 2015-2016 2,161,746
7,656,878 6,824,949
Non-current FEH
Bank loans - unsecured RTED - BERE 5.15%-5.46% 2017-2020 601,300  6.15%-7.07% 2016-2020 1,467,249
HIBOR+2.65%-
HIBOR+2.75%
Bank loans - secured ROEH-EEE 4.41%-17.48% 2017-2022 8,364,563  5.54%-7.38% 2016-2021 7,173,149
8,965,863 8,640,398
16,622,741 15,465,347

210  china South City Holdings Limited # &R ER A &



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

29. Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(Continued)

FTEBRTREMEE®)

2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Analysed into: DITFN A -
Bank loans repayable: AR THIRERR
HRITER

Within one year or on demand —FRREEK 7,656,878 6,824,949
In the second year F=- 4,368,426 4,296,445

In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FF
(BEEEMFER) 4,291,375 3,809,632
Beyond five years AFi& 306,062 534,321
16,622,741 15,465,347

Bank loans with a total amount of HK$13,654,172,000 (2015:
HK$10,360,223,000) are secured by:

0)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Certain of the Group’s buildings with aggregate carrying values
of approximately HK$469,182,000 as at 31 March 2016 (2015:
HK$23,546,000) (note 13);

Certain of the Group’s investment properties situated
in Mainland China with aggregate carrying values of
approximately HK$21,237,246,000 as at 31 March 2016 (2015:
HK$20,652,214,000) (note 14);

Certain of the Group’'s properties under development
situated in Mainland China with aggregate carrying values of
approximately HK$779,665,000 as at 31 March 2016 (2015:
HK$190,683,000) (note 15);

Certain of the Group's properties held for sale with aggregate
carrying values of approximately HK$3,644,590,000 as at 31
March 2016 (2015: HK$3,626,061,000) (note 23); and

Certain of Group's bank deposits with carrying amounts of
HK$245,330,000 as at 31 March 2016 (2015: Nil) (note 27).

#84£13,654,172,0007%5 70 (20154 : 10,360,223,000
BT MIRITE A TS EEA

0

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

R2016F3 A31 HERE £ {E49469,182,000
BITHAEESE T #EF (2015 F :
23,546,000/ 7T ) (Ff{7E13)

MW 20163 A3 HE®LMELY
21,237,246,000 /& 7T K A &£ B 7 ®
FEAKERNE TREYE(2015F
20,652,214,000587T) (KizE14) :

201643 A31 B RE42{E#7779,665,000
BT AEBEMNARBERKERNE TEHEF
¥ (20154 : 190,683,0007% 7t ) (Bt 5F
15) :

M 2016 3 A31 HEE®BEMAEHD
3,644,590,000% TR A & BE TS 1EIHE
I3 (20154 ¢ 3,626,061,00058 7T ) (B 7F
23) &

120163 A31HEEME 4 {83£245,330,000

BT AREE A TRTER(20154 : £#)
(FfFE27) ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

29.

30.

Interest-Bearing Bank and Other Borrowings
(Continued)

Except for the bank loan equivalent to HK$300,000,000 (2015:
HK$850,000,000), which is denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
bears interest at a floating rate of the Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered
Rate HIBOR +2.65% (2015: HIBOR +2.65% to HIBOR +2.75%), the
other interest-bearing borrowings of the Group are denominated in
RMB and bear interest at floating rates ranging from 3.30% to 7.50%
per annum (2015: 5.50% to 8.00% per annum).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
approximate to their fair values, which have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows at the prevailing interest
rates.

Short-Term Notes
The Group has the following short-term notes remain in issue at the
end of the reporting period:

(i) On 17 October 2014, China South International completed
the issuance of the first tranche of short-term notes of 2014
(the “2014 First tranche STN") with a total principal amount of
RMB2,200,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,750,880,000) in the
national inter-bank market of the PRC. The 2014 First tranche
STN carried interest at the rate of 5.4% per annum, payable
on 17 October in arrears, and will mature on 17 October 2015.
The amount has been fully settled in October 2015.

(i)  On 9 September 2015, China South International completed
the issuance of the first tranche of short-term notes of 2015
(the “2015 First tranche STN"”) with a total principal amount of
RMB2,100,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,559,480,000) in the
national inter-bank market of the PRC. The 2015 First tranche
STN carry interest at the rate of 4.3% per annum, payable on 9
September in arrears, and will mature on 9 September 2016.

The fair value of the short-term notes at 31 March 2016 amounted
to HK$2,588,000,000 (2015: HK$2,817,041,000). The fair value
is calculated using the market price of the short-term notes on 31
March 2016.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7

29.

30.

FTEBRTREMEE®)

BRIZR BB RITEEFREN2.65%(2015F : &
BIRTTRIZEFRBIN2.65%EEBIRITRIEIRS
N2.75% ) 2 % B A1 # 51 8. #9300,000,000 7% 7T
(20154 : 850,000,000 70 ) $R1TEFKAB T A
BAISN  ANEEATE R EEEHUARE S
B WIRFF330%E7.50%ZEFIEET5
(2015% : F45.50%%8.00% K ZENF|K) -

AEEFRRITEAMEENREEREE A FE
BE - DA ARRERENE RN RN

o

i

e E 35
FEBRBERRE AN T 2 ERAREHER

GE

() FEPBEER2014F10817B5EKIEFRBR
TS EIT2014FE — R HmES
R 4a%E R AR #2,200,000,0007T (F85
1 /A2,750,880,000/8 7T ) ° 20144 5 — &f
RHRESFFERA54% FFMN10817
B - WiA5HR2015F10 5178 2H -
HESHEER2015F 108 28Tt -

(i)  FERPREEMNR201599 A9 H e £ RRTT
MMIHEIT2015FF —HRHRES - &
S #aEE A AR 2,100,000,0007T (FBH R
#$2,559,480,000/8 7T) ° 2015F % —Hi%
HiRWVE S FREK A43%  BFERIAIBE
A WER2016459 A9 F FIER -

M2016F3A31H @ RHBMESFNAFEE
2,588,000,0003% 7T (20154 : 2,817,041,0003%
TL) o AETYE R HRE 5201693 A31
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

31. Senior Notes
The Group has the following senior notes remain in issue at the end
of the reporting period:

0

On 17 October 2012, the Company issued senior notes with
an aggregate principal amount of US$125,000,000 (the “2012
Notes”). The 2012 Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. The 2012 Notes carry interest at
13.5% per annum, payable semi-annually on 17 April and 17
October in arrears, and will mature on 17 October 2017, unless
redeemed earlier. The offering price was at 97.381% of the
2012 Notes.

At any time on or after 17 October 2015, the Company may
redeem the 2012 Notes, in whole or in part, at a redemption
price equal to the percentage of the principal amount set
forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest as of (but not
including) the redemption date if redeemed during the twelve
month period beginning on 17 October of each of the years
indicated below:

Period Redemption price
2015 106.750%
2016 and thereafter 103.375%

At any time prior to 17 October 2015, the Company may at
its option redeem the 2012 Notes, in whole but not in part, at
a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2012 Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the redemption
date.

At any time prior to 17 October 2015, the Company may
redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of
the 2012 Notes with net cash proceeds of one or more sales
of common stock of the Company in an equity offering at a
redemption price of 113.5% of the principal amount of the
2012 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to (but
not including) the redemption date, provided that at least 65%
of the aggregate principal amount of the 2012 Notes originally
issued remains outstanding after each such redemption and
any such redemption takes place within 60 days after the
closing of the related sale of the Company’s capital stock and is
subject to certain conditions.

31. BEEE
AEERBE RN N TELEIBERT -

R2012F 108178 * XARIBEBITALE
125,000,000 7T (8 56 Z= 5 ([ 20124F
ZE])  20RFEZERFMEBELRS
FTAR AR LM ° 2012 F 21 1% F 5 X
135%:T B BFFR48178X10817
BAEAE ST - iR 20171081782
(BRIERFEEE) - HEER2012FFEM
97.381% ©

R2015F 10 B 17 Bk 2 B EA R - 2
RElEESEN TAASEE S LA EE
B ZSNEZELBRH(ETEEZE)N
R RARMFE - BEE2EE520124F
ZEMMR TXFAREFEI0A178HE

/91218 A HAREI A ER])

iR e E
20154 106.750%
2016F K 2 1% 103.375%

R2015F 10 A 17 B A{ERESRE - ANA R
AMZMAE R 2012 R BN S 5100% HIHE =
B ZHNEZERAH(ETEEZE)
2022 BHER B R 2 R ANFIE
(wnE)  BERZEMEIEZLH201225 -

72015610817 B BIE( R - N2 A
A LAFERR DB & R AT — IRk Z N EHE R
ARIEBRATERIRS FIEFEEE - 122012
ZEARESFEI1135%NERE - BHEE
JEE R (BETEEZB )M R RANF)
B(nA)  BRRZ2012EEAEEEN
35% @ HEFREBEEE20122HRETAE
wEEmLe5%ANAER - BERABEE
EIZEREEA R R A E &R %608 A
ETRERRE TIEME -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

31. Senior Notes (Continued)

(ii)

On 29 January 2014, the Company issued senior notes with an
aggregate principal amount of US$400,000,000 (the “2014
Notes”). The 2014 Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. The 2014 Notes carry interest at
the rate of 8.25% per annum, payable semi-annually on 29
January and 29 July in arrears, and will mature on 29 January
2019, unless redeemed earlier. The offering price was at
98.999% of the principal amount of the 2014 Notes.

At any time and from time to time on or after 29 January 2017,
the Company may redeem the 2014 Notes, in whole or in part,
at a redemption price equal to the percentage of the principal
amount set forth below plus accrued and unpaid interest as of
(but not including) the redemption date if redeemed during the
twelve month period beginning on 29 January of each of the
years indicated below:
Period Redemption price
2017

2018 and thereafter

104.1250%
102.0625%

At any time prior to 29 January 2017, the Company may at its
option redeem the 2014 Notes, in whole but not in part, at a
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of
the 2014 Notes plus the applicable premium and accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, as of (but not including) the redemption
date.

At any time and from time to time prior to 29 January 2017,
the Company may redeem up to 35% of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2014 Notes with the net cash proceeds
of one or more sales of common stock of the Company in
an equity offering at a redemption price of 108.25% of the
principal amount of the 2014 Notes, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, if any, to (but not including) the redemption date,
provided that at least 65% of the aggregate principal amount
of the 2014 Notes originally issued remains outstanding after
each such redemption and any such redemption takes place
within 60 days after the closing of the related sale of the
Company'’s capital stock and is subject to certain conditions.
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31. BERE @)

(ii)

R2014F 18298 » KRARIZETAS A%
400,000,000 TR 5 B #E ([ 2014 F &
&) - 2014F ZBERIINE B LR HMAE
FRAR LT ° 2014F ZEIEFFIE8.25%
8 SXEMN B298 k7298 HiE
£+ S F20194F 1 A29 B BB (BR FE1R
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98.999% °

R2017F1 B29H sk 2 B EMEE + AR
RIAMRAEER TR S E A 5t # fiE =
B ZNEEELBH(EREEZB)W
S RANFE - EEE I I;EH 20145
ZE(RR T XA RESFEE1A29B8 FIRH
121@ A BRI A EER) ¢

HARS EEE
20174 104.1250%
2018F K 2 1% 102.0625%

20171 29 BTER R + AARF)A]
RIS R2014F ZE ARG EE100% K fE B
B SNHEELQAH(ETEREZA)
2014F S 8)E R B A R 25T RARRT
B(E)  BEEIFEFIHLH20145F
% -
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ZEARLE108.25%MWERIE @ ZME=E
EOHB(ETEEZB) R RAMNF
B(nE)  BERZ2014FZEAE B
#I35% * MERAREREE2014F ZRIBIRET
A& R AIV65%ANAER - BEMEAE
FEE R AR B AR A R IR AN S & A R 1260
BAR#EIT R ZRNE TS



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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31 March 2016 201643 A31H

31. Senior Notes (Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the 2012 Notes and 2014
Notes (the “Senior Notes”) contain liability components and early
redemption options as follow:

0)

(ii)

The liability component represents the present value of
the contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the prevailing market interest rate at that time
applicable to instruments with comparable credit status that
provided substantially the same cash flows, on the same terms,
but without the embedded derivatives.

The interest charged for the period is calculated by applying
effective interest rates of approximately 14.62% and 8.90%
per annum to the liability component of the 2012 Notes and
2014 Notes, respectively, since they were issued.

Early redemption options are regarded as embedded derivatives
not closely related to the host contract. The directors consider
that the fair value of the above early redemption options is
insignificant on initial recognition and at 31 March 2016.

The Senior Notes recognised in the statement of financial position
were calculated as follows:

31. BREE®)

RBEHR - 2012FRBER 20145 RIE (B L
S DEA MaEERS R iR EmE

() BEFIEANMEERKRERERE
BRI A L BREEFRILIZ AR GRREHAR
BHERRESREAERATETANTA
ERERNRITHSMERTRNEE -

HAURER B9 R B 545 201 2 F 248 K 20144
ZRFITURNBES DD BIERERF
R #)14.62% }8.90% & -

(iy REPBEOEERALIFHLFENERYH
BHBRATETR - ESRARIIRER
NE20165F3A31H @ LR RERIER
DNEETK ©

ERF BN KERNOBERIBEAENT

2016 2015

HK$°000 HK$'000

THERT FHTT

Carrying amount at the beginning of year REFIH BREE 4,082,811 4,056,838
Payment of interest AR (389,024) (389,024)
Interest expenses FERX 419,576 414,997
Carrying amount at the end of year RELAIREE 4,113,363 4,082,811

The fair value of the Senior Notes at 31 March 2016 amounted to
HK$4,155,497,000 (2015: HK$4,028,737,000). The fair value is
calculated using the market price of the Senior Notes on 31 March
2016.

On 15 April 2016, the Company redeemed the outstanding

2012 Notes. Further details are given in note 48 to the financial

statements.

M2016F3A31H BEEENAFEEE
4,155,497,0005 7T (20154F : 4,028,737,00076
TL) o A ENERELEERENR20165F3H31H
R ISERTE -

R2016F4 8158 » AAFELKEER2012
FEIE o #E— TERFHN T EHREMITELS -
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31 March 2016 201643 A31H

32. Medium-Term Notes
The Group has the following medium-term notes remain in issue at
the end of the reporting period:

(i) On 9 May 2014, China South International completed the
issuance of the first tranche of medium-term notes of 2014
(the “2014 First tranche MTN") with a total principal amount
of RMB1,000,000,000 in the national inter-bank market of the
PRC. The 2014 First tranche MTN carry interest at the rate of
7.5% per annum, payable annually on 9 May in arrears, and
will mature on 9 May 2019.

(i) On 12 September 2014, China South International completed
the issuance of the second tranche of medium-term notes
of 2014 (the “2014 Second tranche MTN") with a total
principal amount of RMB1,000,000,000 in the national inter-
bank market of the PRC. The 2014 Second tranche MTN carry
interest at the rate of 8.4% per annum, payable annually on 12
September in arrears, and will mature on 12 September 2019.

(i) On 13 July 2015, China South International completed the
issuance of the first tranche of medium-term notes of 2015
(the “2015 First tranche MTN"”) with a total principal amount
of RMB2,000,000,000 in the national inter-bank market of the
PRC. The 2015 First tranche MTN carry interest at the rate of
7.0% per annum, payable annually on 13 July in arrears, and
will mature on 13 July 2018.

The medium-term notes recognised in the statement of financial
position were calculated as follows:

32. PHIRE
REERHREARDG AT P IRBEET

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

R FEE 2014495 A9H 5Tk ISR 1T
FMHEIT2014FE—HPPEE - K¢
#a%E A A R#1,000,000,0007T ° 201445
—HAZEEN R 57.5% - FENSHIH%E
XA WHEER 20195 B9E BIER o

ERBIFE 201449 A 12 A 52K & B IR
TS EIT2014FE P HEE - K
S 4EFE A AR 1,000,000,0007T © 20144F
F_HZERFERNRE84%  BEFERIA12
Bt - W57 2019F9 128 25 -

ERIBFR 201547 A 13 A 52k £ A B R
TETIHEIT2015F F — B HEE -
S 4858 A AR%2,000,000,0007T © 20154
FHPHERFNERT.0% - BFRT
A13R%&E - WwER2018F7 138 E
g,q °

ERF BN KR T HAZIEAAENT

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Carrying amount at the beginning of year RERIIREE 2,704,226 -
Additions #ig 2,415,662 2,483,550
Interest expenses FERAX 327,161 143,505
Payment of interests S AFE (196,953) -
Exchange realignment PE W AR (223,400) 77,171
Carrying amount at the end of year RELRIIREE 5,026,696 2,704,226

The fair value of the medium-term notes at 31 March 2016
amounted to HK$5,273,563,000 (2015: HK$2,721,145,000). The
fair value is calculated using the market price of the medium-term
notes on 31 March 2016.
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33.

34.

Corporate Bonds

On 13 April 2015, China South International completed the
issuance of the corporate bonds with a total principal amount of
RMB1,500,000,000 on the Shanghai Stock Exchange of the PRC.
The corporate bonds carry interest at the rate of 7.0% per annum,
payable annually on 13 April in arrears, and will mature on 13 April
2021.

The corporate bonds recognised in the statement of financial
position was calculated as follows:

33.

EES

HEREEER2015%4 A 138 e AP E HiEE S
R G ATETAS BB AR 1,500,000,0007T
WEES - BEEHFFNERT.0%  BFR4
A138%& %t - WiER2021F4813E 58 -

ERMBEMNAERERESAENT

2016
HK$°000
THET
Carrying amount at the beginning of year RE A BREE =
Additions it 1,787,980
Interest expenses FERZ 128,832
Exchange realignment M 5 S (25,593)
Carrying amount at the end of year RE LR BREE 1,891,219

The fair value of the corporate bonds as at 31 March 2016
amounted to HK$1,867,037,000. The fair value is calculated using
the market price of the corporate bonds on 31 March 2016.

Domestic Company Bonds

On 14 January 2016, China South International completed the
issuance of the domestic company bonds with a total principal
amount of RMB3,000,000,000 on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange of
the PRC. The domestic company bonds carry interest at the rate of
5.98% per annum, payable annually on 13 January in arrears, and
will mature on 13 January 2019.

34.

MR2016F3A31H ' bXEEHFHNAFEE
1,867,037,000/ 7T - AFEFERALEESFR
2016F3 F31 BN MIBEI&ETE -

RARRES

FERFEER2016F1 A 148 TR ANRYIESER S
FrEs 1T A< 858 & AR 3,000,000,000 T HY 3R
RABMES ° ZIBANABIEFFFEE5.98%
BEM A13BEZM - WiR201941713H
ZH o
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31 March 2016 201643 431H

34. Domestic Company Bonds (Continued)

35.

The domestic company bonds recognised in the statement of
financial position was calculated as follows:

34. BADQTES &)
ERB BN LSRN ATEEFEWT

2016

HK$°000

THET

Carrying amount at the beginning of year REVRIBREE -
Additions i 3,582,545
Interest expenses FERX 47,210
Exchange realignment PE 3% (669)
Carrying amount at the end of year RERRBREE 3,629,086

The fair value of the domestic company bonds as at 31 March 2016
amounted to HK$3,662,374,000. The fair value of the domestic
company bonds is estimated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond
with consideration of the Group’s own credit and liquidity risk.

Deferred Tax
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year
are as follows:

35.

M20165F3A31HREARRIESFNAFER
3,662,374,000/ 7T ° BN A RIEFHNATFET)
EBRERFEAEFNRAOTSIR(ZEBRL S
BErEERRBDESRER)  EEHARKES

FEMLE -

EE IR

FRETHBAREREEZESWT

Deferred tax liabilities EEMEAE
Revaluation
of property,
Accelerated  Revaluation plantand  Capitalised
tax of investment ~ Withholding  equipment interest
depreciation  properties tax W% BER expense Total
MERERE REMEESR BN REER  EALAHE @t
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wiz ThR ThR ThR ThR TER TER
At 1 April 2015 #201554R18 268,531 3,747,265 332,949 95,523 14,828 4,459,096
Deferred tax charged to ERRBER AR
the statement of profit or EERIE
loss during the year 10 81,266 808,175 44,750 - 185,503 1,119,694
Deferred tax transferred out i~ RKERHB AR
in respect of withholding sitliitesehiliol
tax paid by a PRC subsidiary ~ iEERE - - (21,681) - - (21,681)
Exchange realignment B AR (11,419) (154,711) (14,663) (3,652) (3,198) (187,643)
At 31 March 2016 1#2016%3A31H 338,378 4,400,729 341,355 91,871 197,133 5,369,466
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35. Deferred Tax (Continued) 35. IEELEBLIIE ()
Deferred tax assets IRIEFIBEE
Loss available Tax effect of
for offsetting  Provisionfor  government
against future  impairment  grants relating
Tax effect taxable profits of trade to assets
of LAT  T{HESAR  receivables — BEEEZ
IHBERN  ERRARD e RS BB Total
HEze g AERE HHze &zt
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
izt TiEn TiEn Ti#n Ti#n Ti#n
At 1 April 2015 R2015F4A18 1,015,870 152,803 39,136 267,514 1,475,323
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the statement of  ERRERRR A/ (F1B)E)
profit or loss during the year BERE 10 (5,966) 211,838 24,039 506,941 736,852
Exchange realignment R (38,750) (8,846) (1,817) (17,415) (66,828)
At 31 March 2016 #2016%3A31H 971,154 355,795 61,358 757,040 2,145,347
Deferred tax liabilities ELEBEEE
Revaluation
of property,
Accelerated Revaluation plant and Capitalised
tax  of investment  Withholding equipment interest
depreciation properties tax ¥ BER expense Total
MEFEHE RENFER il REEER  ANEAE @t
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wiz TATL TATL TATL TR T T
At 1 April 2014 201454518 190,424 3,136,712 473,979 95,294 - 3,896,409
Deferred tax charged/(credited)  FRMNBERZAIG /
to the statement of profitor (G A)KOEIER B
loss during the year 10 71214 599,633 (142,219) - 14,745 549,373
Exchange realignment A% 893 10,920 1,189 229 83 13314
At 31 March 2015 ®2015%3A31H 268,531 3,747,265 332,949 95,523 14,828 4,459,096
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35. Deferred Tax (Continued) 35. IEERIE ()
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE
Loss available Tax effect of
for offsetting Provision for government
against future impairment  grants relating
Taxeffect  taxable profits of trade 10 assets
of LAT  AHHESAR receivables EWEEL
TIEERN  ERBNER FUES BB Total
ity BB AERRE hhe e @t
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
izt TR AL TR TR AL
At 1 April 2014 R2014F4R18 709,048 52,603 44,545 226,607 1,032,803
Deferred tax credited(charged) to the statement of  FERFMERR AT/ (FIR )&
profit or loss during the year BRI 10 303,416 99,513 (5,485) 40,137 437,581
Exchange realignment B 5% 3,406 687 76 710 4939
At 31 March 2015 R2015F3A318 1,015,870 152,803 39,136 267,514 1,475,323

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of HK$258,183,000
(2015: HK$177,216,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose.

The Group also has tax losses in Mainland China of HK$394,359,000
(2015: HK$275,659,000) that will expire in one to five years for
offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The
requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the
jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable
rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by subsidiaries established in Mainland China
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. In the current
year, the Group accrued withholding tax of HK$44,750,000 (2015:
reversal of HK$142,219,000) for those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China.
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AEBRNEBEERTLIEEE /258,183,000
7t (20154 : 177,216,000/ 7T ) » B] 2[R B 45
o DUKSEE £ BB A R AR RERB R o

AEBITRAEAEEEATEBEESEREA
394,359,000 /& jt ( 2015 4F : 275,659,000 i
TL) C R —ERFRER ¢ 7 AR HE AR K E
R A o

BN ZEEHEHD HIREE RN E QR

EX - BRR R BEH 78 - A ERRBE F|IA

HIHZ SR B ANTIARE - B B B EE
RIELEHAEE °

RIEP B ZERRERE - LR H B R 8
HNEIRE B EREIMNEEE SRR B BN
10%TEHIATIS T © 235 E B2008F1 A1 H#EAE
B WiE AR 2007F12831H%& ZZF o i+
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36. Share Capital 36. &7

Shares &)
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHTT

Issued and fully paid: BETRAR
7,999,321,999 (31 March 2015: 8,000,671,999) 7,999,321,999/%
ordinary shares (201543 A318 :

8,000,671,9990% ) &3 Ik 7,043,784 7,034,761

A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital is as

ARANRARBHENT -

follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
ERITROHE ;&S
Notes HK$'000
PiEE FAT
At 1 April 2014 R2014F481H 6,907,114,000 4,684,476
Exercise of share options Sty (a) 268,320,000 453,089
Shares repurchased %15 188 (44,562,000) =
Conversion of convertible notes B TR AR R 624,999,999 1,045,292
Exercise of Tencent call options 1T{E T B AR A 244,800,000 851,904
At 31 March 2015 7201563 H31H 8,000,671,999 7,034,761
At 1 April 2015 R2015F481H 8,000,671,999 7,034,761
Exercise of share options TR e (a) 4,650,000 9,023
Shares repurchased f& 17 Bl 58 (b) (6,000,000) =
At 31 March 2016 M20169F3A31H 7,999,321,999 7,043,784
Notes: PifEE -

(a)

(b)

The subscription rights attaching to 4,650,000 (2015: 268,320,000)
share options were exercised at the average subscription price of
approximately HK$1.6900 (2015: HK$1.4541) per share (note 38),
resulting in issue of 4,650,000 shares of a total cash consideration,
before expenses, of HK$7,859,000. An amount of approximately
HK$1,164,000 (2015: HK$62,917,000) was transferred from the share
option reserve to share capital upon the exercise of the share options.

The Company repurchased a total of 6,000,000 shares at prices ranging
from HK$1.80 to HK$2.00 per share on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited during the year. The amount of HK$11,602,000 in
connection with the share repurchase was paid from the distributable
profits of the Company. All 6,000,000 shares repurchased were
cancelled on 9 October 2015.

(@  FK14,650,000(2015%F : 268,320,000) 17 B& A& ##
2 RBEDNFANAZRFHITFEEL1.6900
HIC (20154 : 1.4541% 7T ) (M 3E38) AT
EEANA F)3£174,650,0008% (F0BR 2 1TRI ST A
187,859,000 70 ) MR AN o & BERRAEITE - 4
1,164,000/ 7T (20154 : 62,917,000/ 7T ) A&
PRI B B BTG -

(b) MAEEZER - KARFIAFH.80/ T E2.00/ T
BB A% TR & 7 Bk 22 T g [21 2K A 516,000,000 A% A%
15 o ERR 7 BI85 B RS 58 3£11,602,0007 T
RABW R S ERFEF =T - 2206,000,0004%
FEEIAXD E 201510 B 9B 15t °
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36.

37.

38.

Share Capital (continued)

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options
issued under the scheme are included in note 38 to the financial
statements.

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash flows
Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group further subscribed for 288,000,000
shares of HOBA Furnishing, which was satisfied by cash of
RMB52,221,000 (equivalent to HK$63,647,000) and investment
properties with fair value aggregated to RMB365,547,000 (equivalent
to HK$445,529,000). Further details are given in note 1(v) to the
financial statements.

Share Options

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 4 September
2009 (the “Share Option Scheme”) to provide incentives and reward
to selected eligible persons which includes directors, employees,
officers, agents, consultants or representatives of the Group for
their contribution or potential contribution to the Company or its
subsidiaries. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 30
September 2009 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date. Further details of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in the “Report of the Directors” in
the Company’s annual report.

On 11 April 2011, a total of 226,900,000 share options under the
Share Option Scheme were granted. These share options have an
exercise price of HK$1.29 per share and an exercise period ranging
from 11 April 2011 to 10 April 2016. Of the total 226,900,000 share
options, 15,000,000 share options were granted to an executive
director of the Company, and 211,900,000 share options were
granted to certain employees of the Group.

The fair value of the 226,900,000 share options granted was
HK$58,175,000 of which no share option expense was recognised
during the current year (2015: HK$24,000).

On 27 June 2012, a total of 116,870,000 share options under the
Share Option Scheme were granted. These share options have an
exercise price of HK$1.15 per share and an exercise period ranging
from 27 June 2012 to 26 June 2017. Of the total 116,870,000 share
options, 69,870,000 share options were granted to certain executive
directors, and 47,000,000 share options were granted to certain
employees of the Group.
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36.

37.

38.

PR ()

B

BIRAR BR8N s B T E BT M
PR E SE A B IS SRR OB 3238 o

GERERERMT
FEXRERS

RAFER @ REEARE ARMS52,221,000
TL (HEE 10 63,647,0008 L) R AFEARE
365,547,000 7T (#8574 445,529,0005% 7T ) Ky 1%
B ) 3 R 8 288,000,000 % 4 B £ 5K E HI R
19 o #E— B BRI BRIV -

B R fE
AAFER200999 A4 BIR MR AT 2] ([ 88
fRiEErEl]) - MEAQRHEMBARELR
B BEERNCHESERALT(BERAEE
EE BB BABE B BRRER)IR
HEEE) K B3R - BEIRRERT I 8200949 A30 A i
3 WHAE B REFETF (RIEFUEELE
E]) o BEIRFERT EIME — R IBEN AR F P
mIESEG®RE] -

R20MFEA4/11B » AEBRHAEH
226,900,00017 B i - ZEHWRERNITEE
RER1.29%BT - ITEAR201MFI4ANBE
2016F4 108 ° R4 $£226,900,00017 B i 1
&+ 15,000,00017 BERRIEE IR T AR B —R8IT
EE 0 5211,900,0007 B ERIE T AS B H
FESE -

Ffr #% H #9 226,900,000 19 B8 % 1 2 A F B B
58,175,000/ 7T @ AN B A A& NI EREREE
P& #ER S (20154F : 24,0008 L) °

M2012%F 6 278 » AEB K H A H
116,870,000 17 B8 AR #E o 7% 55 HE AR A A9 17 {8 4
RERI1ISHETT - 1T R2012F6 H27R E
201746 H26H ° A4 $£116,870,00017 & ik #
# 69,870,000 BIREER FTARBMITE
% 547,000,000 fERR HE R TS B A TE

o

o
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38. Share Options (Continued) 38. BRE®

The fair value of the 116,870,000 share options granted was
HK$25,140,000, of which no share option expense was recognised
during the current year (2015: HK$76,000).

On 27 June 2013, a total of 186,300,000 share options under the
Share Option Scheme were granted. These share options have an
exercise price of HK$1.69 per share and an exercise period ranging
from 27 June 2013 to 26 June 2018. Of the total 186,300,000 share
options, 70,800,000 share options were granted to certain executive
directors of the Company, and 115,500,000 share options were
granted to certain employees of the Group.

The fair value of the 186,300,000 share options granted was
HK$44,470,000, of which the Group recognised a share
option expense of HK$202,000 during the current year (2015:
HK$5,907,000).

On 17 February 2014, a total of 48,000,000 share options under
the Share Option Scheme were granted. These share options have
an exercise price of HK$4.14 per share and an exercise period
ranging from 17 February 2014 to 16 February 2019. Of the total
48,000,000 share options, 8,000,000 share options were granted to
certain independent non-executive directors of the Company, and
40,000,000 share options were granted to certain employees of the
Group.

The fair value of the 48,000,000 share options granted was
HK$36,470,000, of which the Group recognised a share
option expense of HK$749,000 during the current year (2015:
HK$13,657,000).

On 30 June 2014, a total of 103,300,000 share options under the
Share Option Scheme were granted to certain directors, senior
management and certain other employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries in respect of their services to the Group. These share
options have an exercise price of HK$4.07 per share and an exercise
period ranging from 30 June 2014 to 29 June 2019.

The fair value of the 103,300,000 share options granted was
HK$83,552,000, of which the Group recognised a share option
expense of HK$10,689,000 during the current year (2015:
HK$71,078,000).

On 13 January 2016, a total of 79,990,000 share options under the
Share Option Scheme were granted to a director of the Company
in respect of his services to the Group. These share options have an
exercise price of HK$1.528 per share and an exercise period ranging
from 13 January 2016 to 12 January 2022.

Ffr % 1 116,870,000 1 B IR #E &9 R F E B
25,140,000/ 7T © AEBEIRAFEE AN EERE
P& #ER S (20154F : 76,0008 7T) ©

20136 278 @ RIBFEREFTEIRE S
186,300,000 17 5 X 4 - % S HEMRIEMITEE
RBER1.69%8TT - 1TEAA2013F6H27HE
201846 26 H » 4 £186,300,00017 i i ##
# + 70,800,00017 BB IR T AR BIINITE
%+ 5115,500,00017 B ERE T AEBE T
==

RARERE - A% HA#9186,300,00017 RS HE 2 A
(& 544,470,000/ 7T + H AL BHER IR AR
F952202,000/ 7T (20154 : 5,907,000/87T) ©

2014562 5178 © RIBFEREFEIRE SR
48,000,000 BB 1 - ZEBRENITEERT
f&4.147% 70 - 7 ERB2014F2 178 E2019
F2H16H - A 48,000,000 B A+ -
8,000,00017 IR B 4% T AN A A1 B IEITE
% 5540,000,00017 HEAx#E A X T A B S TE

=
B o

BT % H #9 48,000,000 19 B i #E 0 A F B B
36,470,000/ 7T « HFAREBERARNFERNER
B A% 4 7 52 749,000 7T (20154F : 13,657,000
PBIT) ©

20146 A30H @ IREBREAEINARTE
FARRGBIZESE - SR EEERANARREK B
ARETIEERFEERNAEB AT REN RS D
4 3£103,300,00017 fE AR 1 - % S RAERN T
BARERA0TETT - TTHEIR20145F6 H30R &
20196 H29H

Ffr #% H 89 103,300,000 19 B& i 1 2 A B B
83,552,000 7T « AR AL BB RAFE A
R R 4 10,689,000 7T (20154
71,078,00078 7T ) °

201651 A 138 @ IREEREAEIRART —
HEERREFRAAEBMEEORBELE H
79,990,000 i AR #E - ZERBRENITEERE
f&1.528% 7 » 1T1# i /A20164E1 H13H £2022
F1H128 -
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38. Share Options (Continued)

The fair value of the 79,990,000 share options granted was
HK$29,802,000, of which the Group recognised a share option
expense of HK$17,701,000 during the current year.

The fair value of the share options granted on 13 January 2016 was
estimated as at the date of grant by Vigers Appraisal and Consulting
Limited, using a binomial model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. The following
table lists the inputs to the model:

38. BRE®)

Fr #% 79,990,000 B E 2 A FE B
29,802,000/ 7T « HFAREBEARNFERNER
BERAERA S & ££17,701,00058 7C ©

7201651 A 13BHEEMBRENATE - Big
HrE EMEAR A AR ER L B EHA — B ER
HZERBREAET AR - 2R EE REREER
L BRE A R S Ik TRIIRFTABRMEE T
=

Share price at the date of grant (HK$) 1.520 R B ZRE(ET) 1.520
Exercise price (HK$) 1.528 1B CET) 1.528
Dividend yield (%) 4.86 AR 2 (%) 4.86
Expected volatility (%) 39.7-39.9 T8 BE B 14 (%) 39.7-39.9
Risk-free interest rate (%) 0.99-1.12 RS FIE(%) 0.99-1.12
Exercise multiple 2.9 ITEEER 2.9

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is
not necessarily indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur.
The expected volatility was determined based on the movement of
the share price of the Company since its listing, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the options
granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

The following share options were outstanding under the Share
Option Scheme during the year:

BRI TR FRRELBBS - RoARME
TRAJREEAEMTTRIER - REIREIET0IRE £
RHEARARREZESMEE - RUOSERE
R o FEQVER - WEEEMRHOBREN
HABKFIE

RENRBBAER B ARTTE 2 BN T

Year ended 31 March

BE3A31HLEE
2016 2015

Weighted Weighted

average average

exercise price exercise price
per share Number of per share Number of
BRIE options FRNE options
FHTEE BREHE TFI1TEE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ '000
BT T4 BT Fin
At beginning of year REA 3.7190 175,400 1.8393 344,920
Granted during the year FRE N 1.5280 79,990 40700 103,300
Lapsed during the year FREXM 1.6900 (500) 1.6900 (1,000)
Exercised during the year FNITEE 1.6900 (4,650) 1.4541 (268,320)
Forfeited during the year FRRIR - - 3.0500 (3,500)
Atend of year R 3.0604 250,240 3.7190 175,400
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38. Share Options (Continued)
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options

outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2016

Number of options

Exercise price

38. ERE®)

RIEIR - RITEBBRREOITEE RITEHN

T

20165

Exercise period

BREHE TEE 175
‘000 HK$ per share
T8’ BRET

7,000 1.29 11-04-2011 to 10-04-2016
20115£4 5118 £2016%4510H

1,500 1.69 27-06-2013 to 26-06-2018
20136 H27HE2018%F6H26H

10,500 1.69 27-06-2014 to 26-06-2018
20146 H27H £2018%F6H26H

1,950 1.69 27-06-2015 to 26-06-2018
20156 H27H £2018%6H26H

22,000 4.14 17-02-2014 to 16-02-2019
2014528178 £201952H16H

24,000 4.14 17-02-2015 to 16-02-2019
20152 H17H £2019%2H16H

2,000 4.14 17-02-2016 to 16-02-2019
201652 H17H £2019%2H16H

49,650 4.07 30-06-2014 to 29-06-2019
20146 H30H £2019%F6 H29H

50,650 4.07 30-06-2015 to 29-06-2019
20156 H30H £2019%6529H

1,000 4.07 30-06-2016 to 29-06-2019
20166 H30H £2019F6 H29H

39,995 1.528 13-01-2016 to 12-01-2021
201651813 £2021%1812H

39,995 1.528 13-01-2017 to 12-01-2022
20171813 £2022%1812H

250,240
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38. Share Options (Continued)

38. BRE®)

2015 20154
Number of options Exercise price Exercise period
B A 178 171 EA
‘000 HK$ per share
FH% BB

7,000 1.29 11-04-2011 to 10-04-2016
2011548 11BE2016F4 8108

1,500 1.69 27-06-2013 to 26-06-2018
20136 H27H=2018F6H26H

10,850 1.69 27-06-2014 to 26-06-2018
2014456 H27H £201856 H26H

6,750 1.69 27-06-2015 to 26-06-2018
201556 H27H%2018%6H26H

22,000 4.14 17-02-2014 to 16-02-2019
201492 81782201942 H16H

24,000 4.14 17-02-2015 to 16-02-2019
20152 A17HE20199F2 A16H

2,000 4.14 17-02-2016 to 16-02-2019
20162 A417H=2019F2H16H

49,650 4.07 30-06-2014 to 29-06-2019
201456 H30E £201946 H29H

50,650 4.07 30-06-2015 to 29-06-2019
201556 H30H%201946H29H

1,000 4.07 30-06-2016 to 29-06-2019
201656 A30H 2201946 H29H

175,400

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 250,240,000
share options outstanding under the Share Option Scheme, which
represented approximately 3.13% of the Company’s shares in issue
as at that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options
would, under the present capital structure of the Company, result in
the issue of 250,240,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company
and additional share capital of HK$765,841,000 (before issue
expenses).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a total of 7,000,000

share options were exercised, which have an weighted average
exercise price of HK$1.29 per share.
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38. Share Options (Continued)
At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 243,240,000 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 3.04% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.
39. Other Reserves
The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
the current year and the prior year are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 133 to 134 of the financial
statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Sino-foreign
joint venture enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries which are established in the PRC has been transferred to
the statutory reserve which is restricted as to use.

40. Pledge of Assets

Details of the Group’s bank and other borrowings, which are

secured by the assets of the Group, are included in notes 13, 14, 15,

23, 27 and 29 to the financial statements.

41. Contingent Liabilities

At the end of each reporting period, contingent liabilities not

provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

38.

39.

40.

41.

BIRAE )

RZESBRIAEES B - RIFEREAE
AR 243,240,000 RITEEREARIE - HER
NaElE BEEITIRMNA3.04% °

S

Hitbf# e
BMARRERAFEERBEFEOHERLED
E2IRMBREE 133214 ENGA RS
BHERA -

REBEFINEECFBRMERRAR - AREET
EHBEKRIOMEARNBOMNEEERERE
EREIEEREE

EEKH
AR B E EERIFRIRT R M EE R
REAFEEREFIFE13 14~ 15~ 23~ 27 %29 o

HAREE
REREDF - BHRENRERBORAEM
T

2016 2015
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET BT
Guarantees given to banks in connection with FAT & A ERABE M EERTT
facilities granted to: RELAELR -
Third parties F= 5,805,356 6,049,314

The Group has provided guarantees in respect of banking facilities
granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s properties
held for sale and held for finance lease. Pursuant to the terms of
the guarantees, if there is default of the loan payments by the
purchasers and lessees, the Group is responsible to repay the
outstanding loans together with accrued interest thereon and any
penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers and lessees to banks.
The Group is then entitled to take over the legal titles and usage
rights of the related properties. For trade center units and residential
properties sold, the guarantee period commences from the dates
of grant of the relevant loans and ends when the purchasers obtain
the building ownership certificates which will then be pledged with
the banks. For residential and commercial properties under finance
leases, the guarantees will be released along with the full repayment
of loan principal by the lessees.

ARERETRIETREHEDEIRMERE
MENBERNRITERRBER - REZSFER
R WZEERRABAERETER - K&
EEEEERMER  BREFFE - ARKRRK
BRRABEAERBITHEAE S - H1& - K&
EAREERRYENIERERERE - B8
KPP LEHREENETE  ERUARERE
FE D AHEEBERINGEREN TIRITHE
EEERHL - REHETHETRARYE
s @ EREFEAEAEERERRSEE -

Annual Report 2015/16 4§

227



228

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

41

42.

. Contingent Liabilities (Continued)

41. FIAREB )

The Group did not incur any material losses during the financial AEBRPRFERNWERMAEBRYEER K
year in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities AR NERIZBRE MR ERESEMNERE
granted to the purchasers and lessees of the Group’s properties. 18- EBERAE  MEBREARTENBN - HEY
The directors consider that in case of default on payments, the net ¥R ERFERUL N R ERBRBEETERT
realisable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of AIEE M B RS - BUERZ AFEELAEK °

the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty, and therefore the fair value of the guarantees is not
significant.

Operating Lease Arrangements 42. REHEETH
(a) As lessor (a) EERHBHEA

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) and
properties sold with cooperation and leasing arrangements
with the purchasers under operating lease arrangements
negotiated for terms ranging from one to twenty years. The
terms of the leases also require the tenants to pay security
deposits.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating
leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

AEERBEEHELHHEERENE
(MiaE14) REBRNAERBERHND
HEMH - WHEE1Z206MHEH - HE
GERIREEP RS -

MEBREHRR - AEBRIFEBF I
AL L HER T FERIH 2 KK
RIERWESEENT

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within one year —FR 660,523 564,281
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EERF(BIEEEMF) 1,214,536 1,192,621
After five years RFE 630,801 769,254
Total “eEt 2,505,860 2,526,156

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

42. Operating Lease Arrangements (Continued) 2. REFERH (@

(b) As lessee (b)
The Group leases certain of its land and buildings and vehicles
under operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated for
terms ranging from one to twenty years.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

ERAEEA
AEEAEEBERHERET LI RE
ERAE - WEH—E-TH0EES -

REREMIH - AEBR R s
AER RS R RRERSBE
T

2016 2015
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
Within one year —FR 304,328 314,387
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FoEFAF(BIEEEME) 552,167 578,995
After five years AF% 141,398 237,869
Total et 997,893 1,131,251
43. Commitments 43. &I
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note B | STRT 5 42(b) 7 2t ) A & A0 B AR SN
42(b) above, the Group had the following commitments at the end WMERR - AEEE TFIEE :
of each reporting period:
2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHTT
Contracted, but not provided for: EHEVNEESET-E
Properties under development BRPYE 7,350,506 9,253,942
Annual Report 2015/16 %2~ 229
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31 March 2016 201643 A31H

44. Related Party Transactions
(a) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements, the Group had the following material

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

44. BEALTRS

() R BREREMBAOZERENRS
Oh o RER  REESEBEA BT

transactions with related parties during the year: TNERRS :
2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BaE FET T3t
Rental expense and related service fees ¥ AEHFAS S KBRS
for an office property paid to: ERASNT
A company (2015: two companies) of AR EBEEER
which a director of the Company is a AR ERE)— A A
controlling shareholder (20154 : MAIAR]) (i) 2,814 2,824
Rental income for certain offices units & T # A EH
received from: AW AUEE :
A company of which a director of RNABESREE
the Company is a controlling PR IR YA A
shareholder (i) 1,071 888
Notes: BiaE
(i)  The Group leased the office property from a company of which a () AEERARRESEEZERERE—RBQ

director of the Company is a controlling shareholder. The rental
and related service fees were based on terms mutually agreed

between both parties.

(i) The Group leased certain office units to a related party of which (ii)
a director of the Company is a controlling shareholder. The rental
was based on the rental charged to the other tenants of the

Group.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

44,

45.

Related Party Transactions (Continued) 44.
(b) Outstanding balances with related parties
Details of the Group’s amounts due from/to its joint venture
and associates as at the end of each reporting period are
disclosed in notes 18 and 19, respectively.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel
of the Group

BEALTRS @)

(b) EHREA L ZENRETEER
REERSREARNEL/EN—KEE
ERBE QAR ZHIBEFBDRIRKES
NMAOH R -

() xEEXEEEASHMH

2016 2015

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET BT

Short term employee benefits EEEEET 57,275 73,669

Post-employment benefits BRI R 54 48

Share-based payments LAt 45 B BB IR R S 28,181 89,552
Total compensation paid to key SXNFFEEEBEAS

management personnel B iNAaEE 85,510 163,269

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
to the financial statements.

The rental expense and rental income for office property received
from the related parties above also constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Financial Instruments by Category 45.
Other than the held-for-trading investments at fair value through

profit or loss as disclosed in note 26 which are stated at fair value

and the available-for-sale investments in note 20 which is stated at
historical cost, all financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at

31 March 2016 and 2015 are loans and receivables and financial
liabilities stated at amortised cost, respectively.

ERHS HE— S HERRMBREN
g -

BB BRI AEHEE
WARBEA LR ZIMER ETHRRIF 14AETE
BHRERXZUFEMERS °

ERMIEDE

BRI 26 TR R E BB R AR FEIIRZ 5
EBE B E KM 20 A7 # 55 i) LA 52 B AR 51 BR
Z A ESRIEEIN - KR20165F k201543 A
310 AREMFIECREENMAES R AE
SRR EUEIE KA B SR A A BRI S BB E -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably
approximate to fair values, are as follows:

46. EMT A2 AFERAFEEHRES

AEEZ R TAZRRERAFE(REER
R EBETERINDOT -

Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AFE

2016 2015 2016 2015
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
FHET BT FTHET THETT
Corporate bonds EES 1,891,219 - 1,867,037 -
Senior notes BEEE 4,113,363 4,082,811 4,155,497 4,028,737
Medium-term notes R HEARIR 5,026,696 2,704,226 5,273,563 2,721,145
Domestic company bonds BERABIES 3,629,086 - 3,662,374 -
Short-term notes EHRE S 2,525,460 2,750,880 2,588,000 2,817,041
17,185,824 9,637,917 17,546,471 9,566,923

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in trade and other payables, and amounts due from/(to)
associates, approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

EEEDHHRSLRSFEY  BURER £

BMEESFBANK - Al MEMRYGE -

TR

B B B HEFE AT R EL A FE AT RRIE S SR M () Bt
RAFBAZ A HEREREAZREERSE - T8
AR%ETAREHAZIH -

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The management reports directly to the directors and
the audit committee. At each reporting date, the management

AEEEEEREETSR T AN FEFEZK
BNiEF - EREEENEERERZE SR
HoREMEDH  EHESMEMIACER
EHVEEHETERNIELE - HERES

analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation
is reviewed and approved by the directors. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for
interim and annual financial reporting.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments (Continued)
The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or
liguidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were used
to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of finance lease
receivables and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using
rates currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk
and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-performance risk
in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings as at 31 March 2016
was assessed to be insignificant. The fair values of the domestic
company bonds is estimated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using an equivalent market interest rate for a similar bond
with consideration of the Group’s own credit and liquidity risk. The
fair values of the non-current portion of finance lease receivables,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and domestic company
bonds are not materially different from their carrying amounts.

The fair value of corporate bonds, senior notes, medium-term notes
and short-term notes are calculated using the market prices on 31
March 2016.

As at 31 March 2016, the Group’s financial instruments which
comprised held-for-trading investments at fair value through profit
or loss were measured at fair value. The fair values of held-for-
trading investments at fair value through profit or loss are based on
quoted market prices.

46. EMTE 2 ATV ERLAFEERERS

(&)
TREERABNAHERATERRE) (88
HBRHERINERARFTETRENTA
Z RN o fhET AT ERATEZ 7R BRERH

M

MEREREFIR - A RRTREMEEZIER
HImMOM A HEEBEREAMAHESRTAR®
2 BITH IR LR - ERER &R T2 H
B EEHAARRRASREMTH - R20165F
3A318 - AREB S ERTREMEEZT
BHRBHRERLTER « MARBESFHR
FEIEBERBOESNRNMSENR(ZE
BAKBEZEERRBDESRR) @ FTEEHR
KREREMHE - MEASRUKFR - 5HER
TR EMEE IR D REARREFHN AT
BERREEREZETK -

©TEES - BERE  PHEEREMEHRES
NHETRE20165F3 831 B HISHMERET ©

M20165F3A318 ' A5EE S TABREEB
BRARFEEZ BIEEEREUAQNFER
H o BRI UAATEIRZFEEEREZA
FETIRETISREETE °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 46. £RTA AFERAFESHERE

Instruments (Continued) (%&)
Fair value hierarchy A EER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy TRIRAEB SR TEZ A FEFEER

of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value: BAFEFECEE
As at 31 March 2016 7201653 H31H

Fair value measurement using
quoted prices in active markets
(Level 1)

ERARNERN S ZRE
WAFETE

(5E14%)

HK$'000

FHET

Held-for-trading investments at fair value through & BI85 AR F(ETIBR 2
profit or loss REEERE 27,365

As at 31 March 2015 720153 A31H

Fair value measurement using
quoted prices in active markets
(Level 1)
ERPERT IS 2 HRE

M AT (E &

(1)

HK$’000

FHT

Held-for-trading investments at fair value through  &:@BEzEA A FESEE~
profit or loss REEERE 32,890

234 china South City Holdings Limited E& iR ER A &



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

46. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial 46. £RTA AFERAFESHERE

Instruments (Continued) (#8)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AFEZER @)

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements RERN  RFEAERFIREE2HRF 2 H
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 I FE I K 4 EE A ok 8 = 34% Bl (20154F ¢
(2015: Nil). ) .

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EFREAFE E/MEE

As at 31 March 2016 7A2016F3H31H

Fair value measurement using

ERUT BEET A PERE

Quoted prices in Significant

active markets observable input
(Level 1) (Level 2) Total

WERTIE ZRE BERAUEERLE
(B—#) (B=#) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THET THET
Corporate bonds TEES 1,867,037 - 1,867,037
Senior notes BEER 4,155,497 - 4,155,497
Medium-term notes FER IR 5,273,563 = 5,273,563
Short-term notes EHRE 5 2,588,000 = 2,588,000
Domestic company bonds BAAEIES - 3,662,374 3,662,374
13,884,097 3,662,374 17,546,471

As at 31 March 2015 7201553 H31H

Fair value measurement using
quoted prices in active markets

(Level 1)

FERANERMS 2 HRE

WATERZ

(E—#)

HK$'000

FAT

Senior notes BRER 4,028,737
Medium-term notes REAERR 2,721,145
Short-term notes EHIRE 5 2,817,041
9,566,923
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies
The Group's principal financial instruments comprise bank and other
borrowings, senior notes, short-term notes, medium-term notes,
domestic company bonds, corporate bonds and cash and short-term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets such as trade receivables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and
equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group's borrowings. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group’s borrowings are disclosed in notes 29, 30, 31, 32, 33
and 34 to the financial statements. The Group’s policy is to obtain
the most favourable interest rates available for its borrowings.

The Group will constantly assess the interest rate risk it encounters to
decide whether it is required to hedge against the possible interest
rate risk that may arise.

On 31 March 2016, if the interest rate of bank borrowings had
increased/decreased by 0.5% and all other factors remained
unchanged, the profit after tax for the year of the Group would
have decreased/increased by approximately HK$58,140,000 (2015:
HK$53,015,000).

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7

7. BEEEEREBERBER

AEFETZERMTABRBERITIEMEE - B5F
2 EHRES  THRE  RAXFES
CEEFIREREHER ZEERTATE
RAEEXRBERES - ARENHEAZHEM
THEE  IWEREREKEEELNRKES

ARESBIANEENEEERDEHER
B - (ERER  RBELER « SNERRRRE
Al - EFEHTIE DL EERROBRETR
HRIGE - HEERELNT o

ESE
AEEHGFEERFEZRRNEBHEERE
B o NEEEE R FIE RBFEIN I % R M T
29303132 33&34FH5FE - AEERK
RREABHEMEEISHANMFE -

AEBRFEHETEI NN EERIARE RS
FEEEIN A BEEE NN R
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F20.5% RETEHMAXRFTE - AJAEER
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group’s financial assets, which comprise cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, arises from default
of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit
risk through the granting of financial guarantees, further details of
which are disclosed in note 41 to the financial statements.

To manage the risk, deposits are mainly placed with banks with
high credit quality. The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. For the sales of properties, the Group
has policies in place to ensure that sales are made to buyers with
appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage of down
payments. The Group would not release the property ownership
certificates to the buyers before the buyers fully settle the payment.
It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade
receivable to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. With exposure spread over a number
of counterparties and customers, the Group has no significant
concentration of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 24 to the
financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity
of funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans, senior
notes, short-term notes, medium-term notes, corporate bonds and
domestic company bonds.

7. BREREEBERBER )

FEERE

rEEeREERRRE MASEEY - BKE
SRR M EMEERIBRNEERBRREHTHER
3 MATBEERNESERENUE TANK
HE - AEETFEERMBEERHELEER
% BRAFIENMBHRAMEA P IE -

REERR  AREXERERFAREELER
HERTT - NEBERME R AEEBNE=TET
R% - HEVMFEIE - AREEETBORHER
MEFBEMKE N RATEE A D L EHNAT
MERFELIEE - EEXEZBEENTA - A%
BETERERHEESE - NEETHES LMmEE
R Fr DARECR BRERBRAE 15 4R @ B BASKOR © b oh
AEEFHEHEREANE SR UERRA AT
ElFE - LR T AR E SR EH R SERIE
BRI - AEEYEEAEASPEERR -
MATESHER DA Z B ZHFRER

BRAASEE 5 RURROEER R ATAER
R #0E — 2 B BURI B #5 R MY fE 24P 4%

= .

TENE & E R
AEENARLEBEMRITER  BERE
EERAS  PHEE  CE@SRHANDAE
% BRHASHEEREREZOTE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 431H

47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 47. BIBEKBEEEERKE @)
Policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) rBESRRE)
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end AEENREHRFNSRE BN EIAR R (3R
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted BARAFTBMAZTOMT :
payments, was as follows:
2016
On Within One to Two to Beyond
demand oneyear twoyears fiveyears five years Total
EEX —FR HE-Z-F F-FIf LE# @t
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
TER TER TER THT TER TER
Amounts due to associates  JEfTEEE A BIFUE 3,316 - - - - 3,316
Financial liabilities included in st AJEE 5 K E
trade and other payables ENZENSREE - 9,084,897 - - - 9,084,897
Corporate bonds PEESF - 126,273 126,273 2,308,992 - 2,561,538
Domestic company bonds BRRNRIES - 215,746 215,746 3,823,546 - 4,255,038
Senior notes BEEE = 389,000 1,364,000 3,377,000 - 5,130,000
Medium-term notes hERE - 359,577 359,577 5,361,191 - 6,080,345
Short-term notes RHRES - 2,634,055 - - - 2,634,055
Financial guarantees granted ~ ¥{%£=FH#% T
to third parties B IR 5,805,356 - - - - 5,805,356
Interest-bearing bank and FTRERITK
other borrowings Hinfg & - 7,751526 4,750,969 4,581,380 340,300 17,424,175
Total FERy 5,808,672 20,561,074 6,816,565 19,452,109 340,300 52,978,720
2015
On Within One to Two to Beyond
demand one year two years five years five years Total
EEK —&R —E-F ZFIERE hFk et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TET FHET THET THET
Amounts due to associates i A= YNGI B O] 3,514 - - - - 3,514
Financial liabilities included in er]\I,EHf’f%&ﬁﬁ
trade and other payables ENZENSREE - 9,620,723 = = = 9,620,723
Senior notes BARER - 639,042 386,752 4,713,718 - 5,739,512
Medium-term notes FhHi=E - 198,814 198,814 3,097,241 - 3,494,869
Short-term notes KHRE & - 2,805,330 = = - 2,805,330
Financial guarantees granted ~ ${E=H#&%F
to third parties B HE(R 6,049,314 = = = = 6,049,314
Interest-bearing bank and SHEBTR
other borrowings HifEE - 7632769 4,837,168 3,982,654 557,770 17,010,361
Total @t 6,052,828 20,896,678 5,422,734 11,793,613 557,770 44,723,623
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and 47.

Policies (Continued)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group only conducts business within Mainland China. Except
for interest payables, repayment of foreign currency loans obtained
to finance the Group’s operations and any potential future dividends
of its subsidiaries that might be declared to their shareholders,
the bulk of the Group’s revenue, capital investment and expenses
are denominated in RMB. At the date of approval of the financial
statements, the Group had not experienced any difficulties in
obtaining government approval for its necessary foreign exchange
purchases. During the year, the Group did not issue any financial
instruments for hedging purposes.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's
profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets

BREREEEEREE®)

4B R

REBEEPBRAELEER - RENNE A
SEBE LEMTEMISNINEERNERIAK
HIE R A ae M IR R B IR EAEER R
S REBARHOWA - BRRERFIGAA
REE BB - RESIARERE - AREER
BB XIABBERRINETE - 1eR8 EER
WEE - FA - AREWESE B HOMETTER
SRITA o

TRETEMEEMZEEEFTENERT - A
SEBRAFNBEREE ARG ARKEXNTES
EEHNHRE - ARRANBNES HEEE
BENABOHRFELRESEATE -

and liabilities).
Increase/
(decrease) in
Changes in profit before tax
RMB rate  HiAlA| 0/
ARMEREE (R4
% HK$°000
THERT

2016 201645
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT AR BES 5 41,035
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB RS T A R s 5 (41,035)
2015 20154
If Hong Kong dollar weakens against RMB BT A R EZ55 5 33,297
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens against RMB WA TTH A R w0 5 (33,297)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

47. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)
Equity price risk
The equity price risk of the Group mainly arises from the changes in
market prices for held-for-trading investments at fair value through
profit or loss. The book value of this type of financial assets held by
the Group is recognised according to market quotes as at the end of
the reporting period.

On 31 March 2016, if the price of listed equity securities held by
the Group had increased/decreased by 10%, and all other factors
remained unchanged and excluding tax items, the book values
of the listed equity securities of the Group would have increased/
decreased by HK$2,737,000 (2015: HK$3,289,000).

Capital management
The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it
in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics
of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject
to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 March 2016 and 31 March 2015.
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7. HERREEEERBE @)

IR (& LB

AEERBERREZKEEBREARNFET
FREFHEE BIRENTEZS - WEAARKER
B REENREEDRERS BROTISHRE

=7
o ©

201653 A31H - WAKE R A/ _EmikiEE
EEEBIS EF/THR10% - MATA £ HEEHR
B (TEEFE)  MASEN ETkiESES
) BR T (B 75 158 hn/3mi 4> 2,737,000 7T (20154F
3,289,000/ 7¢) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

31 March 2016 201643 A31H

47.

48.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the total equity. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings, senior notes, short-term notes, medium-term
notes, corporate bonds and domestic company bonds, less cash and
cash equivalents and restricted cash. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting period were as follows:

47.

BREREEEEREE®)

EXREE®)
AEMRAEAE B E (B FER AR
B)EREAER o B FEAETARITRE
HIEE - BEEE - EHRES PSR 0
SEARBNARESABES KA SEYRT
R$IIS - RIBEHER - EABBLEMT :

2016 2015
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BaE FHET T
Senior notes BEEE 31 4,113,363 4,082,811
Short-term notes RHRES 30 2,525,460 2,750,880
Medium-term notes hERE 32 5,026,696 2,704,226
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings SESRTREMESE 29 16,622,741 15,465,347
Corporate bonds PEES 33 1,891,219 -
Domestic company bonds BARREES 34 3,629,086 =
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and restricted & : & RIS ZE YR
cash ZIREIERE 27 (11,686,695) (8,672,722)
Net debt BT 22,121,870 16,330,542
Total equity S HERE 26,368,465 25,021,816
Gearing ratio BAREEL R 84% 65%
Events After the Reporting Period 48. FEHBEREBEER

On 15 April 2016, the Company redeemed the full outstanding
principal amount of the 2012 Notes in the aggregate amount of
US$125,000,000 at a redemption price equal to 106.750% of the
principal amount thereon, plus accrued and unpaid interest.

On 4 May 2016, China South International completed the issuance
of the second tranche of domestic company bonds in the PRC
with a total principal amount of RMB1,400,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,673,200,000) with a term of 3 years. The
second tranche of domestic company bonds carry interest at the rate
of 6.85% per annum.

RK2016F 48158 + XA R AERERER AR
S EEH106.750% M1 L2 RATHZFE
BE20NEFEHR2EHBREELACSEEH
125,000,0003 7T °

2016548 @ EEBIRTHAFEEST
N & #5E B A R ¥ 1,400,000,000 7T (18 & 7%
1,673,200,000/7T) % —EI3B AR RIES « HARR
A3 o ZE T HIBARRIEEENE56.85% °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BA RS AR MY AL (48D

49. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 49. A TR &K

31 March 31 March
2016 2015
20164 20154
3A31H 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB kB 1,170 1,564
Investments in subsidiaries RHBARRIRE 3,246,958 3,780,958
Total non-current assets IERBE ELRTE 3,248,128 3,782,522
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Due from subsidiaries FEUHI B A RFIE 7,366,541 8,212,960
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FEft3UE « %4 &
Hh FEUGRIE 513 513
Cash and cash equivalents e LBEEEEY 1,691,193 1,611,283
Total current assets MENEELRTE 9,058,247 9,824,756
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Due to subsidiaries FERH B A RFIE = 31,305
Other payables, accruals and EME[FIE - ERHIEE R
deposits received 2t s 120,198 131,759
Total current liabilities BB EREE 120,198 163,064
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 8,938,049 9,661,692
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERADERE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 12,186,177 13,444,214
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Senior notes BhEEE 4,113,363 4,082,811
Total non-current liabilities ERBEERTE 4,113,363 4,082,811
Net assets BEFE 8,072,814 9,361,403
EQUITY s
Share capital &N 7,043,784 7,034,761
Other reserves (note) H Ao A (ML) 1,029,030 2,326,642
Total equity AR e 8,072,814 9,361,403

CHENG CHUNG HING ZB#3 &
Director &=

FUNG SING HONG STEPHEN )& £ fii
Director &%=
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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49. Statement of Financial Position of the Company 49. A SRR &K @)

(Continued)
Note: fEE -
A summary of the Company’s other reserves is as follows: NEZ B EESE BT -
Share
option Convertible Retained
reserve notes profits Total
REARERE S AR SRR REBFIHE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
At 1 April 2014 2014F4 818 85,157 37,360 1,277,773 1,400,290
Profit for the year FEARF)HE - - 2,172,780 2,172,780
Shares repurchased 47 B8 = = (150,619) (150,619)
Equity-settled share option arrangement — LAREz= 45 & A BERS i 22 HF 90,742 - - 90,742
Exercise of share options 1T{ERE AR (62,917) - - (62,917)
Lapse of share options RERR I Rk (215) = 215 -
Conversion of convertible notes IR RAR ZR - (37,360) - (37,360)
Final 2014 dividend paid BA2014KEAR 2 = - (1,086,274) (1,086,274)
At 31 March 2015 M20156F3H31H 112,767 = 2,213,875 2,326,642
Share
option Convertible Retained
reserve notes profits Total
BIRAEREE AR R EE REFHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FExT FET
At 1 April 2015 R2015F4 A 18 112,767 - 2,213,875 2,326,642
Loss for the year FANEE - = (193,512) (193,512)
Shares repurchased A&7 [ - - (11,602) (11,602)
Equity-settled share option arrangement AT %45 & #) B AR i 20 BE 29,341 - - 29,341
Exercise of share options TR AR (1,164) - = (1.164)
Lapse of share options BB R IR AR (126) = 126 -
Final 2015 dividend paid 212015 K EAA% B - - (1,120,675) (1,120,675)
At 31 March 2016 201643 AH31H 140,818 - 888,212 1,029,030

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share options granted
which are yet to be exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy
for share-based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share capital when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to retained profits should the related options

expire.

BRERBESCREERTEZBRENALE
HErtBREFHNMBRERME2.40 - EREER
BRATE  LeEEBARK  KEERBRBELR
M MRS ESRENE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
BB IR M (4R

31 March 2016 201643 431H

50. Approval of the Financial Statements
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 27 June 2016.

China South City Holdings Limited ZER3HiERGR A 7

50. #HtZErFEIR*
FF2201656 827 B/ M IR TZEB 53R
2% °
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